The Role of GLP-1 in the Regulation of Metabolism and Immune Responses

by

Ellen Margaret Zalucha

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Nutritional Sciences) in The University of Michigan 2021

Doctoral Committee:

Professor Darleen Sandoval, Co-Chair Professor Dave Bridges, Co-Chair Professor Peter Mancuso Professor Kanakadurga Singer Ellen Margaret Zalucha emdavi@umich.edu ORCID ID: 0000-0001-7979-391X

©Ellen Margaret Zalucha 2021

DEDICATION

To my family and friends who have ardently supported my scientific endeavors To my husband, Christopher, who has listened to all my practice presentations

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would not be finishing this dissertation were not for the support of my lab members, both former and current. First, I would like to thank Drs. Jennifer Cash and Louise Chang for their scientific and personal guidance during my undergraduate work and beyond. You have been excellent mentors and even better friends. I would also like to thank the entire UM Sandoval-Seeley team. The Sandoval-Seeley lab saw me through every failed and successful grant, paper, and experiment. Dr. Chelsea Hutch gave me invaluable scientific advice and support over the last five years, and perhaps more importantly, excellent audiobook recommendations for the long experiment days. Thank you to Dr. Ki-Suk Kim and Basma Maerz who were integral parts of Team Sandoval and were always willing to help and offer advice. I am so thankful for all my colleagues but especially Dr. Randy Seeley, Dr. Nadia Kramer, Stace Kernodle, Kelli Rule, and Jack Magrisso who were always kind and helpful. Finally, I would like to thank my adviser and mentor, Dr. Darleen Sandoval, who believed in my abilities and took me on as her first graduate student. She has always advocated for me and urged me to be the best scientist I can be. I am forever grateful for her support.

I would also like to acknowledge my committee, Drs. Darleen Sandoval, Dave Bridges, Peter Mancuso and Durga Singer, who have encouraged and challenged me to grow in my scientific endeavors.

And finally, I would like to thank my family and friends who have comforted the disappointments and celebrated the triumphs the last five years. Thank you to my husband, Christopher, for your unwavering love and encouragement.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	viii
ABSTRACT	x
CHAPTER 1 Glucagon-like peptide-1: Actions and Influence on Pancreatic Hormone Function.	1
Abstract	1
Introduction: History of GLP-1 as an incretin	2
Regulation of preproglucagon (<i>Gcg</i>) expression	3
GLP-1 Receptor distribution and signaling	7
GLP-1R regulation of β -cell mass	9
Impact of GLP-1 on glucagon secretion	10
Role of α-cell produced <i>Gcg</i> in insulin secretion	13
Bariatric surgery and GLP-1	18
Targeting GLP-1 in Pharmacology	24
Conclusions	26
CHAPTER 2 Premise and Hypotheses for the Role of GLP-1 in Regulation of Inflammation	33
Introduction	33
Specific Aims	35
CHAPTER 3	
The Role of GLP-1 in the Regulation of Metabolism and Immune Responses	37
Abstract	37
Introduction	38
Methods	40

Results	45
Discussion	
Conclusion	
CHAPTER 4	
Conclusion	
Significance of Findings	68
Strengths & Limitations	69
Public Health Relevance	72
Future Studies & Applications	73
Conclusion	74
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	The incretin effect: Glucose levels are lower while insulin levels are higher when the same dose of glucose is administered directly into the gut vs. when administered intravenously (IV)	33
Figure 1.2	Intestinal GLP-1 secretion: Several factors have been linked to GLP-1 secretion	34
Figure 1.3	Factors that impact α -cell GLP-1 production	35
Figure 1.4	Recent work highlights more complexity to the role of <i>Gcg</i> - derived peptides in the incretin effect	36
Figure 1.5	Postprandial GLP-1 increases several-fold after bariatric surgery and has been implicated as a mechanism in both	37
Figure 3.1	Impact of LPS on plasma GLP-1 in HFD versus chow-fed mice	58
Figure 3.2	HFD-fed mice have a prolonged anorectic effect in response to LPS compared to chow-fed mice	59
Figure 3.3	HFD-fed mice have increased inflammatory response to LPS compared to chow-fed mice	60
Figure 3.4	The role of <i>Gcg</i> in the physiological responses to LPS in chow-fed mice	61
Figure 3.5	The role of <i>Gcg</i> in the physiological responses to LPS in HFD-fed mice	62
Figure 3.6	<i>Gcg</i> Null mice have increased macrophage accumulation in the pancreas after LPS	63
Figure 3.7	<i>Gcg</i> Null mice fed HFD also have increased macrophage accumulation in the pancreas after LPS	64
Figure 3.8	Macrophages isolated from the pancreas express GLP-1R	65
Figure 3.9	HFD-fed mice have impaired IP glucose tolerance 3 weeks after LPS	66

Supplemental Figure 3.1	Energy expenditure response to LPS is similar when expressed relative to body weight	67
Figure 4.1	Female mice do not have impaired glucose tolerance in response to LPS regardless of diet	75

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADP	adenosine diphosphate
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CGM	continuous glucose monitoring
CNS	central nervous system
CREB	cAMP response element-binding protein
DAB	3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
DPP4	dipeptidyl-peptidase 4
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGFP	enhanced green fluorescent protein
EPAC	exchange protein directly activated by cAMP
ERk1/2	extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1/2
Ex4	exendin-4
Ex9	exendin 9-39
F4/80	EGF-like module-containing mucin-like hormone receptor like 1
FXR	farnesoid x receptor
Gcg	preproglucagon
GcgR	glucagon receptor
GIP	gatric inhibitory polypeptide
GLP-1	glucagon-like peptide-1
GLP-1R	glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor
GLP-2	glucagon-like peptide-2
GLUT2	glucose transporter 2
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptors
GRPP	glicentin-related pancreatic polypeptide
GWAS	genome-wide association study
HFD	high-fat diet
ICV	intracerebroventricular injection
IHC	immunohistochemistry
IL-10	interleukin 10
IL-1β	interleukin 1β
IL-6	interleukin 6
IP	intraperitoneal
Katp	ATP-sensitive potassium channel
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MCP1/CCL2	chemokine ligand 2
MPGF	major proglucagon fragment
NTS	nucleus tractus solitarius

PBH	post-bariatric hypoglycemia
PC	prohormone convertase
PI3K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PKA	cAMP-dependent protein kinase
POMC	proopiomelanocortin
PVN	paraventricular nucleus of hypothalamus
qPCR	real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction
RER	respiratory exchange ratio
SGLT1	sodium-glucose transport proteins
STZ	streptozotocin
T1DM	type 1 diabetes mellitus
T2DM	type 2 diabetes mellitus
TCF7L2	transcription factor 7-like 2
TGR5	G protein-coupled bile acid receptor 1
TNF-α	tumour necrosis factor α
Veh	vehicle
VSG	vertical sleeve gastrectomy

ABSTRACT

Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) is encoded by the preproglucagon gene (*Gcg*) and expressed in the intestine, pancreas, and central nervous system (CNS). Activation of GLP-1 receptors (GLP-1R) on pancreatic β -cells induces insulin secretion in a glucose-dependent manner while activation of CNS GLP-1Rs suppress feeding. Thus, *Gcg*-derived peptides play an important role in gluco- and body weight regulation, and GLP-1 has been implicated in the success of bariatric surgery. GLP-1 agonists are an effective treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and obesity. The predominant source of circulating GLP-1 is the intestine, but the α -cell becomes an important source when the islet is metabolically stressed. Further, plasma GLP-1 is increased in T2DM patients in response to inflammation. Nutrient-stimulated GLP-1 functions as an incretin, however, the function of GLP-1 during inflammation is unknown. My dissertation proposes that during inflammation, GLP-1 plays a metabolic role, functioning to regulate glucose levels and food intake, and an immunologic role, functioning to regulate inflammation.

I examined the metabolic and immunologic role of *Gcg* under inflammatory conditions. Using a combination of high-fat diet (HFD)-induced obesity and a mouse model of tissue-specific *Gcg* expression, I explored the function of GLP-1 in response to inflammation by administering lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a well-established tool for inducing inflammation. LPS is a known anorectic agent that also alters glucose homeostasis; both functions of GLP-1.

I hypothesized that HFD would exacerbate physiological responses to LPS including increased plasma GLP-1, decreased blood glucose levels, and increased sickness-induced anorexia, as well as systemic inflammatory responses including increased plasma cytokines. Indeed, HFD did increase plasma pro-inflammatory cytokines, and GLP-1 levels in response to LPS and this was associated with greater anorexia in HFD-

Х

fed animals. In the next set of studies, I tested whether GLP-1 secreted from either the pancreas or intestine was directly regulating feeding and glucose responses to LPS. I hypothesized that increases in circulating GLP-1, primarily from the pancreas, were necessary for feeding and glucose responses to LPS. I found that while both pancreatic and intestinal *Gcg* contribute to circulating levels of GLP-1 after LPS, the availability of either source of GLP-1 had no impact on glucoregulatory or feeding responses. Because pancreatic GLP-1 is the more novel contributor to circulation, I investigated the impact of *Gcg* on pancreatic inflammation. I found that 24h after LPS, whole-body chowfed *Gcg* Null animals had increased macrophage accumulation in the pancreas. I saw a similar trend in HFD-fed *Gcg* Null mice. Using a GLP-1R reporter mouse, I found that macrophages isolated from the pancreas, but not the bone marrow, express GLP-1R. These data suggest that pancreatic GLP-1 directly regulates local macrophage responses to inflammation. I conclude that under severe inflammatory conditions, GLP-1 plays an immunologic rather than metabolic role in the pancreatic responses to LPS, through direct macrophage regulation.

This dissertation indicates a new role for GLP-1 signaling to pancreatic macrophages in response to inflammation. Future studies will explore the impact of this increased macrophage accumulation on long-term pancreatic function. In fact, my preliminary data demonstrate that IP glucose tolerance was impaired 2 weeks following LPS. This lasting impact of inflammation on pancreatic function points to a new use of GLP-1 agonists to protect pancreatic tissue during severe inflammation such as sepsis, or more recently, COVID-19.

xi

CHAPTER 1

¹Glucagon-like peptide-1: Actions and Influence on Pancreatic Hormone Function

Abstract

Glucagon-like petptide-1 (GLP-1) was described as an incretin over 30 years ago. GLP-1 is encoded by the preproglucagon gene (*Gcg*) which is expressed in the intestine, the pancreas, and the central nervous system. GLP-1 activates GLP-1 receptors (GLP-1R) on the β -cell to induce insulin secretion in a glucose-dependent manner. GLP-1 also inhibits α -cell secretion of glucagon. As few, if any, GLP-1R are expressed on α -cells, indirect regulation, via β - or δ -cell products has been thought to be the primary mechanism by which GLP-1 inhibits glucagon secretion. However, recent work suggests that there is sufficient expression of GLP-1R on α -cells for direct regulation as well. Although the predominant source of circulating GLP-1 is the intestine, the α -cell becomes a source of GLP-1 when the islet is metabolically stressed. Recent work suggests the possibility that this source of GLP-1 is also important in regulating nutrientinduced insulin secretion in a paracrine fashion. More work is also accumulating regarding the role of glucagon, another Gcg-derived protein produced by the α -cell, in stimulating insulin secretion by acting on GLP-1R. Altogether, these data clearly demonstrate the important role for Gcg-derived peptides in regulating insulin secretion. Because of GLP-1's important role in glucose homeostasis, it has been implicated in the success of bariatric surgery and has been successfully targeted for treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus.

¹ This chapter is a reproduction of the following manuscript:

Davis EM, Sandoval DA. Glucagon-Like Peptide-1: Actions and Influence on Pancreatic Hormone Function. Compr Physiol. 2020 Mar 12;10(2):577-595. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c190025. PMID: 32163198.

Introduction: History of GLP-1 as an incretin

After the discovery of insulin and the development of the radioimmunoassay to assess plasma insulin levels, a debate ensued over whether glucose was the only stimulus for insulin secretion. Spurred on by work demonstrating that glucose removal from the blood was more rapid with oral vs. IV glucose in dogs (1), McIntyre et al. found that glucose was lower but insulin was higher after isocaloric loads of glucose administered into the jejunum vs. intravenously in man (2). Months later, a second study had similar findings with oral vs. IV glucose (3). These data in conjunction with multiple reports in the 1920's and 30's that intestinal mucosa had hypoglycemic properties led the authors of both papers to hypothesize that a gut-derived humoral substance contributed to the regulation of insulin secretion (Figure 1.1). Yet, it was not until the 1970's when the first "incretin" was discovered. When gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP; aka glucosedependent insulinotropic peptide) was infused into humans intravenously, insulin immunoreactivity increased and glucose tolerance was improved (4). However, while gut extracts containing GIP increased insulin secretion, removal of GIP from the extracts only blunted the insulin response by 30% suggesting the presence of additional incretins (5).

With the discovery of glucagon and in the pursuit of understanding its form and function, two other peptides were found on the same mRNA (6,7). These peptides were glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and glucagon-like peptide-2 (GLP-2). At this time the biological function of these peptides was unknown but later work demonstrated that GLP-1, but not GLP-2, stimulated insulin release in rat islets (8) and when infused in humans (9). This latter study found that GIP was less effective at increasing insulin levels and concluded that GLP-1 was a physiological incretin in man. We now know that GLP-1 has a wide array of physiological functions, yet its role in the pancreas is still the most widely studied. The purpose of this review is to discuss the role and mechanisms associated with GLP-1 and GLP-1 receptor (GLP-1R) signaling in regulation of pancreatic hormone secretion and consequently glucose homeostasis. Consideration is also given to its role in bariatric surgery and the current state of GLP-1 pharmaceuticals.

Regulation of preproglucagon (Gcg) expression

We now know that preproglucagon (*Gcg*) is the gene that codes for GLP-1 and it is expressed in a specific population of intestinal enteroendocrine cells called L-cells. *Gcg* is also expressed within pancreatic islet α -cells, and in a distinct set of neurons within the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS) (10,11). *Gcg* undergoes tissue-specific posttranslational modification by prohormone convertases (PC). In intestinal L-cells and neurons of the NTS, a specific isoform of PC, PC1/3, is predominantly expressed and yields GLP-1, oxyntomodulin, and GLP-2 as the physiologically relevant products (12– 14). In contrast, the α -cell predominantly expresses another PC isoform, PC2, which yields glucagon (15). *Gcg* codes for other bioactive proteins including the proglucagon fragments glicentin, glicentin-related pancreatic polypeptide (GRPP), and major proglucagon fragment (MPGF) but the functional significance of these peptides is unclear.

Nutrient status is clearly an important factor in regulating *Gcg* expression across all 3 organs for which it is expressed. Re-feeding after fasting (16,17), dietary fibers (17–19), long chain fatty triglycerides (16), and peptones (20,21), all increase intestinal Gcg expression, and amino acids stimulate α -cell hyperplasia and glucagon secretion (22). Interestingly, in vitro work in cell lines suggest that physiological stimuli such as peptones act via cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) response element binding protein (CREB) signaling to regulate transcriptional responses of Gcg (23,24). In fact, increases in cAMP leads to increases in *Gcg* expression in both the pancreas and intestine (17,25–27). Downstream of cAMP but a pathway that is distinct from protein kinase A (PKA), activation of exchange protein activated by cAMP 2 (EPAC) also increases Gcg transcription in both α - and L-cells (28,29). In contrast, specific to the Lcell, Gcg expression has been shown to be downstream of the canonical Wnt signaling pathway (a specific signaling transduction pathway), β -catenin and transcription factor 7 like 2 (TCF7L2) (30). Although the mechanisms are unclear, it is also well established that bowel resection or injury causes a large increase in intestinal *Gcg* expression (31). The function is likely related to the increase in GLP-2, which functions as an intestinal growth factor (see (32) for review). Distinct regulatory mechanisms for Gcg

transcriptional control between tissues is in parallel with the distinct patterns of prohormone processing in the major cell types producing *Gcg* peptides.

Regulation of intestinal GLP-1 secretion

Within the intestine, the density of *Gcg*-expressing cells increases from the proximal to distal gut with the expression being highest in the colon (33). L-cells within the intestinal epithelium and have apical processes that extend into the gut lumen allowing direct access to ingested nutrients (34), and all three macronutrients (carbohydrate, fat, protein) individually stimulate GLP-1 secretion (35,36).

Greater numbers of enteroendocrine cells that express *Gcg* within the lower intestine suggests that postprandial GLP-1 secretion is derived from the ileum and colon. Indeed, nutrient infusions directly into the ileum causes significantly greater increases in portal vein (the major blood vessel that collects intestinal secretions) concentrations of GLP-1 (37). Interestingly, in *ex vivo* studies from human tissue, the duodenum and ileum but not the colon were found to be glucose responsive (38) which is different than what is reported in mouse colon (39,40) but are consistent with data where patients that have had colon resection have normal GLP-1 responses to glucose (41). An argument has been made that duodenal secretion of GLP-1 is responsible for early phase GLP-1 secretion (42) but no direct link has been found. However, the anatomic distribution of the L-cells (highest number in distal gut) and the rapid increase in postprandial circulating GLP-1 (43) that occurs before nutrients reach the distal gut (44,45) is evidence supportive of neural, endocrine and/or paracrine mechanisms being more critical to nutrient-induced increases in circulating GLP-1 (46).

One possibility is that there are feed forward neural or paracrine signals from the upper gut to the ileum that stimulates the release of GLP-1 (47,48). Transection of the gut below the duodenum resulted in a delayed GLP-1 response to nutrients compared to when the gut is simply ligated, the latter being a procedure which preserves neural innervation (49). Further support for neural regulation of GLP-1, bilateral subdiaphragmatic vagotomy in conjunction with intestinal transection completely abolishes nutrient induced GLP-1 secretion (49). In rodents, human enteroendocrine

cells, and in perfused porcine ileum, cholinergic agonists, which bind to receptors in both the enteric and parasympathetic nervous system, stimulate GLP-1 secretion (26,48,50,51). Conversely, norepinephrine and α -adrenergic agonists inhibit (50) and β adrenergic agonists stimulate (52,53) GLP-1 secretion suggesting that sympathetic neural innervation of the gut is also important in the regulation of GLP-1 secretion. In humans, atropine, which is a parasympathetic nervous system agonist, blunts glucoseinduced increases plasma GLP-1 (45). Together these data lend support to the idea that neuronal influences are at play in regulation of postprandial GLP-1 secretion.

Despite the anatomic limitations, there are several potentially overlapping nutrientsensing mechanisms that have been found to regulate intestinal GLP-1 secretion. Both passive glucose transport through the sodium glucose cotransporter 1 (SGLT1) (39,54) and active glucose transport through glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2) have been found to regulate intestinal GLP-1 secretion as inhibitors for each transporter blocks GLP-1 release (38). Similar to pancreatic β -cells that secrete insulin, potassium adenosine triphosphate (KATP) channels and its associated sulfonylurea receptor are also expressed in L-cells (55,56). Data suggest that increased glucose metabolism within L-cells leads to an increase in ATP and consequently depolarization of KATP channels triggering GLP-1 secretion (39,55,57). Interestingly, GLUT2 is linked to K_{ATP} channels (58) while SGLT1 is linked to voltage gated sodium and calcium channels in GLP-1 secretion (38). However, in animal models pharmacological (59) or genetic (60) blockade of SGLT1 had a bigger impact on blunting GLP-1 secretion compared to the same manipulations towards GLUT2. In contrast, *ex vivo* studies in human tissue suggests GLUT2 may be more important (38). It is unknown whether these differences are simply due to the species or the experimental conditions; in particular for the ex vivo experiments.

Early work demonstrating that PKA activators could stimulate GLP-1 secretion from cell lines suggested that G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) were involved in the regulation of GLP-1 secretion (51,61,62). G_{α s} and G_{α q}-coupled receptors responding to luminal bile acids and long-chain fatty acids have demonstrated potent effects on GLP-1 secretion (63). Bile acids signaling through the G_{α s} protein-coupled bile acid receptor 1, or TGR5, stimulate GLP-1 secretion (63,64). Bile acids also signal through farnesoid X

receptor, a nuclear transcription factor, but TGR5 is the primary bile acid receptor that can drive GLP-1 secretion (65). Offering clinical promise, *in vitro* data using primary enteroendocrine cells and an intestinal cell line indicated that pharmacologic TGR5 agonists are more potent GLP-1 secretagogues and are better at enhancing L-cell responses to calcium and glucose-induced GLP-1 secretion compared to naturally occurring bile acids (64).

Long-chain fatty acids and their derivatives specifically activate multiple types of GPCRs including, GPR119, GPR120, and GPR40 (66), and this activation also stimulates GLP-1 secretion. GPR119 is a G_{as}-coupled protein receptor and it is highly co-localized to L-cells within the GI tract. GPR119 agonists increase GLP-1 secretion (67) and GPR119 knockout mice have a reduced GLP-1 response to an oral glucose load (68). However, a randomized double-blind placebo controlled trial revealed that GPR119 agonism was not as effective at increasing total and active GLP-1 responses to glucose or a mixed liquid meal nor was it as effective at improving glucose control over a 2-week study period (69). In contrast to GPR119, a G_{as}-coupled receptor, GPR120 and GPR40 are G_{aq}-coupled receptors that signal through protein kinase C. Activation of both GPR40 and GPR120 result in increased GLP-1 secretion (70–73), however, their role may be more pharmacological than physiological. While members of these GPCR families were under active investigation as drug targets for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), due to lack of efficacy the number of drugs in the pipeline have been drastically reduced.

Another type of GPCR that is expressed in the GI tract and has been found to be linked to GLP-1 secretion are "sweet taste receptors" (74). These same receptors are expressed in the tongue and are integral in sweet taste perceptions. Their function in the GI tract is less clearly understood. Non-nutritive agonists of sweet taste receptors do increase GLP-1 levels and mice null for one such sweet taste receptor, α -gustducin, have reduced GLP-1 responses to an oral glucose load (74). Some data suggest that pharmacological inhibition of sweet taste receptors blunt GLP-1 responses to nutrients (75), but other studies found no impact of sweet taste receptor agonists on GLP-1 secretion in humans (40,76) or in *in vivo* or *ex vivo* studies in rats (77).

Altogether it seems that many molecular signaling pathways have been linked to GLP-1 secretion (**Figure 1.2**), and it is possible that all of these pathways are involved in order to provide an integrated response that also allows for fine tuning of GLP-1 secretion. One example of this is recent work that found a synergistic action of pharmacological TGR5 and GPR40 activation on the electrophysiological properties of L-cells (78). However, while data in mouse models are promising, there are currently no therapies currently in clinical trials focused on GPCR signaling to increase plasma GLP-1. Whether this is because these GPCRs are not important or whether increasing intestinal GLP-1 secretion, alone, is sufficient for obesity and/or T2DM treatment remains to be determined.

GLP-1 Receptor distribution and signaling

Direct regulation of insulin secretion

The GLP-1R is a GPCR that is expressed within the pancreas, lung, adipose tissue, kidney, heart, vascular smooth muscle, and in a number of specific nuclei within the CNS (25,79). Most of what we know about GLP-1R signaling is derived from studying the β -cell population of GLP-1R. When glucose is transported into the β -cell, its metabolism generates ATP which provides energy for closure of K_{ATP} channels and consequently an increase in intracellular calcium; the latter being necessary for exocytosis of insulin. Binding of the GLP-1R produces cAMP and consequently activation of PKA and EPAC2 (80) which potentiates glucose-stimulated insulin release (80–82). With fasting and when intracellular ADP is increased, PKA activation hyperpolarizes the β -cell membrane by increasing K_{ATP} channel conductance. When ADP levels are reduced with glucose metabolism, PKA phosphorylates a subunit of the KATP channel leading to channel closure and depolarization (83). This extends to pharmaceutical activation of the GLP-1R in that GLP-1R agonists are weak insulin secretagogues at basal glucose levels. Further, the ability of GLP-1 to suppress feeding, an action dependent upon CNS receptors, is blunted in fasted conditions (84,85) and dependent upon nutrient-dependent intracellular pathways (86) indicating that CNS GLP-1R signaling is also dependent upon nutrient availability.

Although pharmacological data make it very clear that GLP-1 regulates insulin secretion, genetic data suggest that the system is more complex than a simple endocrine model of insulin regulation. Genetic models demonstrate that although GLP-1 regulates insulin secretion through the β -cell GLP-1R (87), the necessity of these receptors depend on the route of delivery of nutrients. Mice with an inducible knockout of the β -cell GLP-1R have normal oral, but impaired intraperitoneal (IP) glucose tolerance (88). This is interesting as even whole body GLP-1R KO mice have greater impairments in IP vs. oral glucose tolerance. Importantly, these responses could also be explained by the redundancy of insulinotropic signals from the gut or nervous system during oral vs. IP glucose loads, but in the end still demonstrate that β -cell GLP-1R, in and of themselves, are not necessary for oral glucose tolerance.

GLP-1R regulation of insulin secretion independent of the β -cell GLP-1R

If GLP-1 has a role for regulating insulin secretion independent of its β -cell receptor, what would the population of receptors be? Given the rapid postprandial increase in insulin, one possibility is nervous system GLP-1R. Indeed, direct administration of GLP-1 into the 3rd cerebral ventricle (ICV) increases insulin secretion (89,90); an effect that is maintained in mice fed a high fat diet (91). In both mice and rats, administration of ICV exendin-4(9-39) (Ex9), a potent GLP-1R antagonist, during oral glucose impairs glucose tolerance and reduces insulin levels (89,92,93).

There are no detectable GLP-1R on the liver or on skeletal muscle and yet GLP-1 has repeatedly been shown to not just increase insulin secretion but also to improve insulin sensitivity. Despite the lack of hepatic GLP-1R expression, intravenous GLP-1 inhibits hepatic glucose production independent of islet hormones in humans (94). CNS GLP-1R activation may also explain this finding. When administered directly into the arcuate nucleus of rats, GLP-1 decreases hepatic glucose production under clamped conditions where glucose and insulin were held constant (89). The specific population of neurons responsible for this effect is not clear as deletion of GLP-1R within the hypothalamus or even more specifically on pro-opiomelanocortin neurons with the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus also do not impact normal glucose regulation (95). GLP-1 activates vagal afferent neuronal activity and administration of GLP-1R antagonists into the portal vein

impairs glucose tolerance (96) suggesting that the peripheral nervous system is also important in mediating GLP-1 effects on glucose homeostasis. However, neither genetic deletion of CNS nor vagal neuronal GLP-1R is not necessary for normal glucose regulation (97), but CNS (97) and specifically glutamatergic excitatory (vs. GABAergic inhibitory) neurons (98) that express GLP-1R are necessary for the weight-reducing effects of liraglutide, a long-acting GLP-1 agonist. Lastly, in obese mice and in humans, administration of GLP-1 agonists reduces hepatic steatosis (99–102). Whether these effects are also due to CNS activation is unclear but they do seem to be independent of the effect of chronic GLP-1 administration to reduce body weight. It remains to be seen whether the discrepancy between the genetic vs. pharmacological manipulation of CNS GLP-1R signaling and the impact on glucose regulation is due to a species difference or a development compensation in the mice. The CNS distribution of the GLP-1R is disperse and different populations of receptors have sometimes very different functions (see (103) for review). As neuroscience technology becomes more sophisticated, the capability to tease this system apart becomes more promising.

GLP-1R regulation of β-cell mass

In addition to stimulating insulin secretion, GLP-1R activation benefits β -cell survival and importantly does so in the presence of multiple apoptotic conditions including hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, inflammatory cytokines, and oxidative stress (104). The exact signaling mechanisms that drive β -cell growth and differentiation are still being resolved. However, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) rather than PKA activation seems to be the principle signaling mechanism by which the GLP-1R controls β -cell growth and apoptosis. GLP-1 also induces a rapid cAMP-dependent activation of extracellular signaling kinase, ERK1/2, and a delayed β -arrestin (an adaptor protein necessary for GLP-1R signaling (105))-dependent increase of ERK1/2 signaling (106). Providing a direct link, β -arrestin has been found to be necessary for the anti-apoptotic effects of GLP-1 (106) and GLP-1 administration to a β -cell line reduces H₂O₂-induced apoptosis through both cAMP and PI3K (but not ERK1/2) signaling with independent but additive effects (107). Liraglutide also protects against apoptosis via PI3K signaling and the consequent phosphorylation of AKT (108). Recent work has demonstrated that

GLP-1-induced activation of PI3K is through activation of epidermal growth factor receptor 1 (EGFR), a tyrosine kinase receptor. EGFR has been found to be necessary for the ability of exendin-4 (Ex4), another long-acting GLP-1R agonist, to regulate β -cell mass and proliferation (109). Because EGFR directly activates PI3K, these data provide a link between GLP-1R signaling, PI3K, and β -cell proliferation. Downstream of AKT phosphorylation in the activation of β -cell proliferation is Wnt signaling, a pathway established in cancer biology to be critical for cell proliferation and survival. Activation AKT leads to accumulation of cytosolic β -catenin and subsequent translocation to the nucleus where it forms a complex with TCF7L2 (110), a transcription factor that activates expression of Wnt target genes (111). siRNA silencing of β -catenin and a dominant negative insertion of TCF7L2 in INS-1 cells (a β -cell line) blunted the ability of Ex4 to stimulate β -cell proliferation.

These data illustrate the wide-ranging signaling pathways induced by GLP-1R activation to regulate β -cell mass and function. There is still much debate about the relevance of this impact of GLP-1 signaling in cell lines and in mice vs. in humans. While it was found that short-term incretin therapies do not expand β -cell mass in young male mice (112), in a model that enables assessment of human β -cell replication *in vivo*, it was found that Ex-4 induced proliferation occurred only in juvenile, but not adult islets (113). This work provides an important advance in our understanding of the decline in β -cell proliferation that occurs with aging and indicates that even pharmacological GLP-1 signaling may not be critical in driving proliferation in humans.

Impact of GLP-1 on glucagon secretion

GLP-1-induced inhibition of glucagon secretion has been demonstrated in a variety of species including humans (114,115). Activation of the GLP-1R also inhibits glucagon release from isolated islets or in perfused pancreas studies (116). While the data are clear that GLP-1 inhibits glucagon, the mechanisms are debated as some report low (117,118), if any (99,119), expression of the GLP-1R on α -cells. One possibility is that the impact of GLP-1 on glucagon release is indirect through release of glucagon-

regulating hormones from nearby β - and/or δ -cells (116,120). While somatostatin secreted from δ -cells inhibited glucagon secretion, a somatostatin antagonist only partially blunted the GLP-1-induced decrease in glucagon (121) suggesting additional mechanisms at play.

GLP-1 also acts on β -cells to secrete insulin which is known to suppress glucagon (122). However, co-secreted with insulin are amylin, zinc (Zn²⁺) and GABA; all of which have also been shown to individually suppress the release of glucagon. For example, GABA released from β -cells enhances glucose inhibition of glucagon secretion by acting via an Akt kinase-dependent pathway (123). Co-secreted with insulin in hyperglycemic conditions, Zn^{2+} has been found to have inhibitory action on glucagon release from α cells (124–126) and α -TC6 cells (an α -cell line) (126). The potential role of Zn²⁺ has found increasing interest due to the fact that genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have revealed that rare variants of a Zn²⁺ transporter gene are associated with improved glucose homeostasis and protection from T2DM (127). To determine whether the impact of Zn^{2+} was independent of insulin, streptozotocin-treated (to kill β -cells) rats where studied during pancreatic perfusion studies (125). In these rats, disruption of the intrapancreatic infusion of insulin bound to Zn²⁺, but not of insulin unbound to Zn²⁺, accelerated glucagon secretion, indicating that Zn²⁺ but not insulin inhibits glucagon secretion. The thinking is that Zn²⁺ inhibits pyruvate-induced glucagon secretion via opening of K_{ATP} channels and subsequent inhibition of α -cell electrical activity (128). It is important to note that contrasting data exist suggesting that Zn²⁺ does not regulate glucagon (129). However, given the connection to the GWAS data, at a minimum Zn²⁺ is important for glucose control and a logical link for that is through inhibiting release of glucagon.

In addition to Zn^{2+} , insulin is co-secreted with amylin, and amylin has also been found to dose-dependently suppress arginine-mediated glucagon secretion in rats (130) while pharmacological inhibition of amylin signaling enhances glucagon secretion (131). Pramlintide, an amylin receptor agonist, improves glycemic control in T2DM patients and at least part of that effect is via inhibition of postprandial glucagon secretion (132). A caveat to all of these studies demonstrating that β -cell products could play an indirect

role in GLP-1-mediated regulation of glucagon is that GLP-1 maintains the ability to inhibit glucagon secretion in type 1 diabetic patients who have little to no endogenous insulin (133,134) demonstrating that GLP-1 inhibition of glucagon secretion does not fully depend on β -cell products.

Besides the low expression levels of the GLP-1R on the α -cell, another caveat to the potential direct role of GLP-1 on glucagon regulation is that generally, GLP-1R activation generates cAMP and increases in cAMP are associated with increased, rather than decreased, glucagon release. Recently, an α -cell GLP-1R KO mouse was generated by crossing a loxP flanked humanized GLP-1R mouse with a Gcg-Cre mouse (135). Theoretically, this will eliminate the GLP-1R only from α -cells as neither L-cells nor *Gcg*-expressing neurons express the GLP-1R. In these mice, the glucagon response to increasing glucose loads was increased rather than decreased in the α -cell GLP-1R KO mice. While ad lib fed glucagon levels were higher in the α -cell GLP-1R KO mice, a curious finding was that these mice had impaired IP glucose tolerance and increased glucagon response to an IP glucose load, a condition that does not stimulate gut-derived GLP-1 secretion. Regardless, a couple of studies have provided a basis for an evolving story on how GLP-1 might mechanistically inhibit glucagon levels. The idea is that there are low numbers of GLP-1R on α -cells but these receptors have enough capacity to generate proportionately small amounts of cAMP (117). This small amount of cAMP mediates suppressive effects glucagon secretion through discrete inhibition of high voltage N-type calcium channels in mice (117) and via P/Q-type voltage-gated calcium channels in humans (136). In their hands, GLP-1 retained this inhibitory effect with either insulin or somatostatin antagonists onboard (117,136). However, it would be interesting to know if somatostatin and insulin signaling are synergistic in the paracrine effect; ie. if both antagonists were given, would GLP-1 still inhibit glucagon release. Regardless, this model explains how low and high intra-cellular cAMP concentrations with the α -cell could have opposing actions on glucagon secretion. Thus, while there is much to be learned about the signaling that drives GLP-1-induced inhibition of glucagon secretion, there are multiple indirect and direct mechanisms at play. The inhibitor action of GLP-1 on glucagon levels is often overlooked in favor of its role as an insulin

secretagogue, but it is clear that pharmacologically this is one mechanism by which GLP-1R agonists improve glycemia in T2DM patients (137).

Role of α -cell produced *Gcg* in insulin secretion

α-cell GLP-1 during metabolic stress

PC1/3, which processes GLP-1 (and GLP-2 and oxyntomodulin) from *Gcg*, is more predominantly expressed in the gut and CNS, but α -cell PC1/3 activity and/or expression is found in embryonic and neonatal mice, with pregnancy, and in models of prediabetes and diabetes (138–141). Along with this, α -cell GLP-1 clearly increases when the pancreas is under metabolic stress (142–144). Although the incretin model that intestinally-secreted GLP-1 is the functional source of GLP-1, these data do suggest that the α -cell pool of GLP-1 also has a functional role in the pancreas.

Streptozotocin (STZ), a β -cell toxin, is used to model diabetes in animals. In rats administered STZ, there is an acute increase in islet Gcg and PC1/3 expression that leads to an increased processing of α -cell Gcg to GLP-1 (141). While the function of α cell GLP-1 under metabolic stress conditions is unknown, glucagon receptor (GcgR) KO animals have a developmentally driven increase in pancreatic GLP-1 production and are also, interestingly, resistant to STZ-induced diabetes (145). Further, blockade of the GLP-1R in GcgR deficient mice prevented the improved glucose tolerance seen in the mice (146). Additionally, mice with a cre-inducible α -cell KO of PC1/3 (although the extent to which intestinal and CNS PC1/3 expression was intact is unknown) had reduced levels of GLP-1 in the islet and greater impairments of glucose and insulin in response to STZ (144). Altogether these data suggest that α -cell GLP-1 production provides a protective effect on β -cell function during times of stress. Further examples of this are that in cultured α -cell lines or isolated islets, high media glucose concentrations increase PC1/3 expression and cellular GLP-1 content (147,148). α -cell hyperplasia also occurs with high fat diet and this precedes β -cell mass expansion (149), and in both human and mouse islets there is positive correlation between islet levels of GLP-1 and adiposity (150). Together these data suggest a role for α -cell GLP-1 production in the adaptation to metabolic disease. Whether this increase is as a protective factor that eventually fails or a part of the pathophysiology is unknown.

Although our focus here is on pancreatic GLP-1, GLP-1 in the circulation, presumably due to intestinally-secreted GLP-1, also increases with inflammation and the mechanism by which this occurs has been linked to one particular cytokine, interleukin 6 (IL-6). IL-6 is increased in inflammatory conditions including exercise, and obesity (143,149). Under severe inflammatory conditions such as sepsis, or when induced by exogenous lipopolysaccharide (LPS) administration, there is a systemic increase in GLP-1 that is dependent on IL-6 (151,152). In response to LPS, the increase in GLP-1 is dose-dependent, and GLP-1 levels remain elevated for 8-hours (151). Whereas in IL-6 knockout mice, there is no increase in GLP-1 after LPS administration (151). With 90 min of exercise in mice, there is an acute increase in IL-6 and GLP-1 and again this increase in GLP-1 was not seen in IL-6 knockout mice (143). To look at α -cell production specifically, IL-6 injections were given twice daily for over a week and the protein content of pancreatic GLP-1 and insulin were both increased (143). Despite the evidence showing that IL-6 increases GLP-1 secretion from the α -cell, the function, and whether it relates to glucose regulation or not, during this kind of inflammatory state is unknown. After several hours, LPS treatment causes elevated IL-6 levels and hypoglycemia to develop and Ex4 administration blunts this hypoglycemic effect in rats suggesting that the effect of GLP-1 is related to glucose control (153) although the direction goes opposite of what we normally think of as GLP-1-mediated glucose control. Another leading hypothesis is that IL-6 induced GLP-1 is a part of a negativefeedback loop to inhibit or restrain inflammatory responses. Rat islets treated with liraglutide showed both decreased pro-inflammatory cytokine levels (IL-6 and TNF- α) and the islets had improved function (154). Both the glucose and anti-inflammatory effect of GLP-1 point to α -cell GLP-1 acting locally rather than centrally. However, whether these pharmacological agonists have the same function as endogenously secreted GLP-1 from the α -cell remains an important unresolved question.

Thus, both metabolic (hyperglycemia, STZ-induced, diabetes) and physiological (exercise, inflammation) stress conditions influence IL-6 circulating levels which may be the factor that triggers GLP-1 secretion from the α -cell (**Figure 1.3**). However, the role of increased GLP-1 secreted from the α -cell under inflammatory conditions, how it impacts

overall glucose homeostasis, and how this may be targeted pharmacologically is unknown.

a-cell GLP-1 in normal glucose regulation

The accepted dogma of GLP-1 secreted from the intestine and acting on the pancreas in an endocrine manner is difficult to reconcile given the observations that GLP-1 is rapidly degraded by dipeptidylpeptidase 4 (DPP4) and very little, in fact only ~10% of intestinally-secreted GLP-1, reaches the circulation (155–157). While the role of α -cell secreted GLP-1 became established during states of metabolic stress, the question remains whether or not it has a role in normal glucose control. Although controversial, pancreatic GLP-1 has been found in normal islets and its expression increases with increasing glucose concentrations (144,147,148). In isolated human islets the amount of GLP-1 was low under basal conditions and was only present in the cell lysates, not the culture medium in one study (148). However, others have found pancreatic GLP-1 to be higher in human vs. mouse islets (144). In addition, PC1/3 activity can also be up-regulated by activating a bile acid receptor (TGR5) known to regulate GLP-1 is assessed may be important in the ability to detect GLP-1 levels.

Recently, the role of pancreatic *Gcg*, the gene that encodes GLP-1, was explored using a Cre lox-P mouse model that selectively reactivated the endogenous *Gcg* gene in the pancreas vs. the intestine while the remaining tissues remained devoid of *Gcg* (142). To understand the role of GLP-1R activation specifically, glucose responses to Ex9, a GLP-1 receptor antagonist, was examined. Ex9 had no impact on *Gcg* deficient animals indicating that Ex9 was a true GLP-1R antagonist *in vivo*. This indicates that the presence of GLP-1 is necessary for the ability of Ex9 to impair glucose. Interestingly, animals that only expressed pancreatic, but not animals that expressed only intestinal *Gcg* had impaired glucose tolerance (whether oral or IP) in response to Ex9. Thus, the source of the GLP-1 ligand necessary for the ability of Ex9 to impair glucose tolerance was pancreatic and not intestinal GLP-1.

However, there is an important caveat to this work. It has been known for quite some time that glucagon increases insulin secretion (122) and this was presumed to be through glucagon receptors. However, three independent islet perfusion studies demonstrated that glucagon increases insulin not by acting on glucagon receptors but by acting on GLP-1R (158–160). At a first pass, these data suggest the possibility that it was pancreatic glucagon rather than pancreatic GLP-1 that was responsible for the ability of Ex9 to impair glucose tolerance in the previous study (142). However, the ability of glucagon to bind to the GLP-1R is extraordinarily less potent than GLP-1 (159). In addition, it would mean that the entirety of Ex9's action is by impairing glucagon action on β -cell GLP-1R since Ex9 had no impact on glucose tolerance in animals that had fully restored intestinal *Gcg* expression and postprandial circulating GLP-1 levels (142). Lastly, experimental conditions that lead to the increase in glucagon and glucagon action on the GLP-1R was specific to having both elevations in glucose and amino acids. The *in vivo* experiments described above (142) were only done with oral glucose.

Other mouse models have been derived in attempt to separate the role of α -cell glucagon and GLP-1. One used a diphtheria toxin-inducible α -cell KO of Gcg and this mouse had a small impairment of age-induced IP glucose tolerance (144). Administration of DPP4 inhibitor, but not glucagon, restored glucose tolerance in these mice. The authors suggest this provides evidence that intestinally-derived GLP-1 can compensate for the lack of α -cell GLP-1. However, DPP4 inhibitors increase bioactive GLP-1 AND GIP and previous work demonstrates that these drugs can fully improve glucose tolerance even if only one of the incretin's have intact signaling (161). Isolated islets from another mouse model with α -cell KO of PC1/3 had reduced levels of GLP-1 in the islet and reduced glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (144). These mice also had impaired intraperitoneal, but not oral glucose tolerance (144). Similarly, β -cell GLP-1R KO mice have normal oral but not intraperitoneal, glucose tolerance (87,162). Thus, a model where paracrine, rather than endocrine action of preproglucagon peptides in regulating insulin emerges. Because of the nature of preproglucagon processing, it will be difficult to distinguish between the impact of α -cell derived glucagon vs. GLP-1 on local GLP-1R. However, this work clearly demonstrates that the conventionally accepted

role of GLP-1 biology is inadequate. The combined impact factors driving an increase in α -cell GLP-1 and glucagon are summarized in **Figure 1.4**.

If we ignore the intestinal vs. pancreatic source of GLP-1 topic and just focus on the fact that GLP-1 regulates insulin secretion by acting directly on β -cell GLP-1 receptors and either directly or indirectly suppresses glucagon then under what circumstance is glucagon important for β -cell GLP-1R signaling? Of the components of a mixed meal (lipids, carbohydrates, and proteins), free fatty acids, if anything decrease glucagon levels in man (163), carbohydrates potently suppress glucagon, and proteins (amino acids) potently stimulate glucagon secretion (164). Interestingly, free fatty acids suppress the ability of arginine to stimulate glucagon secretion in man (163) suggesting that even in a mixed meal situation, increases in glucagon levels are restrained. In addition to GLP-1 suppressing glucagon, insulin and somatostatin, which also increase during a meal, also suppress glucagon levels. Many questions arise from these observations. Is the system set-up to suppress redundant signals? Is the increase in glucagon during a high protein meal necessary to increase insulin? Is GLP-1 vs. glucagon necessary for different phases of insulin secretion? Are both GLP-1 and glucagon synergistic or additive in insulin control? All of these are possibilities. However, in animals devoid of both GLP-1 and glucagon, insulin response to an intravenous and oral glucose load appear to be normal suggesting that GLP-1 and glucagon, together, are not necessary for insulin secretion and/or that redundant in vivo mechanism are able to compensate (142). As has been suggested before, it could be that glucagon offers an additional redundant signal that allows for fine-tuning of glucose control in the face of metabolic stress whether it is exercise, hypoglycemia, or postprandial glucose control.

Targeting α -cell production of GLP-1, specifically, in T2DM therapeutics is an idea that is being explored. One study used adenovirus-mediated expression of PC1/3 in α -cells to increase islet production of GLP-1 and was able to improve glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in a mouse model of type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) (165). In addition, pharmaceutical activation of GPR142, a GPCR that is expressed in pancreatic islets and that has previously been shown to enhance glucose-dependent insulin secretion

(166,167), also increases GLP-1 secretion from the α -cell (168). Moreover, using isolated mouse islets treated with Ex9, the researchers showed that insulin secretion induced by GPR142 activation is dependent on GLP-1 (168). Thus, regardless of our understanding of the physiology or pathophysiology of islet produced GLP-1, these data suggest that this pool of GLP-1 could be targeted to treat T2DM and avoid some of the CNS side-affects (ie. nausea) associated with long-acting GLP-1 agonists.

Bariatric surgery and GLP-1

Why does GLP-1 increase with surgery?

Bariatric surgery is currently the most effective strategy at treatment of obesity and its co-morbidities. There are many types of bariatric surgeries. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB; a small gastric pouch is formed and the jejunum is connected directly to the small pouch) used to be the most widely performed bariatric surgeries but its utilization has been reduced to about 20% of the procedures in the last couple of years (169). Currently the most common surgery in the US is vertical sleeve gastrectomy (VSG; 80% of the stomach along the greater curvature is removed) which comprises about 60% of performed bariatric procedures. The switch is likely due to the fact that VSG is surgically more simplistic, leads to fewer long-term malabsorptive issues, and although dogma persists that it is less effective, randomized clinical trials demonstrate similar efficacy between VSG and RYGB (see (170) for meta-analysis).

Among the many similar physiological effects between these two surgeries is about a 10-fold increase in postprandial levels of GLP-1; something observed in both patients and rodent models of surgery (171–174). A long-standing hypothesis for why GLP-1 (and other gut peptides for that matter) are increased after RYGB is that the shorter length of small bowel leads to more rapid nutrient delivery further down into the GI tract where the majority of L-cells are located (175). VSG also increases nutrient delivery to the distal gut thanks to a restricted stomach size that increases gastric pressure (176) and consequently gastric emptying rate (176,177). Indeed, speed of nutrient delivery may be important after RYGB as the increase in nutrient-induced GLP-1 was eliminated if nutrients were delivered to the bypassed limb (178). However, in rats after VSG, glucose infused slowly and directly into the duodenum caused similar increases in GLP-

1 as when the same glucose load was delivered orally (176). These data suggest that intestinal L-cells are either increased in number or in nutrient-sensitivity after VSG. While one study demonstrated that VSG in rats increased L-cell number (179) another did not (180). Differences in diet as well as the control groups utilized (pair-fed vs. ad lib fed sham groups) could lead to differential structural and functional changes in the gut nutrient-sensing pathways (181). On the other hand, RYGB is more consistently associated with intestinal hypertrophy regardless of dietary exposure (179,182). The intestine is considered a major site of glucose disposal after RYGB and this may provide energy for intestinal metabolic pathways to support tissue growth (183). In humans, this increase in glucose absorption after RYGB was associated with the exaggerated release of insulin and GLP-1 (184). Thus, the anatomical differences between the surgeries may lead to different adaptations in either the morphological or mechanical function of the GI tract and either of these adaptations can regulate prandial GLP-1 responses.

Another common physiological response to both RYGB and VSG is the significant increase in total and various subspecies of plasma bile acids (185–187). Bile acids have demonstrated effects on stimulating GLP-1 secretion from L-cells by acting through a specific G protein-coupled receptor (TGR5) vs. their other common receptor a nuclear transcription factor, farnesoid X receptor (FXR) (188). However, surgery-induced increases in bile acids have been demonstrated to be important for the increase in postprandial GLP-1 in one (189), but not another study (190). Further, these two studies had divergent results on the necessity of TGR5 for surgery-induced weight loss and improvements in glucose homeostasis (189,190). Conversely, FXR seems to be necessary for the full effects of VSG, independent of GLP-1 (191). Thus, although this will require future validation, it seems that the surgery-induced increase in GLP-1 is due to intestinal responses to nutrient delivery. With RYGB, this is more acute, but with VSG, chronic adaptations are more critical.

GLP-1 as mechanism for the metabolic success of surgery

Although T2DM is thought to be chronic and progressive, bariatric surgery leads to large improvements in insulin secretion and sensitivity which results in a remission of T2DM

for many patients. The consistency of the finding that GLP-1 increases with surgery in addition to this increase being associated with greater prandial insulin release (174) and greater weight loss (192) after surgery has led to the suggestion that GLP-1 is an integral mechanism for the success of surgery. While the postprandial GLP-1 response may be required for the insulin and glucose responses to a meal after bariatric surgery, whether GLP-1 is responsible for resolution of T2DM is less clear. One study found that postprandial GLP-1 responses were a significant predictor of T2DM remission after RYGB (193), yet another found similar postprandial GLP-1 responses 2-years after VSG whether the patients had postoperative remission, relapse, or lack or remission of T2DM (172).

In support of a role for GLP-1, multiple studies have demonstrated that administration of the GLP-1 receptor antagonist, Ex9, reduces the insulin response to a glucose load in both humans and rodents (194–197). However, these data come with an interpretative problem (198). There is no dispute that GLP-1 regulates postprandial insulin. The same dose of Ex9 impairs glucose and reduces insulin in control subjects (172) and rats (197). The degree of this impairment is similar between surgery and control conditions. If GLP-1 was more important in glucose control after surgery, the degree of impairment should be greater. Thus, the question is whether what we are seeing after surgery is reflective of the normal response or is reflective of greater importance of GLP-1 during surgery.

The incretin effect is credited to both GLP-1 and GIP (199,200) with each thought to contribute equally to insulin secretion in non-obese, non-T2DM subjects (199). Both T2DM and to a lesser extent, obesity, reduce (201,202), while bariatric surgery enhances, the incretin effect (203). However, there is little agreement as to whether bariatric surgery leads to an increase in GIP suggesting that the extent to which GIP contributes to the enhanced incretin effect is debatable. In an effort to determine the importance of GIP after RYGB, RYGB patients were given a DPP4 inhibitor to increase bioavailability of both GIP and GLP-1 and then combined this with Ex9 to block GLP-1R signaling; an experimental condition that would isolate the impact of GIP signaling on glucose tolerance (204). The DPP4 inhibitor failed to improve glucose tolerance or β -cell

function while GLP-1R signaling was blocked in RYGB patients. In contrast, T2DM patients that had not undergone bariatric procedures fully responded to the DPP4 inhibitor with improved glucose tolerance and insulin secretion even when combined with Ex9 (205). Together these data suggest that RYGB shifts the balance of the incretin effect toward GLP-1 and away from GIP.

Qualitatively, rodents and humans respond similarly to bariatric surgery. Both have substantial weight loss, elevated gastric emptying rate, and increased postprandial insulin and GLP-1 levels. While human work is limited to acute pharmacological intervention, preclinical work offers the additional ability to genetically manipulate the GLP-1 system and test its role in the metabolic success of surgery. One would hope that this would lead to less interpretive issues. Whole-body GLP-1R KO mice have similar weight loss and improvements in glucose tolerance compared to littermate controls after both VSG (206,207) and RYGB (208) suggesting a limited role of GLP-1R in surgical success. Central nervous system GLP-1R have been shown to be important for regulating body weight and glucose homeostasis in rodents (89,90,95) and may be a target population for the impact of surgically-induced GLP-1 to act in regulating body mass and glucose. However, Ex9 infused directly into the CNS of rats during RYGB or sham surgeries (208) had no significant impact on the surgery-induced reductions in body mass. Thus far, the data would seem to be in agreement that GLP-1R signaling is not necessary for the metabolic success of surgery. However, in the last few years, conflicting reports have been published. To examine the specific role of β -cell GLP-1R, two slightly different versions of an inducible Cre-loxP strategy was used to knock out these receptors and VSG was performed. One study found that β -cell GLP-1R were necessary for surgery-induced improvements in glucose tolerance and glucosestimulated insulin secretion, but not weight loss (209); while the other found not only that these receptors were not necessary for VSG-induced improvements in glucose tolerance but that glucose responses were essentially normalized to the WT levels (210). Differences in diet, mouse models, and/or some other factor may contribute either independently or in combination to the differences in these experimental findings. Regardless, we are still left with no solid conclusion as to whether GLP-1 is necessary for the success of surgery.

The increase in GLP-1 after surgery may also have a trophic effect on β -cell mass. GLP-1 increases β -cell mass in rodents, and has also been suggested to increase β -cell function in humans following bariatric surgery (211). In isolated islets, VSG mice had changes in their genetic and functional signature favoring calcium signaling and insulin secretion (212). In a pooled group of VSG and RYGB patients, pancreatic fat deposition as assessed by PET imaging was found to be reduced alongside improvements in β -cell function (213). These data suggest the possibility that the impact of surgery on the pancreas could be due to the weight loss itself and is independent of GLP-1's trophic effect.

With both human and rodent work, the clear finding is that the increase in postprandial GLP-1 drives acute glucose responses to a meal after bariatric surgery but whether or not they are required for long-term improvements in glucose control, T2DM remission, and/or for weight loss are debatable. However, this may be difficult to determine as the degree of β -cell destruction prior to surgery may be more critical in determining whether those β -cells can recover sufficiently to resolve T2DM (214).

GLP-1 in post-bariatric hypoglycemia

One increasingly recognized surgery complication is post-bariatric hypoglycemia (PBH) (215). This is reflected in a subset of bariatric patients and is associated with symptoms of postprandial "dumping syndrome" characterized not only by hypoglycemia, but also hyperinsulinemia, sweating, nausea or vomiting, and heart palpitations. Given that adrenergic and cholinergic symptoms in the postprandial state can be nonspecific, PBH has recently been re-defined as the presence of neuroglycopenic symptoms (difficulty thinking, weakness, fatigue) with concomitant hypoglycemia (<54 mg/dL) (215) that is relieved within minutes of carbohydrate ingestion. This condition threatens the safety of affected patients as hypoglycemia impairs cognition and increases the risk for syncope, cardiac arrhythmias, seizures, coma, and even death. Moreover, many patients may be rendered unable to perform job-related tasks or to safely operate a motor vehicle.

Initial reports indicated a prevalence of <1% for hypoglycemia requiring hospitalization, but 10% for clinically recognized hypoglycemia (216,217). However, the use of

continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) has highlighted that hypoglycemia occurs much more frequently (closer to 30%), and is observed with similar frequency in both RYGB and VSG (218–220). Using CGM, one study found that 75% of post-RYGB patients had glucose levels of <55 mg/dl compared to no hypoglycemia in nonsurgical controls (221). Given the increasing numbers of bariatric procedures, and that hypoglycemia typically emerges only after 2-3 years postoperatively, the prevalence of PBH is likely to further increase over the next decade.

Hypoglycemia is a complication for T1DM and T2DM, but for those patients medications can be adjusted to minimize occurrence. The mechanism for PBH is unknown and creates a difficult therapeutic challenge. The dominance of postprandial timing indicates that hypoglycemia is partly due to exaggerated systemic appearance of ingested glucose secondary to altered anatomy and subsequent disproportionate insulin response to a meal. In healthy individuals, regulation of postprandial glucose excursions is tightly controlled by regulating the rate of nutrient entry and hormonal responses that coordinate nutrient assimilation. Both RYGB and VSG alter many steps in this assimilation process including more rapid pouch or gastric emptying, increased glucose absorption, increased postprandial GLP-1, and finally markedly increased insulin secretion and sensitivity (Figure 1.5). Thus, most initial treatment strategies focus on reducing simple carbohydrate intake or using medication to slow carbohydrate absorption in order to minimize glucose and consequently insulin "spikes" (222). Strategies to reduce insulin itself have also been used including somatostatin analogues (e.g. octreotide), diazoxide (reduces insulin secretion), partial pancreatectomy, and reversal of the surgical procedure toward normal anatomy if possible. Unfortunately, all of these therapies are limited by side effects or incomplete efficacy, even pancreatectomy and surgical revision.

One hypothesis is that this phenomenon is caused by the exaggerated postprandial GLP-1 and consequently insulin levels. Postprandial glucose, GLP-1, and insulin have been found to be even higher in patients susceptible to PBH (223). Multiple studies have now demonstrated that administration of Ex9 can lower postprandial insulin and prevent hypoglycemia in RYGB patients (224–227). However, patients with PBH still

have higher peak glucose levels after GLP-1R antagonist treatment compared to asymptomatic patients. In addition, the rapid time course of the post-surgical increase in postprandial GLP-1 and insulin secretion (days) does not mirror the delayed development of PBH (years). Importantly, although GLP-1 is likely not a mechanism for PBH, Ex9 therapies may still be a way to treat PBH.

In conclusion, GLP-1 increases with bariatric surgery are likely due to acute and/or chronic responses to rapid nutrient entry seen with RYGB and VSG, respectively. This increase in GLP-1 likely plays an important role in the acute glucose and insulin responses to a given meal. However, whether these increases are responsible for the overall improvements in glucose homeostasis, body mass, or in the onset of PBH is something that is still debated.

Targeting GLP-1 in Pharmacology

GLP-1 agonists and DPP4 inhibitors

The development of GLP-1-based drugs has been one of the major advances in diabetes medicine in recent years. The currently approved pharmaceutical strategies targeted to the GLP-1 system are aimed at either increasing endogenous GLP-1 levels with inhibitors for the protease that inactivates GLP-1 or long-acting GLP-1R agonists resistant to DPP4 cleavage (228,229). DPP4 inhibitors are effective at stimulating insulin and reducing glucagon actions; attributes that are credited to GLP-1R signaling (230). However, DPP4 acts on GIP as well 40 additional substrates (231). GIP is the only additional substrate of note for glucose regulation and work in both humans (205,232) and mice (161,233) suggest that both GIP and GLP-1 signaling are targets for the improved glucose control with these drugs.

There are now multiple GLP-1R agonists currently available for the management T2DM (229,234,235). Various strategies are used to extend the half-lives of these agonists compared to native GLP-1 including using a synthetic analogue of Ex4 (Byetta) and the addition of a fatty acid side chain to native GLP-1 to facilitate albumin binding (Liraglutide/Victoza). In an effort to improve convenience and compliance (236), modifications of these drugs are also being made to extend the half-life to allow for
once-weekly injections (Bydureon and semaglutide/Ozembic). Besides being more convenient for the patient, there seem to be added benefits of creating a more stable pharmacodynamics profile (ie. reducing the peaks and troughs of drug action) as these drugs induce less nausea, a common side-effect of rapid acting compounds (237–240). An added benefit of these drugs compared to DPP4 inhibitors is the added weight loss (241) and for some specific GLP-1R agonists (liraglutide and semaglutide) there is a reduction in cardiovascular events (242). Because of the impact of these drugs on weight loss, there are now multiple formulations approved to specifically treat obesity independent of T2DM. Interestingly, although T2DM patients do see improvements in body mass, there is a larger benefit for the obese non-diabetic patient for weight loss.

The neural pathways leading to the weight loss effects of these drugs are being actively pursued in preclinical work. Part of the reason for this effort is to determine whether the neural circuitry that drives the weight loss effect is distinct from the circuitry that drives the nausea effect of these drugs. In animal work, we know that some neuronal regions regulating the impact of GLP-1 on food intake are distinct from those regions that regulate nausea (243,244). As discussed above, previous preclinical work in mice and rats established that the CNS (97,245), but not the peripheral nervous system (97) is critical in mediating the impact of long-acting GLP-1R agonists on body mass. With newer advances in neuroscience techniques, we now know that glutamatergic rather than GABAergic neurons (98) are the specific type of neurons necessary for the ability of liraglutide to induce weight loss. However, given that neither hypothalamic (Nkx2.1 neurons), PVN (Sim1 neurons), nor POMC neurons were not necessary for the ability of long-acting agonists to reduced body mass (95), the hunt is still on for the specific population of neurons responsible for the pharmaceutical reduction in body mass. Better understanding of the neural mechanisms of these processes would benefit the therapeutic utility of these agents.

Poly-agonists

An exciting recent pharmaceutical strategy to the treatment of obesity and T2DM has been the development of hybrid peptides that activate more than one receptor to generate an effect (246). Given that obesity and T2DM are diseases with integrated

pathology, a multi-faceted approach is likely necessary for more effective treatment. These agents are touted as mimicking the broad range of peptide increases seen after bariatric surgery. Some of the first compounds developed using this strategy were glucagon/GLP-1 co-agonists, peptides engineered to activate the cognate receptors of both peptides in different relative potencies (247,248). The rationale behind this line of drug development is that both glucagon and GLP-1 bind specific and distinct receptor populations in the brain to cause satiety (249,250), and activating both receptors could lead to synergistic effects. Peptides with equal agonism for each of the target drugs (eg. GLP-1/glucagon) seem to have the most therapeutic promise (247,248). In the case of glucagon, greater glucagon potency would lead to greater energy expenditure and suppression of food intake, but there seems to be a threshold beyond which glucose control worsens despite weight loss. The results for combined agonism in mice and rats are promising with improved glucose tolerance but also greater reductions body weight and fat with the dual agonists compared to GLP-1R agonism alone (247,251). Although there may be subtleties in formulation that lead to species differences, the results in humans have not been as exciting as in mice. Specifically, a recent phase 2a clinical trial found reductions in body weight and improvements in glucose control but the degree of the improvements seemed to be within the range of what is seen with longacting GLP-1R agonists alone (252,253). Interestingly, a GIP receptor/GLP-1R dual agonist in phase 2 trials caused greater improvements in both HbA1c% and weight loss compared to the GLP-1 agonist alone (254). Given that GIP is thought to be important for lipogenesis, the mechanism for this effect of the dual agonist is unclear. Regardless, this drug shows great promise in improving glucose control and weight loss in T2DM patients.

Conclusions

GLP-1 was suggested to be an incretin over 32 years ago. Indeed, GLP-1 actions in the islet are implicated in the success of surgery and have been exploited for effective glucose control in T2DM patients. However, the incretin model is much too simple for the complexity of the system. GLP-1 has a wide array of physiological effects that go beyond the β -cell. Further, GLP-1 and glucagon released from the α -cell may be

important for β -cell proliferation and function suggesting that paracrine regulation of the β -cell needs to be incorporated into our thinking surrounding GLP-1 function. These interesting interactions and/or overlapping functions of GLP-1 and glucagon and GPCR signaling requires further exploration. What is true, is that GLP-1R agonists are safe and effective therapies for obesity and T2DM and will remain an active area of exploration.

Authorship

Ellen M. Davis, Darleen A. Sandoval

Figure 1.1 The incretin effect: Glucose levels are lower while insulin levels are higher when the same dose of glucose is administered directly into the gut versus when administered intravenously (IV). This difference in insulin between the gut and venous infusion is the "incretin effect" which occurs in response to GLP-1 and GIP secreted from the distal gut. Adapted, with permission, from McIntyre N, et al.



Figure 1.2 Intestinal GLP-1 secretion: Several factors have been linked to GLP-1 secretion. The

parasympathetic nervous system (PNS) stimulates GLP-1 secretion via cholinergic muscarinic receptors (MR). Activation of α -adrenergic receptors (AR) stimulates while activation of β -adrenergic receptors inhibits GLP-1 release. Various GPCRs including ones activated by bile acids and various fatty acids stimulate GLP-1 through PKA signaling and increases in calcium-induced exocytosis. Lastly, direct glucose sensing, predominantly via SGLT1 in humans, activates sodium (NA⁺), and calcium (Ca²⁺) voltage-gated channels to lead to the release of GLP-1.



Figure 1.3 Factors that impact α -cell GLP-1 production. Metabolic stress, systemic inflammation, exercise, hyperglycemia, obesity, and diabetes stimulate α -cell GLP-1 production. IL-6 seems to be a primary factory that leads to this increase. The function of this increase is unknown, but regulation of β -cell mass and function is a likely endpoint.



Figure 1.4 Recent work highlights a more complexity to the role of Gcg-derived peptides in the incretin effect. While historical work suggest intestinal GLP-1 is important in regulating glucose homeostasis, there may be a role for α -cell derived GLP-1 as well. In addition, in response to amino acids, glucagon is secreted and acts on local GLP-1R to regulate insulin secretion.



Figure 1.5 Postprandial GLP-1 increases several-fold after bariatric surgery and has been implicated as a mechanism in both positive and negative impacts of bariatric surgery. On the positive side, GLP-1 has been implicated in increasing postprandial insulin levels to restrain postprandial glucose homeostasis improvements in insulin sensitivity lead to reductions in fasting insulin, improved hepatic insulin sensitivity, and overall improved β -cell function. However, on the negative side, the increase in postprandial insulin is thought to contribute to post-bariatric hypoglycemia which occurs in as much as 30% of surgery patients.



CHAPTER 2 Premise and Hypotheses for the Role of GLP-1 in Regulation of Inflammation

Introduction

One predominant theory explaining the link of obesity to type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) involves the obesity-induced chronic low-grade inflammation, or metainflammation. This is because inflammation itself has been linked to impaired glucose homeostasis including insulin resistance (255–257). In contrast to the inflammatory response to an infection, where the purpose of immune cells is to identify, locate, and dispose of foreign microorganisms and viruses, the low-grade inflammation associated with obesity is not directed to a specific pathogenic target. Yet, similar to infection-based inflammation, meta-inflammation still results in increased accumulation of immune cells in metabolic tissues and increased systemic and organ-specific levels of cytokines (255,258,259). This includes accumulation of macrophages, phagocytotic cells that are either resident within an organ or that migrate from other tissues and play a large role in organizing immune responses to promote either a pro- or anti-inflammatory state (260). The reverse is also true, that metabolic dysfunction impairs immune responses. For example, T2DM patients have impaired immune responses including neutrophil function and T cell responses to an infection (261–263). T2DM also worsens the mortality prognosis for sepsis, which is hypothesized to be due to innate immune dysregulation, such as macrophages and natural killer cells, and adaptive immune suppression, such as T cells and B cells (264–266). This complex interaction between T2DM and the immune system remains an important inquiry for researchers as there are currently no therapeutics that increase survival to sepsis (267). Thus, the search for those critical signals that link inflammation and metabolism is critical for treating inflammatory and metabolic diseases.

Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) is a peptide made within intestinal L-cells, pancreatic α -cells, and a small cluster of neurons in the hindbrain (10–12). GLP-1 is predominantly studied for its role in facilitating postprandial insulin secretion and sensitivity, and consequently regulation of glucose homeostasis (26,27,37,38,57,142). In addition to glucoregulation, activation of the GLP-1R in the CNS decreases food intake (243,268). Although its role in regulating glucose metabolism and food intake has been extensively studied, there is also an emerging connection between GLP-1 and the immune system (151,269). Data demonstrate that in response to nutrients, circulatory GLP-1 comes primarily from the intestine (37,38,42,43). During severe inflammation, the pancreas and intestine increase GLP-1 tissue content in response to IL-6 or lipopolysaccharides (LPS) (151). However, a key unanswered question is whether there is a physiological contribution of the pancreas and/or the intestine to the increase in circulating GLP-1 and, if so, what is the function of that increase. One possibility is that the physiological role for this increase in GLP-1 is similar to postprandial conditions, i.e. to regulate glucose and/or energy homeostasis during inflammation. However, pharmacological data suggest that at least in bone marrow derived macrophages, GLP-1 signaling directly regulates macrophage accumulation and polarization (270). While type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) has long been studied in association with macrophage accumulation in the pancreas, only recently have researchers begun to look at macrophage expansion in the islets in T2DM patients and animal models (271-273). For example, recent studies have demonstrated that macrophage accumulation within the pancreas occurs in response to dietary-induced obesity and that this plays a role in impaired glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (259) and with inflammatory stress (272). Collectively, these data indicate a need to understand the interaction between metainflammation in the pancreas and the protective role GLP-1 might be playing. To investigate the physiological role of Gcg, the gene that encodes GLP-1, GLP-2, glucagon and other peptides, under inflammatory conditions, I utilized a well-established model to induce severe inflammation, LPS, in combination with the low-grade inflammation seen with high-fat diet (HFD). To distinguish the role of pancreatic and intestinally produced GLP-1, I used our lab's Cre lox-P Gcg reactivation model which limits expression to either the pancreas or the intestine (274). I hypothesized that

increased GLP-1 plays a metabolic role, functioning to regulate glucose levels and food intake, and an immunologic role, functioning to decrease inflammation.

Thus, the goal of this proposal is to determine the physiological role of GLP-1 in the regulation of immune cell accumulation and polarization, and downstream metabolic processes during infection-based inflammation and the impact of HFD.

Specific Aims

Aim 1. To test the hypothesis that high-fat diet and impaired glucose tolerance increase inflammatory responses to LPS-induced inflammation.

High-fat diet (HFD) is known to result in an increase in inflammatory cytokines and impaired glucose control. Studies in humans have shown that obesity and impaired glucose control impairs immune responses to severe inflammatory conditions. Using wild-type mice on HFD, I explored how impaired glucose tolerance and chronic low-grade inflammation affect GLP-1 levels, glucose, insulin, cytokine expression, and feeding responses to an inflammatory insult induced by exogenous administration of LPS. I hypothesized that HFD will exacerbate the physiological responses to LPS, including increased GLP-1, sickness-induced anorexia and inflammatory responses compared to chow-fed mice.

Aim 2. To test the hypothesis that pancreatic- and intestinally produced GLP-1 regulates metabolic responses to severe inflammation

Our lab used Cre-loxP technology to limit *Gcg*, the gene that encodes GLP-1, expression to either the pancreatic α-cells or intestinal L-cells. These animals were placed on normal chow or HFD and feeding responses to LPS administration were assessed to determine whether *Gcg* is necessary for the anorectic effect of LPS. Additionally, I determined whether intestinal, pancreatic, or both sources of GLP-1 are necessary for the acute glucose response, systemic and pancreatic inflammatory responses to LPS administration. I hypothesized that pancreatic GLP-1 plays a paracrine role in glucose regulation under LPS-induced inflammation and that both pancreatic and intestinal GLP-1 contribute to the anorectic effect of LPS.

Aim 3. To test the hypothesis that pancreatic GLP-1 regulates local macrophage accumulation in the pancreas during severe inflammation

Our preliminary data suggests that the pancreas contributes to circulatory GLP-1 after LPS administration. Again, I used our chow vs. HFD Cre-loxP *Gcg* model, animals received LPS or vehicle treatment and through a combination of flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry (IHC) techniques, I characterized the immune cells that accumulated within the pancreas after LPS. Then I used a *Glp1r*-GFP reporter mouse to determine whether immune cells in the pancreas expressed *Glp1r*. I hypothesized that pancreatic GLP-1 promotes a local anti-inflammatory state and works to restrain the LPS-induced immune response, thus fewer macrophages will accumulate within the islet when GLP-1 is present.

CHAPTER 3

The Role of GLP-1 in the Regulation of Metabolism and Immune Responses

Abstract

While GLP-1 is classically described as an incretin hormone, it is known to be increased by the pro-inflammatory cytokine, interleukin 6 (IL-6), in both the pancreatic α -cells and intestinal L-cells. Interestingly, the activation of the endogenous GLP-1 system is exaggerated in type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) patients under an inflammatory stimulus. However, the function of GLP-1 during an inflammatory state is unknown. Using a combination of high-fat diet (HFD)-induced obesity and our innovative mouse model of tissue-specific Gcg (the gene that encodes GLP-1) expression, I explored the function of GLP-1 in response to inflammation by administering lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a well-established tool for inducing inflammation. LPS is also suppresses feeding and impacts glucose homeostasis; both functions of GLP-1. I hypothesized that HFD would exacerbate physiological responses to LPS including increased plasma GLP-1, decreased blood glucose levels, and increased sickness-induced anorexia, as well as systemic inflammatory responses including increased plasma cytokines. I found that HFD increased LPS-induced suppression of feeding and increased plasma levels of both pro-inflammatory cytokines and GLP-1. I hypothesized that increases in GLP-1 in response to LPS were necessary for the feeding and glucose responses to LPS. To test this hypothesis, I examined the role of tissue-specific GLP-1 in the metabolic and immunologic responses to LPS. I found that while both pancreatic and intestinal Gcg expression contribute to LPS-induced increases in GLP-1, Gcg was not necessary for the glucoregulatory or feeding responses to LPS. However, whole-body Gcg Null animals had increased the macrophage accumulation in the pancreas. Lastly, using a GLP-1R reporter mouse, I found that macrophages that accumulate in the pancreas after LPS express the GLP-1R. Altogether these data suggest that pancreatic production of GLP-1 directly regulates macrophage responses to inflammation. I

conclude that under severe inflammatory conditions, GLP-1 plays an immunologic, rather than metabolic role, through direct macrophage regulation.

Introduction

Within a few decades, obesity has risen in prevalence at an alarming rate and now affects more than a third of US adults (275). Obesity and its concomitant comorbidities are an urgent public health concern and burden on the healthcare system. Patients with obesity are more likely to develop hypertension, cardiovascular disease, osteoarthritis, and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM). T2DM is characterized by insulin resistance, dysregulated glucose control, and impaired islet function. Prevalence of T2DM is rising in parallel to obesity worldwide (276,277). In addition to developing co-morbidities, T2DM patients are at an increased risk for complications associated with inflammation. For example, T2DM patients are at an increased risk for both developing infections that lead to sepsis and mortality associated with sepsis (255,257,262). In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the need to understand the link between T2DM and severe inflammatory responses (278).

One predominant theory explaining the link of obesity to type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) involves the obesity-induced chronic low-grade inflammation. In contrast to the inflammatory response to an infection, where the purpose of immune cells is to identify, locate, and dispose of foreign microorganisms and viruses, the low-grade inflammatory state associated with obesity is not directed to a specific pathogenic target. Yet, similar to infection-based inflammation, meta-inflammation results in increased accumulation of immune cells in metabolic tissues and increased systemic and organ-specific levels of cytokines (255,258,259). The reverse is also true, that metabolic dysfunction impairs immune responses. Macrophages are essential for detecting, engulfing, and destroying apoptotic cells and inflammation, tissue damage and hyperinflammation can result in an accumulation of neutrophils and other immune cells to remove damaged cells and regulate the immune response within an organ (279,280). While macrophage function and accumulation in the pancreas has been well studied in type 1 diabetes mellitus

(T1DM), recently, researchers have seen that macrophages also accumulate in the islets of T2DM patients and obese animal models (271–273). Under steady state conditions, macrophages within the islets are myeloid derived and express IL1- β and TNF- α (281). These tissue-resident macrophages are established prenatally and self-maintained, and distinct from circulating monocytes (282). Severe inflammation (modeled by exogenous administration of lipopolysaccharide; LPS) will increase inflammatory transcripts from islet-resident macrophages (283). Recent research has shown that macrophages accumulate within the islet during diet-induced obesity leading to elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (259). Similarly, recent work demonstrates that during obesity, islet-resident macrophages proliferate contributing to a local inflammatory state and this results in impaired β -cell function (259,283). Collectively, these data indicate growing evidence that pancreatic inflammation/macrophage accumulation occurs with obesity and this contributes to impaired β -cell function. The impact of COVID-19 on islet function supports the importance of studying pancreatic inflammatory responses (284).

One islet-derived factor that increases with both inflammation and metabolic stress is glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1). GLP-1 is classically described as an incretin hormone, coded by the preproglucagon gene (*Gcg*). *Gcg* is expressed in the α -cells of the pancreas, the L-cells of the intestinal tract, and in the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS). As a metabolic hormone, GLP-1 is increased after a meal, secreted predominantly from the intestinal L-cells and functions to decrease blood glucose in an insulin-dependent manner (37,38,42,43). GLP-1 has one known receptor (GLP-1R), a G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR), that is primarily found on the cellular membrane of pancreatic β -cells, and in nerve terminals in the wall of the hepatic portal vein, the lung, and within the brain (25). Activation of these GLP-1R in the CNS decreases food intake (243,268). The primary product of *Gcg* within the pancreas is glucagon. However, with metabolic and inflammatory stress, there is increased pancreatic production of GLP-1 (139,143,285,286). While the physiological function of this increase in pancreatic GLP-1 during an immune response remains unknown, pharmacological GLP-1 agonists have

been found to have an anti-inflammatory effect (287,288) and *in vitro* work has shown that GLP-1 agonist treatment decreases TNF- α mRNA expression from macrophages

under LPS-induced inflammation (270). Previously, our lab discriminated between the roles of pancreatic and intestinal GLP-1 and have found that pancreatic GLP-1 is critical in regulating glucose homeostasis using our validated innovative mouse models (142,162,289,290). Using a combination of high-fat diet (HFD)-induced obesity and our tissue-specific *Gcg* expression mouse model, I explored the function of *Gcg*-derived peptides in response to inflammation. A stated above, LPS is a well-established tool for inducing inflammation and is a known anorectic agent that alters glucose homeostasis; both functions of GLP-1. I hypothesized that GLP-1 contributes to the anorectic and glucoregulatory responses to inflammation. I also predict that pancreatic-produced GLP-1 functions to regulate the local pancreatic endocrine cell inflammatory state by organizing macrophage accumulation as part of a complex cross-talk system between immune and endocrine cells. I hypothesized that HFD would exacerbate all these responses.

Methods

Animal Care

8-week old C57BL6/J male mice (The Jackson Laboratory) or genetically crossed mice (discussed below) were used for all studies and housed in the University of Michigan North Campus Research Complex animal facilities under controlled conditions (12:12 light-dark cycle, 50–60% humidity, and 25°C) with ad libitum access to water, and normal chow diet (Chow; *Lab Diet*, 5L0D) or high-fat diet (HFD; Research Diets D12492; 20% Kcal protein, 60% kcal fat, 20% kcal carbohydrate; 5.21 kcal/g) as indicated by each study. Intestinal or pancreatic reactivation of the endogenous *Gcg* gene was accomplished as described previously (274). Briefly, *Gcg* Null mice were crossed with villin 1-*Cre* (Jax Laboratories, stock number 004586) and PDX1-*Cre* (Jax Laboratories, stock number 014647) mice, respectively resulting in offspring with Cre-specific reactivation of the *Gcg* gene, *Gcg* Null, and Cre littermate controls (Con) (274). *Glp1r*-GFP reporter mice were generated as done previously (98,291). Briefly, *Glp1r*^{Cre/+} mice (Jax Laboratory; 029283) were crossed to EGFP-L10a mice (292) to generate offspring with a GFP labelled *Glp1r*. The University of Michigan Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved all procedures.

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) Dosing

At 8 weeks of age, male mice either remained on chow or were switched to HFD for 9-16 weeks depending on the endpoint of interest to assess the interaction between dietinduced obesity and metabolic response to severe inflammation. To determine whether HFD alters the GLP-1 response to LPS compared to chow, I analyzed plasma levels of GLP-1 and glucose before and after LPS administration. To do this, mice were fasted 4 hours after the onset of light phase. Mice were then administered LPS at a dose (100ng/g BW) previously demonstrated to increase plasma levels of GLP-1 (151,269) (n=4/diet) or vehicle (n=4/diet) via IP injection. Blood glucose was measured at baseline and plasma GLP-1 and blood glucose were measured 2 and 4 hours after LPS via tail blood collected in EDTA-coated tubes. Due to the increase in body weight, the HFD-fed mice received a higher absolute dose of LPS, the above experiment was repeated under the same dietary and experimental conditions except with a flat dose of LPS (0.32µg delivered in 0.22mL) (Chow-LPS, n=8; HFD-LPS, n=9) or vehicle treatment (Chow-Veh, n=6; HFD-Veh, n=9). The flat dose was calculated based on the average dose a chow-fed mouse would receive at 100ng/g LPS dose.

Food Intake

On the experiment day, chow or HFD-fed mice were fasted for then 4 hours prior to lights out. Immediately before lights out, LPS (100ng/g) or vehicle (0.9% NaCl) was administered via IP injection. In one cohort of HFD-fed *Gcg* Null vs. Cre animals the dose was lowered to 50ng/g. Food intake was measured 2, 4, 15, and 24 hours after injections.

Energy Homeostasis

In order to understand the impact of HFD on changes in energy expenditure during severe inflammatory conditions, I utilized indirect calorimetry cages. A cohort of animals was generated under the same chow vs. HFD dietary conditions as described above.

Mice were housed in PhenoMaster chambers (TSE Systems, Bad Homburg, Germany) for 5 days to assess food intake, energy expenditure, and respiratory exchange ratio. Mice acclimated to the chambers and 22°C for 2 days prior to the experiment day. Prior to lights out, mice received a flat LPS dose (4 μ g delivered in 0.13mL) (n=6/diet) or vehicle (n=6/diet) via IP injection. Mice remained in the metabolic chambers for 3 days to monitor recovery from LPS.

Time Course of Glucose, Glucoregulatory Hormones, and Cytokine Responses to LPS

Because previous experiments were limited by time points and blood volume that could be taken via tail nick, I designed a study to examine the time course responses of plasma levels of metabolic hormones and cytokines in response to LPS. A cohort of male C57BI/6J animals was generated under the same chow vs. HFD dietary conditions described above. 3-5 days before the experiment, under general anesthesia (isoflurane), mice had catheters placed in the carotid artery (MJC-02, SAI Infusion Technologies) and jugular vein (BTPU-014, Instech Laboratories Inc.; MRE037, Braintree Scientific Inc.). After recovery from surgery, mice regained at least 90% of their pre-surgery body weight by study day. On the experiment day mice were fasted 4 hours after the onset of light phase. To minimize handling of the mice, LPS (4µg delivered in 0.13mL) or vehicle was administered via the jugular vein. Blood samples, about 200 µL, were collected from the carotid artery in EDTA-coated tubes containing aprotinin and dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitor at baseline, 30, 60, 120 and 180 minutes post-LPS infusion for assessment of plasma GLP-1, insulin, glucagon, IL-6, TNF-alpha, and IL-1 β . Additional measures of blood glucose were taken every 30 minutes throughout the experiment. To maintain blood volume due to the frequent sampling, heparin washed red blood cells from donor mice were administered via the jugular vein throughout the three-hour experiment at a rate of 4.4µL/minute for a total of 800µL. During the experiment, I observed stroke-like symptoms in 5 mice and excluded these mice from analysis. Following the experiment, animals (Chow-Veh, n=6; Chow-LPS, n=9; HFD-Veh, n=8; HFD-LPS, n=8) were sacrificed with pentobarbital sodium (Fatal-plus solution) administered via the jugular vein. Tissues were collected for qPCR analysis.

Glucose Tolerance Tests

To determine if LPS administration has a long-term impact on glucose tolerance and whether diet impacted these results, we conducted glucose tolerance tests on male mice (n=12/diet) that were generated under the same chow vs. HFD dietary conditions described above. Glucose tolerance was assessed 2-3 weeks after an IP injection of a flat dose of LPS or vehicle treatment as above. For the IP and oral glucose tolerance tests, mice were fasted for 4h after the onset of the light phase. Blood was sampled and measured via tail nick. Basal blood glucose was sampled at -15 min, and glucose was administered via IP (2g/kg of 25% dextrose) injection or oral (300uL of 25% dextrose) gavage. Blood samples were taken at 15, 30, 45, 60, and 120 minutes after glucose administration.

Real-time Quantitative PCR (qPCR)

To examine systemic cytokine expression, necropsied livers were rapidly removed and frozen for later analysis. After homogenization in Trizol reagent, tissue RNA was extracted using a Pure Link RNA mini kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). cDNA was synthesized (iScript cDNA synthesis kit, BioRad, Hercules, CA), and qPCR was performed using a TaqMan 7900 Sequence Detection System with TaqMan Universal PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA.). Relative mRNA expression of hepatic *II6* (Mm00446190_m1), *Tnfa* (Mm00443258_m1), *IL-10* (Mm01288386_m1) and *Ccl2* (Mm00441242_m1) were calculated relative to β -actin (Mm02619580_g1) samples using the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method.

Hormone Assays

Plasma levels of total GLP-1 and IL-6, TNF-alpha, and IL-1β (Mesoscale Discovery, Rockville, MD, USA), insulin (Crystal Chem Inc., Elk Grove Village, IL, USA) and glucagon (Mercodia, Uppsala, Sweden) were measured using ELISA kits.

Tissue Macrophage Accumulation

On experiment day, mice (n=3-4/group) were administered LPS (100ng/g) or vehicle treatment via IP injection. 24 hours after administration, mice were euthanized by CO₂

asphyxiation and pancreas was immediately removed and placed in 10% formalin overnight. Tissues were processed for subsequent paraffin embedding and cut into 4 µm sections for immunohistochemistry staining. The sections were incubated overnight with a F4/80 antibody (1:250; Cell Signaling Technology) as a marker of general macrophage accumulation and counterstained hematoxylin. The slides were scanned using Leica Aperio AT2® scanner and quantified using ImageJ as percent F4/80 area of total, islet, or acinar area.

Macrophage Characterization via Flow Cytometry

Mouse pancreata (Con-Veh n=5, Con-LPS n=5, Gcg Null-Veh n=5, Gcg Null-LPS n=5; HFD-Con-LPS n=5, HFD-Con-Veh n=5, HFD Gcg Null n=4, Gcg Null-LPS n=4; wildtype n=1, Glp1r-GFP-LPS n=2) were excised immediately after euthanasia and then mechanically dissociated with scissors in sterile PBS. Pancreata were washed and pelleted under centrifugation, resuspended in 1mg/mL Collagenase V (Sigma), digested for 15 minutes at 37°C, guenched with RPMI + 10% FBS, then filtered through 40µm filters (Corning). The cells underwent RBC lysis, washed in PBS, then blocked and stained with the CD45-PerCP (Biolegend) for total immune cells, CD64-PE (BD Biosciences) for macrophages, and CD11b-APC (Biolegend) for a specific subpopulation of macrophages at 1:100 dilution in 100% FBS. Separately, bone marrow was extracted (Wild-type=1, Glp1r-GFP-LPS n=2), homogenized to a single cell suspension and stained with the following antibodies CD45-eFluor450 (Invitrogen/eBioscience) and CD11b-APC (Invitrogen/eBioscience). The cells were then washed in FACS buffer (1% FBS, HBSS), and run on a ZE4 Analyzer flow cytometer (BioRad). While I had a validated F4/80 IHC antibody, I tested both F4/80 and CD64 to identify macrophage populations with flow cytometry and the CD64 population was more distinct for flow cytometry of the pancreas.

Statistics

The number of animals studied per treatment and genotype are indicated within each experiment and were determined by a power analysis completed using variance from previous data. All data are expressed as mean ± SEM. The statistical procedures were performed as indicated in the figure legends. Normally distributed data were analyzed

via standard parametric statistics including two-way, or three-way ANOVA's and t-tests. If significant interactions were detected between independent variables, Tukey's *post-hoc* analysis was performed to determine where significant differences lie. Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism v.8.1.1, and statistical significance was accepted when p<0.05.

Results

Impact of LPS on plasma GLP-1 in HFD versus chow-fed mice.

LPS is a well-established tool to induce inflammation and important for this study, increases GLP-1 (151,293,294). Additionally, plasma GLP-1 responses to severe inflammation are higher in patients with T2DM (152,295). To determine whether HFD alters physiological responses to LPS compared to chow-fed mice, I analyzed plasma levels of GLP-1 and glucose before and after LPS administration in chow and HFD-fed mice. As expected, HFD for 8 weeks significantly increased body weight (mean ± SEM; Chow-Veh 30.2 grams (g)±1.11, Chow-LPS 29.5g±0.95, HFD-Veh 48.4g±2.16, HFD-LPS 47.9g±2.30, p<0.05) compared to chow-fed mice. As expected, HFD animals had greater baseline glucose levels. 2h after LPS, both chow and HFD-fed mice had decreased blood glucose levels compared to baseline but HFD animals were still significantly higher compared to chow-fed mice (Figure 3.1A). 4h after LPS, there were no longer statistical differences between the LPS-treated chow and HFD animals indicating a greater relative fall from baseline in HFD-fed mice. Total GLP-1 (Figure **3.1B**) levels were increased with LPS and were significantly greater in HFD-fed compared to chow-fed mice 2h after LPS. Consistent with previous work, the LPS dose was calculated based on body weight. However, because HFD-fed mice weigh more, their absolute LPS dose was higher, which, in and of itself, could increase plasma GLP-1 levels in the obese animals. To determine if this was the case, I then administered a flat dose (0.32ug) to a second cohort of chow vs. HFD-fed mice. Again, HFD significantly increased body weight (mean ± SEM; Chow-Veh 32.43g±0.66, Chow-LPS 32.07g±0.32, HFD-Veh 45.66g±1.86, HFD-LPS 45.43g±1.90; p<0.05). Similar to the body weight relative LPS dose, glucose (Figure 3.1C) levels in chow and HFD-fed decreased over 4h after LPS and this greater relative decrease was greater in HFD-fed

mice. Total plasma GLP-1 (**Figure 3.1D**) was significantly increased in the HFDcompared to chow-fed mice 2 hours after LPS. Taken together, these data indicate that HFD alters glucose and the GLP-1 responses to LPS.

HFD-fed mice have a prolonged anorectic effect in response to LPS compared to chowfed mice

LPS is known to decrease food intake and because of this reduction, conserve energy expenditure and alter fuel utilization (296,297). Typically, this results in a shift away from carbohydrate oxidation (296). To further examine the interaction between energy homeostasis, immune responses, and diet, I utilized metabolic chambers to monitor end-points associated with energy homeostasis after LPS. Baseline body weight was greater in HFD vs. chow-fed mice but within diet the LPS and Veh groups were matched for body weight (Figure 3.2A). Consistent with the literature, LPS-treated mice had a significant decrease in body weight (Figure 3.2B) over 4 days. In addition, there was a significant decrease in lean but not fat mass 4 days after LPS indicating that the majority of the body weight lost was from muscle mass (Figure 3.2C-D). As expected, LPS-treated mice decreased their food intake both within hours of administration (Figure 3.2E) and this suppression of feeding lasted for 3 days (Figure 3.2F). During Day 1 after LPS, the HFD mice had significantly decreased food intake compared to the Chow-fed LPS group (Figure 3.2E). As the mice recovered on Day 2 and 3, the HFD-LPS mice continued to have decreased cumulative food intake compared to chow-fed mice (Figure 3. 2F).

As stated above, a typical response to LPS is a decrease in energy expenditure to prioritize immune cell function (296). I found a significantly lower energy expenditure in the Chow-LPS vs. Veh group during Day 1 dark cycle and then no significant difference between these groups during the first light cycle or after (**Figure 3.2G-H**) indicating that the animals were quickly recovering from the LPS injection. However, the HFD-LPS group has similar energy expenditure to their Veh-treated control after LPS (**Figure 3.2G-H**) implying that HFD induces a dysregulation of energy prioritization. Because the HFD-fed mice have greater body weight, I chose to calculate absolute energy expenditure. However, I saw similar results when energy expenditure was expressed

relative to body weight as well (**Supplementary Figure 3.1**). Together these data suggest that HFD-fed mice have an increased sickness-induced anorexia and dysregulated energy expenditure during severe inflammation.

Under immune activation, competing metabolic demands of immune cells vs. physiological functions must be balanced (296). The respiratory exchange ratio (RER) is an indicator of whole-body fuel utilization and was reported for all groups 24h following LPS (**Figure 3.2I**). The average RER (**Figure 3.2J**) for Day 1 was significantly higher in the Chow-Veh group compared to all others, and on Days 2 and 3 both Veh- and LPS-treated chow groups were significantly higher compared to the HFD-fed groups. These RER data show that the chow-fed mice shift away from oxidizing carbohydrates (100% carbohydrate oxidation indicated by a RER=1) as an energy source (**Figure 3.2I**). The HFD-LPS mice are already oxidizing fatty acids (100% fatty acid oxidation indicated by a RER=0.7) as an energy source at baseline so no decrease in RER is detected. By Day 2 after LPS, RER in the chow-fed mice is similar to baseline indicating that they have recovered from the LPS administration. Conversely, the HFD-LPS mice dips below 0.7 on the RER graph, implying the mice are resorting to either fatty acids or ketone utilization. Day 3 after LPS, both LPS-treated mice have similar RER to their respective control groups.

HFD-fed mice show increased inflammatory responses to LPS compared to chow-fed mice

Having observed differences in responses to LPS between chow vs. HFD-fed mice, I wanted to further explore the systemic physiological and inflammatory responses. Mice underwent vascular catherization and LPS (4ug; flat dose) was administered via the jugular vein while blood draws were taken from the carotid artery. This is beneficial compared to tail bleeding as it allows me to take a higher volume and frequency of blood draws because I can maintain blood volume with a constant red blood cell infusion, and it is less stressful to the mice compared to repeated tail bleeding. The LPS-treated mice had decreased blood glucose levels (**Figure 3.3A**) and had increased plasma GLP-1 (**Figure 3.3B**) over time relative compared to Veh-treated mice and these effects were magnified (Diet x Treatment p=0.02) in mice fed HFD. Interestingly,

although insulin was higher in HFD- vs. chow-fed mice, the increase in GLP-1 did not result in increased plasma insulin with LPS (**Figure 3.3C**). The LPS treated mice had significantly increased glucagon (**Figure 3.3D**) levels compared to Veh-treated mice at 120 and 180min after LPS in both HFD- and chow-fed mice. The pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-6 (**Figure 3.3E**) and TNF- α (**Figure 3.3F**), were greater in the HFD-LPS group compared to the Chow-LPS group while IL-1 β (**Figure 3.3G**) increased with LPS similarly between the two dietary groups. Because the liver is an important link between the gut and systemic circulation (298), I evaluated liver cytokine expression in the HFD and chow-fed mice. In LPS-treated mice, there is a significant increase of liver cytokine expression including IL-6 (**Figure 3.3H**), TNF- α (**Figure 3.3I**), IL-10 (**Figure 3.3J**), and MCP-1 (**Figure 3.3K**) compared to Veh-treatment, but there were no significant interactions between diet and LPS. Together these data suggest that HFD-fed mice have increased systemic and liver inflammatory responses to LPS compared to chow-fed mice.

The role of Gcg in the physiological responses to LPS in chow and HFD-fed mice

Next, I wanted to determine the function of the increase in GLP-1 in response to LPS. The traditional function of GLP-1 focuses on its ability to decrease appetite and increase insulin secretion in response to nutrients (37,38,42,43,243,268). However, GLP-1 has also been implicated as an anti-inflammatory agent (285,286). To determine the necessity of GLP-1 in the metabolic and immunologic responses to LPS, I studied both PDX1-*Cre* and Vil-*Cre* litter-mate controls (indicated by Con in figures), *Gcg* Null, pancreatic and intestinally *Gcg* reactivated mice that were fed chow (**Figure 3.4A-M**) or HFD (**Figure 3.5A-L**). There was no significant impact of genotype on the feeding response to LPS (**Figure 3.4B-C**) demonstrating that *Gcg* is not necessary, nor is pancreatic or intestinal *Gcg* sufficient, for the anorectic effect of LPS. There was no significant change in glucose in response to saline (**Figure 3.4D**) over time or between genotypes. While glucose was significantly lower at 240 min in response to LPS, (**Figure 3.4E**) there was no significant difference in this decrease between the genotypes. At 240 minutes after LPS, (**Figure 3.4F**) total GLP-1 was increased in the chow-fed control and GcgRA^{ΔPanc} mice and, as expected, was undetected in the *Gcg*

Null mice. The GcgRA^{Δ Int} mice had no significant increase in total GLP-1 levels in response to LPS. This indicates that the pancreas is a more significant contributor to plasma GLP-1 responses during LPS-induced inflammation. There was no significant impact of genotype or LPS on insulin levels (**Figure 3.4G**). Together these data suggest that GLP-1 does not function to increase insulin during severe inflammation and is not necessary for the glucose response to insulin. Glucagon (**Figure 3.4H**) was significantly higher in response to LPS in control and GcgRA^{Δ Panc} mice and undetectable in both the *Gcg* Null and GcgRA^{Δ Int} mice. Several cytokines were significantly increased in response to LPS in both the plasma (**Figure 3.4I-K**) and liver (**Figure 3.4L-M**) but there was no additional impact of genotype. Because genotype did not impact hepatic expression of cytokines in the control, *Gcg* Null or GcgRA^{Δ Panc} mice, this endpoint was not assessed GcgRA^{Δ Int} groups.

I previously observed difference in total GLP-1 expression in chow versus HFD-fed mice under inflammatory conditions, therefore, I also assessed similar endpoints in a separate cohort of HFD-fed mice. There was no significant impact of genotype on food intake (**Figure 3.5A-B**) demonstrating that the lack of impact of *Gcg* on the anorectic effect of LPS is not impacted by diet. Similar to chow-fed, there was no significant change in glucose in response to saline (**Figure 3.5C**) over time or between genotypes. Glucose was significantly lower at 240 min in response to LPS (**Figure 3.5D**) but there was no significant difference in this decrease between the genotypes. Together these data suggest that *Gcg* does not play a role in regulating glucose, feeding, or systemic cytokine responses to LPS, regardless of diet.

Total GLP-1 was increased in the Con-LPS HFD-fed mice only (**Figure 3.5E**). When I examined the GLP-1 levels after LPS as percent of average saline, the chow and HFD control mice contributed about the same levels of total GLP-1 (mean ± SEM; Chow-Con 289.36±30.02, HFD-Con 238.22±28.31; p=0.25), regardless of diet. The pancreatic contribution trended towards being higher in the chow-fed (mean±SEM; Chow-GcgRA^{Δ Panc} 364.40±95.40, HFD-GcgRA^{Δ Panc} 196.71±45.07, p=0.08). The intestinal contribution (mean±SEM; Chow-GcgRA^{Δ Int} 69.21±21.35, HFD-GcgRA^{Δ Int} 181.54±40.08, p=0.01) increased in the HFD compared to chow-fed mice. These data imply that in

chow-fed mice the pancreas was the major contributor but in the HFD-fed mice both the pancreas and intestine contribute to circulating GLP-1 levels. In the HFD-fed mice, only the Con-LPS group had a significant increase in glucagon (**Figure 3.5G**).

Gcg Null mice have increased macrophage accumulation in the pancreas after LPS

To test whether *Gcg* had a role in regulating local inflammation, I determined pancreatic macrophage accumulation and characterization via two methods: flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry. Pancreatic immune cells were sorted on a flow cytometer, and the cells were (**Figure 3.6A**, **Figure 3.7A**) gated on singlets, scatter, and CD45+ cells. The population of interest, CD64+CD11b+, which represents a specific subpopulation of macrophages, was quantified and analyzed (**Figure 3.6A**, **Figure 3.7**). The *Gcg* Null-LPS treated mice had significantly increased macrophage accumulation compared to all other groups in the chow-fed mice (**Figure 3.6A**). In the HFD-fed mice, LPS significantly increased CD64+CD11b+ (main effect of treatment (p=0.03)) and the *Gcg* Null mice had significantly greater CD64+CD11b+ cells (main effect of genotype (p=0.04)) but there was no significant interaction between the two variables.

In a separate cohort, LPS was administered and pancreata were collected and processed for immunohistochemistry. Slides were stained for F4/80 (**Figure 3.6B**, **Figure 3.7B**) as general marker for macrophages using DAB. These data were quantified as percentage of area positive for F4/80 staining compared to the total (**Figure 3.6C**, **Figure 3.7C**) islet (**Figure 3.6D**, **Figure 3.7D**), and acinar area (**Figure 3.6E**, **Figure 3.7E**), respectively. In both chow and HFD-fed mice, there was an increase in F4/80 staining in response to LPS, but this increase was similar in control, *Gcg* Null, and GcgRA^{Δ Panc} mice. The *Gcg* Null HFD mice had a baseline increase as shown by the *Gcg* Null-Veh group. In the acinar (p=0.02) and total (p=0.04) area of the HFD pancreata, I found a main effect of LPS treatment. Together, these data imply that under severe inflammation, *Gcg* Null mice have more macrophage accumulation in the pancreas compared to control as shown by the CD64+CD11b+ population in the flow cytometry, and the IHC demonstrates that the macrophages accumulate in both the islet and acinar cells of the pancreas.

Macrophages isolated from the pancreas express GLP-1R

Next, I investigated if GLP-1 could be directly regulating macrophage accumulation. Whether GLP-1R are expressed on macrophages, and other immune cells for that matter, is unknown as GLP-1R antibodies are questionable (299). To address this problem, I crossed an eGFP-L10a reporter mouse to a $Glp1r^{\Delta Cre}$ (Figure 3.8A) mouse. I administered LPS and pancreatic tissues were stained for immune cells, acquired on the flow cytometer, and gated on singlets, scatter, CD45+, and CD64+ cells (Figure 3.8B). Validating that I was able to detect the GFP signal, the wild-type mice showed no GFP signal (Figure 3.8C), whereas Glp1r-GFP mice showed a strong GFP signal (Figure 3.8C). Additionally, this population of GFP+ cells were positive for CD11b+, the subpopulation of macrophages I saw elevated in Gcg Null mice. Interestingly, only the pancreas showed this population and not immune cells isolated from the bone marrow (Figure 3.8C). This implies that under the stress of inflammation, macrophages in the pancreas express GLP-1R and are likely directly regulated by locally produced GLP-1.

HFD-fed mice have impaired IP glucose tolerance 3 weeks after LPS

To determine whether pancreatic macrophage accumulation after LPS could have a long-term effect on endocrine function, chow- and HFD-fed mice underwent oral and intraperitoneal (IP) glucose tolerance tests (GTTs) 2 and 3 weeks after LPS, respectively. On the day of both the oral GTT (mean±SEM; Chow-Veh 31.91g±0.45; Chow-LPS 30.46g±0.53; HFD-Veh 48.43g±1.19; HFD-LPS 46.59g±1.23) and IP GTT (mean±SEM; Chow-Veh 31.11g±0.29; Chow-LPS 30.09g±0.67; HFD-Veh 49.58g±1.17; HFD-LPS 48.43g±1.06) the body weight of LPS vs. Veh-treated mice were not different. LPS had no significant impact on oral glucose tolerance (**Figure 3.9A**) in chow- or HFD-fed mice. However, while HFD-fed mice had significantly greater glucose responses compared to chow fed mice, both LPS treated groups had impaired IP glucose tolerance, regardless of diet (Time x Diet p<0.0001, Time x Treatment p=0.0049) (**Figure 3.9B**). Together these data suggest that LPS treatment has a lasting impact on glucose tolerance that can be overcome by incretin control of glucose.

Discussion

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) remains a pervasive problem both in the United States and around the world (275). The COVID-19 pandemic was a prime example of how T2DM and the associated immune dysfunction can adversely impact the immune responses (278). I found that high-fat diet (HFD) increases physiological responses to severe inflammation including greater increases in total GLP-1, greater sicknessinduced anorexia and dysregulated energy homeostasis, and that GLP-1 directly regulates macrophage accumulation in response to LPS. Thus, GLP-1 plays an immunologic, rather than metabolic, role in response to LPS.

GLP-1 is traditionally thought of as an incretin hormone which increases after a meal and functions to insulin secretion and thus control blood glucose levels (37,38,42,43). Many studies have investigated the GLP-1 response to inflammation (139,143,285,286). Under severe inflammatory conditions, such as sepsis, patients have remarkably increased GLP-1 levels and this increase is associated with higher mortality rates (300).

As stated above, I used LPS as an inflammatory stimulus which results in a strong, systemic inflammatory response including increased systemic cytokine production and decreased food intake (296,297). In my HFD vs. chow-fed experiments I saw that HFD-fed mice had a stronger physiological response to the LPS. I found that HFD mice had increased plasma GLP-1 two hours after LPS administration. This greater increase in GLP-1 is consistent with what is seen in human T2DM data who have had sepsis (152,295,300). In addition, the HFD-fed mice had increased sickness-induced anorexia as seen by the food intake data and increased cytokine production. Together, these data show that HFD increases the inflammatory state after LPS, including plasma GLP-1 levels suggesting that GLP-1 is involved in the immune response. Indeed, researchers have shown that GPL-1 levels predict mortality of patients with critical illness (300).

The function of endogenous GLP-1 under inflammatory conditions remains unknown. Because LPS is a known anorectic agent that alters glucose homeostasis, both functions of GLP-1, I predicted that the role of GLP-1 in response to LPS would be an extension of its postprandial functions. While pancreatic GLP-1 contributed relatively more GLP-1 to the circulation, neither the pancreatic nor intestinal sources of GLP-1

were necessary for the anorectic or glucose responses to LPS. Together these data imply that the function of GLP-1 under inflammatory conditions differs from its function postprandially. This is corroborated by my insulin data which shows no increase in plasma insulin despite increased circulating GLP-1 levels after LPS administration.

Because obesity and T2DM impact GLP-1 levels, in a separate cohort of mice fed HFD, I investigated these same endpoints. In these experiments, only the control mice had a significant increase in total GLP-1. This lack of increase in the GcgRA^{Δ Panc} mice could be due to baseline increases of GLP-1 in the HFD-fed mice, or that the HFD GcgRA^{Δ Panc} mice have dysregulated responses to diet and/or LPS due to lack of *Gcg* in either the gut or hindbrain.

GLP-1 agonists have been implicated in anti-inflammatory signaling in multiple tissues (153,287,288,301). Exendin-4 (Ex-4) has been show to decrease circulatory cytokine levels after both LPS and Ex-4 administration (153). Similarly, patients administered liraglutide over six weeks had decreased cytokine levels measured in mononuclear cells (287). Additionally, GLP-1 agonists increased functional recovery and viability of cardiomyocytes with and without GLP-1R (302). Despite well-established antiinflammatory effects of GLP-1, how GLP-1 agonists contribute to an anti-inflammatory state remains unknown. Furthermore, whether endogenous GLP-1 has the same effect as long-acting GLP-1 agonists in unknown. In the above experiments, I did not observe any difference in systemic cytokine levels between *Gcg* Null, GcgRA^{ΔPanc}, GcgRA^{ΔInt} vs. control mice, regardless of diet. The discrepancy between the effects of endogenous GLP-1 and exogenous administration of long-lasting GLP-1 agonists could be explained by the rapid degradation of GLP-1 in circulation (155–157). While long-lasting agonists have systemic anti-inflammatory properties, perhaps endogenous GLP-1 has a local effect in GLP-1 producing tissues, the intestine and pancreas. As mentioned above, under LPS induced inflammation there is an increase in pancreatic produced GLP-1 in chow-fed mice. This is different from what is seen postprandially, where the predominant source of GLP-1 is from the intestine (33). Given this more novel source of GLP-1, I wanted to investigate specifically the impact of Gcg- derived peptides on pancreatic inflammation. The flow cytometry data comparing *Gcg* Null versus control

mice shows that after LPS, the *Gcg* Null-LPS group had significantly more CD64+CD11b+ cells compared to all other groups. This population was of interest to me because under HFD-induced chronic inflammation, this subpopulation of macrophages are the major contributor to the immune environment of the islet (259). I saw similar results in both the chow fed and HFD-fed mice. However, it is important to note that the HFD mice had a greater number of unhealthy cells leaving the populations of macrophages less distinct in the HFD flow analysis and this effect was greater in *Gcg* Null vs. control mice. This implies that the absence of *Gcg* increases the inflammatory state of the pancreas.

The strength of flow cytometry is that it allows both the characterization and quantification of the macrophages, but not the localization. To look at the anatomical accumulation of the immune cells, I quantified percentage of area positive for F4/80 staining compared to the total, islet, and acinar area. In both chow and HFD-fed mice, there was an increase in F4/80 staining in response to LPS, but this increase was similar in control, *Gcg* Null, and GcgRA^{∆Panc} mice. While I had a validated F4/80 antibody and protocol available for the IHC samples, I used both F4/80 and CD64 antibodies for the flow experiment. The CD64 population was more distinct so I used it to distinguish the macrophages along with CD11b rather than F4/80. Both F4/80 and CD64 are common macrophage markers (303,304). However, while flow cytometry revealed a significant increase in macrophages in the pancreas in in the Gcg Null mice in response to LPS, I saw no significant genotype effect with IHC. This difference can be explained by the fact that the flow experiment used the entire pancreas is isolate macrophages, whereas the IHC images were taken of the islets and the surrounding tissue. Images taken only around the islet might skew the results for the acinar population. Despite this discrepancy, these data imply that macrophages accumulate in the pancreas after an inflammatory insult, and Gcg Null mice have increased CD64+CD11b+ macrophages compared to control mice.

As discussed above, GLP-1 agonists result in anti-inflammatory signals (153,287,288,301,302). However, it is unclear how GLP-1 agonists are contributing to the anti-inflammatory state. Is it through CNS or peripheral signaling, or via direct

regulation of immune cells? To determine whether GLP-1 could directly regulate macrophages I used a *Glp1r*-GFP reporter mouse. It is well established that there are few, perhaps just one, antibody that is sensitive and accurate enough to detect the GLP-1R. To avoid this issue, I used a GLP-1R^{Δ Cre} mouse crossed to an eGFP-L10 reporter line and used flow cytometry to gate for GFP and immune cells. I found that a population of CD64+ CD11b+ cells were also positive for GFP in the pancreas implying that there are macrophages within the pancreas that express GLP-1R. However, there were no cell population that was positive for both immune cell markers and GFP. Thus, I hypothesize that GLP-1 directly regulates macrophage accumulation in the pancreas. This conflicts with a recent study which looked at the impact of liraglutide on bone marrow macrophages and found GLP-1R expression in both these macrophages and RAW264.7 cells, a macrophage cell line (305). However, single cell transcriptome analysis found GLP-1R expression in both classical monocytes, a macrophage precursor, and natural killer cells, an important cell type in innate immune responses, in the lung (306). This is an entirely new role for GLP-1 and puts forth a new hypothesis of why GLP-1 agonists show anti-inflammatory properties.

One limitation of this study is the specificity of the PDX1-*Cre* expression in our promotor mouse. PDX1-*Cre* is expressed in both the pancreas and duodenum. Previous research has shown that the predominant source of GLP-1 postprandially is the ileum and colon (33), so the PDX1-*Cre* promoter is still useful as a pancreatic promoter for *Gcg*. Additionally, our Cre model targets the entire *Gcg* gene and all the peptides it encodes. Indeed, glucagon is an important counterregulatory hormone that may play a role in the local inflammatory state of the islet and cannot be discounted at this time. Although tools are limited at this time, future studies targeting either GLP-1 and/or glucagon could offer further insight into pancreatic *Gcg* peptides and local inflammatory responses.

This study puts forth an additional role for GLP-1, as a macrophage regulating peptide. LPS-induced inflammation resulted in impaired glucose tolerance 3 weeks later. Previous data has shown that islet macrophage accumulation impacts glucosestimulated insulin secretion (259). Together, these data show the lasting effect of

inflammation on islets and could be particularly impactful for pre-diabetic patients who have an inflammatory insult as it could exacerbate the progression to T2DM.

Conclusion

These experiments explored the interaction between LPS-induced inflammation and metabolism and found that HFD-fed mice had increased susceptibility to the symptoms of LPS-induced inflammation. It also put forth a novel function of GLP-1 as a direct regulator of macrophage accumulation.

Authorship

Ellen M. Zalucha, Chelsea R. Hutch, Aayush Unadkat, Ki-Suk Kim, Basma Maerz, Michael Lehrke, Kanakadurga Singer, Darleen A. Sandoval

Author Contributions

E.M.Z., M.L., K.S., and D.A.S. conceived and designed research; E.M.Z., C.R.H., B.M., and A.U. performed experiments; E.M.Z. and D.A.S. analyzed data; E.M.Z., C.R.H, K.K, K.S., and D.A.S. interpreted results of experiments; E.M.Z., K.S., and D.A.S. prepared figures; E.M.Z and D.A.S drafted manuscript; E.M.Z., D.A.S., and K.S. edited and revised manuscript; D.A.S. approved final version of manuscript.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank the surgeons involved in these experiments (Andriy Myronovych, and Mouhamadoul Toure). The authors also thank Stace Kernodle and Kelli Rule for experimental assistance.

Funding Support

This work is supported in part by NIH (R01DK121995, R01DK107282; DAS), and ADA (1-19-IBS-252, DAS).

Study Approval

The University of Michigan Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved all procedures.

Figure 3.1 Impact of LPS on plasma GLP-1 in HFD versus chow-fed mice. LPS was either dosed per body weight (100ng/g) or as a flat dose (0.32ug) and (A, C) glucose, and (B, D) plasma total GLP-1 were measured, respectively. HFD-fed mice had a greater fall from baseline glucose at 4 hours and a greater increase in total GLP-1 at 2 hours regardless of dosage. Data in this figure were statistically analyzed with a 2-way (or mixed model) (A-B) or 3-way (C-D) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate, each animal was tested once, and data are represented as Mean ± SEM. *p<0.05 Chow vs. HFD, **p<0.01 Chow vs. HFD



Figure 3.2 HFD-fed mice have a prolonged anorectic effect in response to LPS compared to chow-fed mice. Mice (n=6/group) were acclimated to the metabolic chambers for two days. (A) Mice were matched for body weight. (B) Total body weight, (C) lean mass, (D) and fat mass loss 3 days after LPS (4ug). (E) The HFD-LPS group has decreased food intake compared to the Chow-LPS group. (F) Cumulative food intake during recovery from LPS (Day 2 and 3). (G) Energy expenditure in chow and HFD groups the 3 days following treatment with Veh or LPS. (H) Average energy expenditure separated into dark and light cycles over the three-day experiment; the Chow-LPS mice had significantly lower energy expenditure during the dark cycle of Day 1 compared to the Chow-Veh group. (I) RER for all groups over 3 experiment days in response to Veh vs. LPS. (J) The average RER for Day 1 was significantly higher in the Chow-Veh group compared to all others, and on Days 2 and 3 both chow groups were significantly higher compared to the HFD-fed groups. Data in this figure were statistically analyzed with a 2-way (A-D), or a 3-way (H-J) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate, or an unpaired t-test (E-F inset graphs), each animal was tested once, and data are represented as Mean ± SEM. *p<0.05; ***p<0.001; ****p<0.0001 as indicated in each graph.



Figure 3.3 HFD-fed mice have increased inflammatory responses to LPS compared to chow-fed mice. Following vascular catheterization, mice (Chow-Veh, n=6; Chow-LPS, n=9; HFD-Veh, n=8; HFD-LPS, n=8) recovered for 3-5 days and were administered LPS (4ug) via the jugular vein and (A) glucose, (B) total GLP-1, (C) insulin, (D) glucagon, (E) IL-6, (F) TNF- α and (G) IL-1 β were measured. LPS treated mice had decreased glucose levels over time (Time x Treatment p<0.0001). Total GLP-1 (Time x Treatment p<0.0001) and glucagon (Time x Treatment p<0.0001) were increased over time in LPS-treated groups. Insulin levels were increased by diet but were not significantly impacted by LPS treatment. The iAUC for IL-6 and TNF- α were increased in HFD compared to chow-fed mice. There was no significant difference between dietary groups in the LPS-induced increase in IL-1 β . Following the experiment, liver tissue was collected for cytokine and chemokine expression including (H) IL-6, (I) TNF- α , (J) IL-10 and (K) MCP-1. While there was a clear impact of LPS on liver cytokine production, there was no significant additional impact of HFD. Data in this figure were statistically analyzed with a 3-way (A-G) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate or 2-way (H-K) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate, each animal was tested once, and data are represented as Mean ± SEM. *p<0.05 Chow-LPS vs. HFD-LPS


Figure 3.4 The role of Gcg in the physiological responses to LPS in chow-fed mice A brief schematic of the (A) Gcg genetic models are shown. Following a 4 hour fast, mice (Con-Veh, n=15; Con-LPS, n=13; Gcg Null-Veh, n=14; *Gcg* Null-LPS, n=14; GcgRA^{ΔPanc}-Veh, n=6; GcgRA^{ΔPanc}-LPS, n=8; GcgRA^{ΔInt}-Veh, n=7; GcgRA^{ΔInt}-LPS, n=7) were administered LPS (100ng/g) via an IP injection and food intake (B) was measured. (C) Food intake expressed as % difference from saline was similar between genotypes. A separate cohort of mice (Con-Veh, n=13; Con-LPS, n=14; Gcg Null-Veh, n=13; Gcg Null-LPS, n=14; GcgRA^{ΔPanc}-Veh, n=7; GcgRA^{ΔPanc}-LPS, n=8; GcgRA^{ΔInt}-Veh, n=9; GcgRA^{ΔInt}_LPS, n=10) were administered LPS as in (B) for panels D-K. (D) There was no significant change in glucose in response to saline over time or between genotypes. (E) There was a drop in glucose over time in response to LPS but no significant difference between genotypes. (F) At 240 minutes after LPS, total GLP-1 was increased in the Con and GcgRA^{ΔPanc} mice. (G) There was no significant increase in insulin detected in response to LPS. (H) Glucagon was significantly higher in response to LPS in Con and GcgRA^{ΔPanc} mice and undetectable in both the Gcg Null and GcgRA^{ΔInt} mice. (I) Plasma IL-6 response to LPS (Veh levels indicated by dashed line) was significantly higher in the GcgRA^{Δ Panc} group. (J-K) There were no detectable difference between genotypes for TNF- α and IL-1 β plasma levels after LPS (Veh levels indicated by dashed line). Hepatic expression of (Con-Veh, n=5; Con-LPS, n=8; Gcg Null-Veh, n=4; Gcg Null-LPS, n=7; GcgRA^{Δ Panc}-Veh, n=6; GcgRA^{Δ Panc}-LPS, n=8) both IL-6 (L) and TNF- α (M) were significantly increased in response to LPS but there was no impact of genotype. Data in this figure were statistically analyzed with a 3-way (B, D-E) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate or 2-way (C, F-M) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate, each animal was tested once, and are represented as Mean ± SEM. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001, **** p<0.0001



Figure 3.5 The role of *Gcg* **in the physiological responses to LPS in HFD-fed mice** Following a 4 hour fast, mice (n=7/group) were administered LPS (100ng/g) via an IP injection and food intake (A) was measured. (B) Food intake expressed as % difference from saline was not significantly different between genotypes. In a separate cohort of mice (Con-Veh, n=14; Con-LPS, n=20; *Gcg* Null-Veh, n=14; *Gcg* Null-LPS, n=16; GcgRA^{ΔPanc}-Veh, n=8; GcgRA^{ΔPanc}-LPS, n=9; GcgRA^{ΔInt}-Veh, n=7; GcgRA^{ΔInt}-LPS, n=8) were administered LPS as in (A) for panels C-J. (C) There was no significant change in glucose in response to saline over time or between genotypes. (D) There was a drop in glucose over time in response to LPS but no significant difference between genotypes. Blood was collected at 240 minutes and (F) plasma total GLP-1, (G) plasma Insulin, (H) plasma glucagon, (I) plasma IL-6, (J) plasma TNF-α, (K) plasma IL-1β were measured. All groups, regardless of genotype, responded similarly to LPS (Veh levels indicated by dashed line). Hepatic expression of (L) IL-6 and (M) TNFα were increased in response to LPS, but there was no significant impact of genotype on these responses (Con-Veh, n=7; Con-LPS, n=9; *Gcg* Null-Veh, n=6; *Gcg* Null-LPS, n=6; GcgRA^{ΔPanc}-Veh, n=8; GcgRA^{ΔPanc}-LPS, n=9. Data in this figure were statistically analyzed with a 3-way (A, C-D) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate or 2-way (B, H-L) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate or 2-way (B, H-L) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate or 2-way (B, H-L) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate or 2-way (B, H-L) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate or 2-way (B, H-L) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate or 2-way (B, H-L) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate or 2-way (B, H-L) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate or 2-way (B, H-L) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate or 2-way (B, H-L) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis w



Figure 3.6 Gcg Null mice have increased macrophage accumulation in the pancreas after LPS 24h after LPS, mouse (n=4/group) pancreata cells were (A) gated on singlets, scatter, and CD45+ cells. The population of interest, CD64+CD11b+ was quantified and analyzed. *Gcg* Null-LPS mice have increased macrophage accumulation compared to all other groups. In a separate cohort (Con-Veh, n=4; Con-LPS, n=4; *Gcg* Null-Veh, n=3; *Gcg* Null-LPS, n=3; GcgRA^{ΔPanc}-Veh, n=4; GcgRA^{ΔPanc}-LPS, n=4; GcgRA^{ΔInt}-Veh, n=4; GcgRA^{ΔInt}-LPS, n=4) pancreas sections were stained for (B) F4/80 using DAB and (C-E) quantified. LPS-treated mice had increased macrophage accumulation in the (C) total pancreas (p<0.0001), including both the (D) islet (p=0.0117), and (E) acinar cells (p<0.0001) regardless of genotype. Data in this figure were statistically analyzed with a 2-way (A, C-E) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate, each animal was tested once, and are represented as Mean ± SEM. **p<0.01



Figure 3.7 Gcg Null mice fed HFD also have increased macrophage accumulation in the pancreas after LPS Mice (Con-Veh, n=4; Cre-LPS, n=4; *Gcg* Null-Veh, n=3; *Gcg* Null-LPS, n=3) pancreata was stained for immune cells and acquired on a flow cytometer. The cells were (A) gated on singlets, scatter and CD45+ cells. LPS mice have increased CD64+CD11b+ accumulation compared to veh groups (Treatment p=0.0297) and macrophages were higher in *Gcg* Null mice (Genotype p=0.0369). In a separate cohort HFD-fed mice pancreata were collected 24 hours after LPS and sections were stained for (B-E) F4/80 using DAB. LPS-treated mice had increased macrophage accumulation in the (C) total pancreas (p=0.0395), but not the (D) islets, implying increase was in the (E) acinar cells (p=0.0245). This was consistent across genotypes. Data in this figure were statistically analyzed with a 2-way (A, C-E) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis when appropriate, each animal was tested once, and are represented as Mean ± SEM.



Figure 3.8 Macrophages isolated from the pancreas express GLP-1R. A brief schematic of the (A) *Glp1r*-GFP reporter mouse is shown. 24 hours after LPS (100ng/g) administration, immune cells were isolated from pancreata and bone marrow (Wild-type n=1, *Glp1r*-GFP-LPS n=2), stained, and acquired on the flow cytometer using the gating scheme (B) shown. Wild-type mice showed no GFP signal (C), whereas *Glp1r*-GFP mice showed a strong GFP signal (C). Additionally, a population of cells were positive for both CD11b and GFP.



Glp1r-GFP+

Figure 3.9 HFD-fed mice have impaired IP glucose tolerance 3 weeks after LPS Mice (n=6/group) administered LPS (0.32ug) had no significant difference in (A) oral glucose tolerance (oGTT) compared to saline-treated mice, regardless of diet. (B) Both HFD and LPS treatment impaired IP glucose tolerance but there was no significant interaction of diet and treatment (Time x Diet p<0.0001, Time x Treatment p=0.0049). Data in this figure were statistically analyzed with a 3-way (A-B) ANOVA and are represented as Mean ± SEM.



Supplementary Figure 3.1 Energy Expenditure response to LPS is similar when expressed relative to body weight (A) Energy expenditure expressed relative to body weight was decreased in the Chow-LPS group, but not in the HFD-LPS group. (B) The average energy expenditure did not have a significant 3-way interaction but there was a significant Day x Treatment interaction (p<0.0001) and a main effect of diet (p=0.0441). Data in this figure were statistically analyzed with a 3-way ANOVA (B) with Tukey post hoc analysis, each animal was tested once, and data are represented as Mean ± SEM.



CHAPTER 4 Conclusion

Significance of Findings

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) remains a pervasive problem around the world (276,277). The COVID-19 pandemic was a startling example of the how dysfunction of the adaptive and innate immune systems with T2DM impacts mortality from inflammatory insults (278). It is critical moving forward that we understand how the pathophysiology of T2DM impacts immune responses. This knowledge will help to both decrease mortality rates of T2DM patients under severe inflammatory conditions as well as innovate new therapeutics. This dissertation made important strides towards understanding the local inflammatory state of the pancreas with endotoxemia, the factors that regulate it, as well as the impact of diet-induced obesity on these responses. Recently, researchers have been investigating the impact of GLP-1 and specifically, GLP-1R agonists, on responses to inflammation (139,143,285,286). Under severe inflammatory conditions, such as sepsis, patients have remarkably increased GLP-1 levels and this increase is associated with higher mortality rates (300). However, the function of GLP-1 under inflammatory conditions remains unknown. This dissertation puts forth an additional role for GLP-1, as a macrophage regulating peptide directly through its receptor, GLP-1R.

First, I found that HFD increases total GLP-1 (**Figure 3.1**) responses to severe inflammation, which is consistent with human data in the literature (300). This led me to wonder about symptoms associated with severe inflammation that could be impacted by GLP-1 such as glucose levels and appetite. I found that under HFD conditions, mice had greater sickness-induced anorexia and dysregulated energy homeostasis (**Figure 3.2**) compared to chow-fed mice. Using our innovative *Gcg* tissue-specific reactivation

mouse model, I found that GLP-1 plays an immunologic, rather than a metabolic role (**Figure 3.3-3.7**). Specifically, glucose and insulin levels were not impacted by *Gcg*, and instead, availability of *Gcg* prevents excessive macrophage accumulation in the pancreas. This is significant because it is a new role for GLP-1 which is traditionally described as an incretin (37,38,42,43). Furthermore, using a *Glp1r* reporter mouse, I found evidence that GLP-1R was expressed on pancreatic macrophages (**Figure 3.8**), implying that GLP-1 directly regulates macrophages.

Last, I found that LPS-induced inflammation resulted in impaired glucose tolerance (**Figure 3.9B**) even after the mice had three weeks to recover. Importantly, this was only seen in the intraperitoneal (IP) glucose tolerance test (GTT) whereas the oral GTT (oGTT) was not impacted by LPS. A possible explanation for this is that the incretin activation from the gut after oral administration helps to better control glucose levels after a severe inflammatory insult. This important experiment shows the potential damage to pancreatic and gut function after a severe inflammation. In animal studies, HFD results in accumulation of macrophages in the pancreas and is associated with impaired glucose stimulated insulin secretion (259). The above data suggest that the pancreatic accumulation of macrophages that occurs after LPS leads to long-lasting impairments in glucose tolerance. Together, these data indicate a need for better understanding how inflammation impacts pancreatic function, and whether endogenous GLP-1 or GLP-1R agonists are protective against tissue damage due to inflammation.

Strengths & Limitations

This study utilized several innovative mouse models. First, our *Gcg* reactivation model allowed me to distinguish the impact of tissue-specific production (**Figure 3.4-3.8**) of *Gcg*-derived peptides, rather than using a knockout model. This is especially important for my experiments because I wanted to investigate the impact of *Gcg*-derived peptides on both the systemic and local inflammatory responses; *Gcg* is produced in multiple tissues and each source of *Gcg* has been implicated in energy and glucose regulation. In addition to inflammatory endpoints, this model allowed me to distinguish any potential glucoregulatory differences between intestinal and pancreatic GLP-1, which are reported for post-prandial GLP-1 (37,38,42,43).

However, our Cre model targets the entire *Gcg* gene and all the peptides it encodes. Indeed, glucagon is an important counterregulatory hormone that may play a role in the local inflammatory state of the islet and cannot be discounted. Although tools are limited to create this mouse model now, future studies targeting either GLP-1 and/or glucagon could offer further insight into pancreatic *Gcg* peptides and local macrophage responses. Specifically, GLP-2, another *Gcg*-derived peptide, has also been reported to have antiinflammatory properties (307,308).

Another potential problem with our PDX1-*Cre* mouse model is the specificity of the PDX1-*Cre* expression in our promotor mouse. PDX1-*Cre* is expressed in both the pancreas and duodenum. Previous research has shown that the predominant source of GLP-1 postprandially is the ileum and colon (33), so the PDX1-*Cre* promoter is still useful as a pancreatic promoter for *Gcg*. Future studies could use an AAV-Cre based virus administered directly through the pancreatic duct to specifically target the pancreas.

Whether GLP-1R are expressed on macrophages, and other immune cells for that matter, is unknown as GLP-1R antibodies are questionable (299). To address this problem, I used a mouse model which crossed an eGFP-L10a reporter mouse to a $Glp1r^{\Delta Cre}$ (**Figure 3.8A**) mouse, generously provided by Dr. D. Olson. I was able to detect immune cells that are also positive for GLP-1R without the weaknesses associated with the available GLP-1R antibodies. This finding that GLP-1R are located in pancreatic, but not bone marrow-derived macrophages suggests that, at least this specific population of macrophages that respond to LPS, are resident macrophages. An alternative explanation is that the circulating macrophages may change their genotype once they start accumulating in the pancreas. Macrophages are very plastic cells (309) and thus, this explanation is a distinct possibility. These data provide an increasing amount of rationale for the idea that GLP-1 directly regulates the immune response to inflammatory stress in the pancreas.

I also used an innovative combination of IHC and flow cytometry (**Figure 3.6-3.7**) to look at the accumulation and characterization of macrophages in the mouse pancreas. To look at the accumulation of the immune cells, I quantified percentage of area positive

for F4/80 staining (Figure 3.6C-E, Figure 3.7C-E). In both chow and HFD-fed mice, there was an increase in F4/80 staining in response to LPS. While I had a validated F4/80 antibody and protocol available for the IHC samples, I used both F4/80 and CD64 antibodies for pilot flow experiments as I was establishing a panel that could be properly compensated. The CD64 population was more distinct so I used it to distinguish the macrophages along with CD11b rather than F4/80. Both F4/80 and CD64 are common macrophage markers (303,304). However, I saw a statistically different response in the Gcg Null-LPS mice in the flow experiment, indicated by CD64, but not with the IHC strategy using F4/80 staining. It is possible that the different antibodies contributed to the lack of ability to detect an impact of genotype with IHC. However, I believe a more likely issue is that the I used the whole pancreas for the flow cytometry experiment, whereas the IHC images were taken of islets and the surrounding cells. Images taken only around the islet might skew the results; future studies could analyze the entire slide rather than focus on the islets. I also used DAB staining, counterstained with hematoxylin, and quantified as area stained rather than by individual nuclei. It is possible that my quantification strategy would be improved with the use of fluorescent antibodies and DAPI instead to quantify by nuclei. A method that I piloted to understand better the islet inflammatory state, was to isolate islets from Gcg Null vs. control mice 24 after LPS administration. Unfortunately, the combination of Gcg Null and LPS resulted in very unhealthy islets even with an overnight incubation recovery which is standard procedure. In this flow experiment, there was too much debris and too little immune cells to identify populations.

Because my chow-fed vs. HFD mouse metabolic experiments were limited by time points that could be taken via tail nick and blood volume, I designed a study to examine the time course responses of plasma levels of metabolic hormones and cytokines in response to LPS. Mice had catheters placed in the carotid artery and jugular vein in order to minimize handling of the mice. Additionally, this method allowed me to draw larger (about 200 μ L), and more frequent blood draws (five blood draws throughout the experiment). I was able to do this with the aid of heparin washed red blood cells from donor mice which were administered via the jugular vein throughout the three-hour

experiment. While this experiment was technically difficult to learn, it was a valuable experience and yielded important findings for my dissertation.

Public Health Relevance

As discussed above, under severe inflammatory conditions, such as sepsis, patients have remarkably increased GLP-1 levels and this increase is associated with higher mortality rates (300). Recent research has shown that macrophages accumulate within the islet during diet-induced obesity leading to elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (259). Similarly, recent work demonstrates that during obesity, islet-resident macrophages proliferate contributing to a local inflammatory state and this results in impaired β -cell function (259,283). Collectively, these data indicate growing evidence that pancreatic inflammation/macrophage accumulation occurs with obesity, and this contributes to impaired β -cell function and thus could be a critical contributing factor in the progression of T2DM. The impact of COVID-19 on islet function supports the importance of studying pancreatic inflammatory responses (284).

I found that a population of CD64+ CD11b+ macrophage cells that were also positive for the GLP-1R in the pancreas (**Figure 3.8C**) implying that there are macrophages within the pancreas that express GLP-1R. Thus, GLP-1 could directly regulate macrophage signaling in the pancreas. Single cell transcriptome analysis found GLP-1R expression in classical monocytes and natural killer cells in the lung (306) indicating that the pancreas may not be the only organ where GLP-1R are regulating macrophage accumulation. Together, these data provide an increasing amount of rationale for GLP-1 to be directly regulating macrophages. This is an entirely new role for GLP-1 and puts forth a new hypothesis of why GLP-1R agonists show anti-inflammatory properties.

The development of GLP-1-based drugs has been a major advance in T2DM management. The approved pharmaceutical strategies targeting the GLP-1 system either increase endogenous GLP-1 levels with DPP4 inhibitors, or are long-acting GLP-1R agonists resistant to DPP4 cleavage (228,229). DPP4 inhibitors are effective at stimulating insulin and reducing glucagon, attributes that are credited to GLP-1R signaling (230). One of the most used GLP-1R agonists has an extended circulatory half-life is accomplished by the addition of a fatty acid side chain to native GLP-1 which

facilitates albumin binding (Liraglutide/Victoza). Besides being more convenient for the patient, liraglutide treatment also results in a reduction in cardiovascular events (242). The reduction of cardiovascular events is interesting because GLP-1R agonists have been implicated in anti-inflammatory signaling in multiple tissues including cardiomyocytes (153,287,288,301). Exendin-4 (Ex-4), a GLP-1R agonist, has been shown to decrease circulatory cytokine levels after LPS administration (153). Similarly, patients administered liraglutide had decreased cytokine levels measured in mononuclear cells after six weeks of administration (287). A recent paper showed that COVID-19 patients who remained on sitagliptin, a DPP4 inhibitor, while in the ICU had increased survival compared to patients treated with standard of care, stopping sitagliptin and treating with insulin (310). Despite the established anti-inflammatory effects of GLP-1R agonists, how the agonists contribute to an anti-inflammatory state remains unknown. Furthermore, whether endogenous GLP-1 has the same effect as long-acting GLP-1R agonists in unknown. In the above experiments, I did not observe any difference in systemic cytokine levels (Figure 3.4I-M, Figure 3.5H-L) between Gca Null, GcgRA^{Δ Panc}, GcgRA^{Δ Int} vs. control mice, regardless of diet. The discrepancy between the effects of endogenous GLP-1 and exogenous administration of long-lasting GLP-1R agonists could be explained by the rapid degradation of GLP-1 in circulation (155–157). While long-lasting agonists have systemic anti-inflammatory properties, perhaps endogenous GLP-1 has a local effect in GLP-1 producing tissues, the intestine, pancreas, and CNS.

As mentioned above, LPS-induced inflammation resulted in impaired glucose tolerance (**Figure 3.9B**) after the mice had three weeks to recover. These data show the lasting effect of inflammation on islets and could be particularly impactful for pre-diabetic patients who have an inflammatory insult as it could exacerbate the progression to T2DM.

Future Studies & Applications

There are many hypotheses that could come from this dissertation regarding GLP-1 expression and receptor signaling, as well as immune cell function. Here I put forth two future studies that are important follow up to the data in this dissertation.

First, in recent years, it has become increasingly evident that too much research is done in male mice only. This dissertation is in fact, guilty of this. While male mice are an important control, it is vital to establish how female physiology is the same or different in the groundbreaking research happening around the world. Specific to this dissertation, sex differences in GLP-1 expression (311) and immune system responses (312) have been detected. An interesting endpoint that I did repeat in female mice was assessing glucose tolerance after LPS. In the female mice, there was no impact of LPS treatment on either oral or IP glucose tolerance (**Figure 4.1**). This indicates that female mice might be protected from the impaired pancreatic function after LPS. Digging into this phenomenon further with female *Gcg* reactivated mice could yield data on sex differences in the immune response of the pancreas.

As mentioned above, one of the interesting outcomes from this dissertation was the observation that LPS-treated mice had impaired glucose tolerance, at least in male mice. Future studies could explore pancreatic damage and recovery after severe inflammation. Both endocrine and exocrine function could be impacted.

Finally, the *Gcg* Null, $GcgRA^{\Delta Panc}$ and $GcgRA^{\Delta Int}$ mice used in these experiments are lacking *Gcg* expression in the hindbrain. While it is known that glutamatergic rather than GABAergic neurons (98) are necessary for liraglutide to induce weight loss, whether these neurons are also necessary for or impact any of the physiological responses to LPS is unknown.

Conclusion

The data from this dissertation significantly advances our understanding of the function of the increase in pancreatic GLP-1 production with inflammatory stress. Furthermore, it explores the impact of HFD on immune responses, including *Gcg*. I found that HFD exaggerates physiological responses to LPS including increased GLP-1, decreased blood glucose, and a greater anorectic effect. I also found that *Gcg*-derived peptides play a role in pancreatic macrophage accumulation in response to inflammation. Finally, I found that macrophages isolated from the pancreas express GLP-1R indicating that GLP-1 could be directly signaling macrophages and regulating local inflammation.

Figure 4.1: Female mice do not have impaired glucose tolerance in response to LPS regardless of diet Mice (n=6/group) administered LPS (0.32ug) had no significant difference in (A) oral glucose tolerance (oGTT) compared to saline-treated mice, however there was a significant interaction of diet (Time x Diet p=0.0029). (B) Only HFD impaired IP glucose tolerance but there was no significant interaction of diet and treatment (Time x Diet p<0.0001). Data in this figure were statistically analyzed with a 3-way (A-B) ANOVA and are represented as Mean ± SEM.



REFERENCES

- 1. Scow RO, Cornfield J. Quantitative Relations Between the Oral and Intravenous Glucose Tolerance Curves. Am J Physiol Content. 1954;179:435–8.
- 2. McIntyre N, Holsworth DC, Turner DS. New interpretation of oral glucose tolerance. Lancet. 1964;2:20–1.
- 3. Elrick H, Stimmer L, Hlad CJ, Arai Y. Plasma insulin response to oral and intravenous glucose administration. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1964;24:1076–82.
- 4. Dupre J, Ross SA, Watson D, Brown JC. Stimulation of insulin secretion by gastric inhibitory peptide in man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1973;37:826–8.
- 5. Ebert R, Unger H, Creutzfeldt W. Preservation of incretin activity after removal of gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) from rat gut extracts by immunoadsorption. Diabetologia. 1983;24:449–54.
- Lund PK, Goodman RH, Dee PC, Habener JF. Pancreatic preproglucagon cDNA contains two glucagon-related coding sequences arranged in tandem. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1982;79:345–9.
- 7. Bell GI, Santerre RF, Mullenbach GT. Hamster preproglucagon contains the sequence of glucagon and two related peptides. Nature. 1983;302:716–8.
- 8. Schmidt WE, Siegel EG, Creutzfeldt W. Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 but not glucagon-like peptide-2 stimulates insulin release from isolated rat pancreatic islets. Diabetologia. 1985;28:704–7.
- 9. Kreymann B, Ghatei MA, Williams G, Bloom SR. Glucagon-like peptide-1 7-36: A physiological incretin in man. Lancet. 1987;2:1300–3.
- 10. Han VKM, Hynes MA, Jin C, Towle AC, Lauder JM, P.K. L. Cellular localization of proglucagon/glucagon-like peptide 1 messenger RNAs in rat brain. J Neurosci. 1986;16:97–107.
- 11. Jin SL, Han VKM, Simmons JG, Towle AC, Lauder JM, Lund PK. Distribution of glucagonlike peptide 1, glucagon, and glicentin in the rat brain: An immunocytochemical study. J Comp Neurol. 1988;271.
- 12. Larsen PJ, Tang-Christensen M, Holst JJ, Orskov C. Distribution of Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 and other preproglucagon-derived peptides in the rat hypothalamus and brainstem. Neuroscience. 1997;77:257–70.
- 13. Vrang N, Hansen M, Larsen PJ, Tang-Christensen M. Characterization of

brainstem preproglucagon projections to the paraventricular and dorsomedial hypothalamic nuclei. Brain Res. 2007;1149:118–26.

- 14. Tucker JD, Dhanvantari S, Brubaker PL. Proglucagon processing in islet and intestinal cell lines. Regul Pept. 1996;62:29–35.
- 15. Holst JJ, Bersani M, Johnsen AH, Kofod H, Hartmann B, Orskov C. Proglucagon processing in porcine and human pancreas. J Biol Chem. 1994;269:18827-33.
- 16. Jin T. Mechanisms underlying proglucagon gene expression. J Endocrinol. 2008;198:17–28.
- 17. Drucker DJ, Brubaker PL. Proglucagon gene expression is regulated by a cyclic AMP-dependent pathway in rat intestine. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1989;86:3953–7.
- 18. Brubaker PL, Vranic M. Glucagon-like immunoreactive peptides in a rat ileal epithelial cell line (IEC-18). Endocr Res. 1987;13:229–41.
- 19. Nian M, Drucker DJ, Irwin D. Divergent regulation of human and rat proglucagon gene promoters in vivo. Am J Physiol Liver Physiol. 1999;277:G829–37.
- 20. Nian M, Gu J, Irwin DM, Drucker DJ. Human glucagon gene promoter sequences regulating tissue-specific versus nutrient-regulated gene expression. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2002;282:R173-83.
- Rouillé Y, Martin S, Steiner DF. Differential processing of proglucagon by the subtilisin-like prohormone convertases PC2 and PC3 to generate either glucagon or glucagon-like peptide. J Biol Chem [Internet]. American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology; 1995 [cited 2019 Jun 4];270:26488–96. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7592866
- Solloway MJ, Madjidi A, Gu C, Eastham-Anderson J, Clarke HJ, Kljavin N, Zavala-Solorio J, Kates L, Friedman B, Brauer M, et al. Glucagon Couples Hepatic Amino Acid Catabolism to mTOR-Dependent Regulation of α-Cell Mass. Cell Rep. 2015;12:495–510.
- 23. Gevrey J-C, Malapel M, Philippe J, Mithieux G, Chayvialle J, Abello J, Cordier-Bussat M. Protein hydrolysates stimulate proglucagon gene transcription in intestinal endocrine cells via two elements related to cyclic AMP response element. Diabetologia. 2004;47:926–36.
- 24. Yu Z, Jin T. New insights into the role of cAMP in the production and function of the incretin hormone glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1). Cell Signal. Elsevier Inc.; 2010;22:1–8.
- Campos R V, Lee YC, Drucker DJ. Divergent tissue-specific and developmental expression of receptors for glucagon and glucagon-like peptide-1 in the mouse. Endocrinology [Internet]. 1994 [cited 2018 Jul 23];134:2156–64. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/endo/article-lookup/doi/10.1210/endo.134.5.8156917
- 26. Anini Y, Hansotia T, Brubaker PL. Muscarinic receptors control postprandial release of glucagon-like peptide-1: in vivo and in vitro studies in rats.

Endocrinology. 2002;143:2420-6.

- Lü F, Jin T, Drucker DJ. Proglucagon gene expression is induced by gastrinreleasing peptide in a mouse enteroendocrine cell line. Endocrinology. 1996;137:3710–6.
- 28. Islam D, Zhang N, Wang P, Li H, Brubaker PL, Gaisano HY, Wang Q, Jin T. Epac is involved in cAMP-stimulated proglucagon expression and hormone production but not hormone secretion in pancreatic alpha- and intestinal L-cell lines. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2009;296:E174-81.
- 29. Lotfi S, Li Z, Sun J, Zuo Y, Lam PPL, Kang Y, Rahimi M, Islam D, Wang P, Gaisano HY, et al. Role of the Exchange Protein Directly Activated by Cyclic Adenosine 5'-Monophosphate (Epac) Pathway in Regulating Proglucagon Gene Expression in Intestinal Endocrine L Cells. Endocrinology. 2006;147:3727–36.
- 30. Chiang Y-T a, Ip W, Jin T. The role of the Wnt signaling pathway in incretin hormone production and function. Front Physiol. 2012;3:273.
- Koopmann MC, Nelson DW, Murali SG, Liu X, Brownfield MS, Holst JJ, Ney DM. Exogenous glucagon-like peptide-2 (GLP-2) augments GLP-2 receptor mRNA and maintains proglucagon mRNA levels in resected rats. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 32:254–65.
- 32. Brubaker PL. Glucagon-like Peptide-2 and the Regulation of Intestinal Growth and Function. Comprehensive Physiology. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2018. p. 1185–210.
- 33. Baggio LL, Drucker DJ. Biology of incretins: GLP-1 and GIP. Gastroenterology. 2007;132:2131–57.
- 34. Eissele R, Göke R, Willemer S, Harthus HP, Vermeer H, Arnold R, Göke B. Glucagon-like peptide-1 cells in the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas of rat, pig and man. Eur J Clin Invest. 1992;22:283–91.
- 35. Kindel TL, Yang Q, Yoder SM, Tso P. Nutrient-driven incretin secretion into intestinal lymph is different between diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats and Wistar rats. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2009;296:G168-74.
- Yoder SM, Yang Q, Kindel TL, Tso P. Stimulation of incretin secretion by dietary lipid: is it dose dependent? Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2009;297:G299-305.
- Hira T, Mochida T, Miyashita K, Hara H. GLP-1 secretion is enhanced directly in the ileum but indirectly in the duodenum by a newly identified potent stimulator, zein hydrolysate, in rats. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2009;297:G663-71.
- Sun EW, de Fontgalland D, Rabbitt P, Hollington P, Sposato L, Due SL, Wattchow DA, Rayner CK, Deane AM, Young RL, et al. Mechanisms Controlling Glucose-Induced GLP-1 Secretion in Human Small Intestine. Diabetes. 2017;66:2144–9.

- 39. Reimann F, Habib AM, Tolhurst G, Parker HE, Rogers GJ, Gribble FM. Glucose Sensing in L Cells: A Primary Cell Study.
- 40. Parker HE, Adriaenssens A, Rogers G, Richards P, Koepsell H, Reimann F, Gribble FM. Predominant role of active versus facilitative glucose transport for glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. Diabetologia. 2012;55:2445–55.
- 41. Printz H, Reiter S, Samadi N, Ebrahimsade S, Kirchner R, Arnold R, Göke B. GLP-1 Release in Man after Lower Large Bowel Resection or Intrarectal Glucose Administration. Digestion. 1998;59:689–95.
- 42. Theodorakis MJ, Carlson O, Michopoulos S, Doyle ME, Juhaszova M, Petraki K, Egan JM. Human duodenal enteroendocrine cells: source of both incretin peptides, GLP-1 and GIP. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2006;290:E550-9.
- 43. D'Alessio D, Lu W, Sun W, Zheng S, Yang Q, Seeley R, Woods SC, Tso P. Fasting and postprandial concentrations of GLP-1 in intestinal lymph and portal plasma: evidence for selective release of GLP-1 in the lymph system. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2007;293:R2163-9.
- 44. Ferraris RP, Yasharpour S, Lloyd KC, Mirzayan R, Diamond JM. Luminal glucose concentrations in the gut under normal conditions. Am J Physiol. 1990;259:G822-37.
- 45. Balks HJ, Holst JJ, Brabant G, Medizin ZI, Endokrinologie AK, Hannover MH. Rapid Oscillations in Plasma Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (GLP-1) in Humans : Cholinergic Control of GLP-1. J Clin Endo Meta. 2014;82:786–90.
- 46. Nauck M a, Vardarli I, Deacon CF, Holst JJ, Meier JJ. Secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) in type 2 diabetes: what is up, what is down? Diabetologia. 2011;54:10–8.
- 47. Hansen L, Holst JJ. The effects of duodenal peptides on glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion from the ileum. A duodeno--ileal loop? Regul Pept. 2002;110:39–45.
- 48. Brubaker PL, Anini Y. Direct and indirect mechanisms regulating secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 and glucagon-like peptide-2. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2003;81:1005–12.
- 49. Rocca AS, Brubaker PL. Role of the vagus nerve in mediating proximal nutrientinduced glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. Endocrinology. 1999;140:1687–94.
- 50. Hansen L, Lampert S, Mineo H, Holst JJ. Neural regulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion in pigs. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2004;287:E939-47.
- 51. Reimer RA, Darimont C, Gremlich S, Nicolas-Métral V, Rüegg UT, Macé K. A human cellular model for studying the regulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. Endocrinology. 2001;142:4522–8.
- 52. Dumoulin V, Dakka T, Plaisancie P, Chayvialle JA, Cuber JC. Regulation of glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36) amide, peptide YY, and neurotensin secretion by neurotransmitters and gut hormones in the isolated vascularly perfused rat ileum.

Endocrinology. 1995;136:5182-8.

- 53. Plaisancie P, Bernard C, Chayvialle JA, Cuber JC. Regulation of glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36) amide secretion by intestinal neurotransmitters and hormones in the isolated vascularly perfused rat colon. Endocrinology. 1994;135:2398–403.
- 54. Moriya R, Shirakura T, Ito J, Mashiko S, Seo T. Activation of sodium-glucose cotransporter 1 ameliorates hyperglycemia by mediating incretin secretion in mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2009;297:E1358-65.
- 55. Reimann F, Gribble FM. Glucose-sensing in glucagon-like peptide-1-secreting cells. Diabetes. 2002;51:2757–63.
- 56. Nielsen LB, Ploug KB, Swift P, Ørskov C, Jansen-Olesen I, Chiarelli F, Holst JJ, Hougaard P, Pörksen S, Holl R, et al. Co-localisation of the Kir6.2/SUR1 channel complex with glucagon-like peptide-1 and glucose-dependent insulinotrophic polypeptide expression in human ileal cells and implications for glycaemic control in new onset type 1 diabetes. Eur J Endocrinol. 2007;156:663–71.
- 57. Parker HE, Reimann F, Gribble FM. Molecular mechanisms underlying nutrientstimulated incretin secretion. Expert Rev Mol Med. 2010;12:e1.
- 58. Mace OJ, Schindler M, Patel S. The regulation of K- and L-cell activity by GLUT2 and the calcium-sensing receptor CasR in rat small intestine. J Physiol. 2012;590:2917–36.
- 59. Kuhre RE, Frost CR, Svendsen B, Holst JJ. Molecular Mechanisms of Glucose-Stimulated GLP-1 Secretion From Perfused Rat Small Intestine. Diabetes. 2015;64:370–82.
- 60. Röder P V., Geillinger KE, Zietek TS, Thorens B, Koepsell H, Daniel H. The Role of SGLT1 and GLUT2 in Intestinal Glucose Transport and Sensing. Alemany M, editor. PLoS One. 2014;9:e89977.
- 61. Brubaker PL. Control of glucagon-like immunoreactive peptide secretion from fetal rat intestinal cultures. Endocrinology. 1988;123:220–6.
- 62. Buchan AM, Barber DL, Gregor M, Soll AH. Morphologic and physiologic studies of canine ileal enteroglucagon-containing cells in short-term culture. Gastroenterology. 1987;93:791–800.
- 63. Hauge M, Ekberg JP, Engelstoft MS, Timshel P, Madsen AN, Schwartz TW. Gq and Gs signaling acting in synergy to control GLP-1 secretion. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2017;449:64–73.
- 64. Parker HE, Wallis K, le Roux CW, Wong KY, Reimann F, Gribble FM. Molecular mechanisms underlying bile acid-stimulated glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. Br J Pharmacol. 2012;165:414–23.
- 65. Katsuma S, Hirasawa A, Tsujimoto G. Bile acids promote glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion through TGR5 in a murine enteroendocrine cell line STC-1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2005;329:386–90.

- 66. Hudson BD, Smith NJ, Milligan G. Experimental challenges to targeting poorly characterized GPCRs: uncovering the therapeutic potential for free fatty acid receptors. Adv Pharmacol. 2011;62:175–218.
- Chu Z-L, Carroll C, Alfonso J, Gutierrez V, He H, Lucman A, Pedraza M, Mondala H, Gao H, Bagnol D, et al. A role for intestinal endocrine cell-expressed g protein-coupled receptor 119 in glycemic control by enhancing glucagon-like Peptide-1 and glucose-dependent insulinotropic Peptide release. Endocrinology. 2008;149:2038–47.
- Lan H, Vassileva G, Corona A, Liu L, Baker H, Golovko A, Abbondanzo SJ, Hu W, Yang S, Ning Y, et al. GPR119 is required for physiological regulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion but not for metabolic homeostasis. J Endocrinol. 2009;201:219–30.
- 69. Katz LB, Gambale JJ, Rothenberg PL, Vanapalli SR, Vaccaro N, Xi L, Sarich TC, Stein PP. Effects of JNJ-38431055, a novel GPR119 receptor agonist, in randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled studies in subjects with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2012;14:709–16.
- 70. Ichimura A, Hirasawa A, Poulain-Godefroy O, Bonnefond A, Hara T, Yengo L, Kimura I, Leloire A, Liu N, Iida K, et al. Dysfunction of lipid sensor GPR120 leads to obesity in both mouse and human. Nature. 2012;483:350–4.
- 71. Hirasawa A, Tsumaya K, Awaji T, Katsuma S, Adachi T, Yamada M, Sugimoto Y, Miyazaki S, Tsujimoto G. Free fatty acids regulate gut incretin glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion through GPR120. Nat Med. 2005;11:90–4.
- 72. Edfalk S, Steneberg P, Edlund H. Gpr40 is expressed in enteroendocrine cells and mediates free fatty acid stimulation of incretin secretion. Diabetes. 2008;57:2280–7.
- 73. Luo J, Swaminath G, Brown SP, Zhang J, Guo Q, Chen M, Nguyen K, Tran T, Miao L, Dransfield PJ, et al. A Potent Class of GPR40 Full Agonists Engages the EnteroInsular Axis to Promote Glucose Control in Rodents. PLoS One. 2012;7:e46300.
- 74. Jang H-J, Kokrashvili Z, Theodorakis MJ, Carlson OD, Kim B-J, Zhou J, Kim HH, Xu X, Chan SL, Juhaszova M, et al. Gut-expressed gustducin and taste receptors regulate secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2007;104:15069–74.
- 75. Steinert RE, Gerspach AC, Gutmann H, Asarian L, Drewe J, Beglinger C. The functional involvement of gut-expressed sweet taste receptors in glucosestimulated secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and peptide YY (PYY). Clin Nutr. 2011;30:524–32.
- Maersk M, Belza A, Holst JJ, Fenger-Grøn M, Pedersen SB, Astrup A, Richelsen B. Satiety scores and satiety hormone response after sucrose-sweetened soft drink compared with isocaloric semi-skimmed milk and with non-caloric soft drink: a controlled trial. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2012;66:523–9.

- 77. Saltiel M, Kuhre R, Christiansen C, Eliasen R, Conde-Frieboes K, Rosenkilde M, Holst J. Sweet Taste Receptor Activation in the Gut Is of Limited Importance for Glucose-Stimulated GLP-1 and GIP Secretion. Nutrients. 2017;9:418.
- Goldspink DA, Lu VB, Billing LJ, Larraufie P, Tolhurst G, Gribble FM, Reimann F. Mechanistic insights into the detection of free fatty and bile acids by ileal glucagon-like peptide-1 secreting cells. Mol Metab. 2018;7:90–101.
- 79. Goke R, Larsen PJ, Mikkelsen JD, Sheikh SP. Distribution of GLP-1 binding sites in the rat brain: evidence that exendin-4 is a ligand of brain GLP-1 binding sites. Eur J Neurosci. 1995;7:2294–300.
- Holz GG. Epac: A new cAMP-binding protein in support of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor-mediated signal transduction in the pancreatic beta-cell. Diabetes [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2018 Jul 23];53:5–13. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14693691
- 81. Rowlands J, Heng J, Newsholme P, Carlessi R. Pleiotropic Effects of GLP-1 and Analogs on Cell Signaling, Metabolism, and Function. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2018;9:672.
- MacDonald PE, Salapatek AMF, Wheeler MB. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor activation antagonizes voltage-dependent repolarizing K(+) currents in beta-cells: a possible glucose-dependent insulinotropic mechanism. Diabetes. 2002;51 Suppl 3:S443-7.
- 83. Light PE, Manning Fox JE, Riedel MJ, Wheeler MB. Glucagon-like peptide-1 inhibits pancreatic ATP-sensitive potassium channels via a protein kinase A- and ADP-dependent mechanism. Mol Endocrinol. 2002;16:2135–44.
- 84. Mul JD, Begg DP, Barrera JG, Li B, Matter EK, D'Alessio DA, Woods SC, Seeley RJ, Sandoval DA. High-fat diet changes the temporal profile of GLP-1 receptormediated hypophagia in rats. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2013;305:R68-77.
- 85. Williams DL, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW. Leptin regulation of the anorexic response to glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor stimulation. Diabetes. 2006;55:3387–93.
- 86. Hayes MR, Leichner TM, Zhao S, Lee GS, Chowansky A, Zimmer D, De Jonghe BC, Kanoski SE, Grill HJ, Bence KK. Intracellular signals mediating the food intake-suppressive effects of hindbrain glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor activation. Cell Metab. 2011;13:320–30.
- 87. Lamont BJ, Li Y, Kwan E, Brown TJ, Gaisano H, Drucker DJ. Pancreatic GLP-1 receptor activation is sufficient for incretin control of glucose metabolism in mice. J Clin Invest. 2012;122:388–402.
- 88. Smith EP, An Z, Wagner C, Lewis AG, Cohen EB, Li B, Mahbod P, Sandoval D, Perez-Tilve D, Tamarina N, et al. The Role of β Cell Glucagon-like Peptide-1 Signaling in Glucose Regulation and Response to Diabetes Drugs. Cell Metab.

2014;19:1050-7.

- 89. Sandoval DA, Bagnol D, Woods SC, D'Alessio DA, Seeley RJ. Arcuate glucagonlike peptide 1 receptors regulate glucose homeostasis but not food intake. Diabetes. 2008;57:2046–54.
- Knauf C, Cani PD, Perrin C, Iglesias MA, Maury JF, Bernard E, Benhamed F, Gremeaux T, Drucker DJ, Kahn CR, et al. Brain glucagon-like peptide-1 increases insulin secretion and muscle insulin resistance to favor hepatic glycogen storage. J Clin Invest. 2005;115:3554–63.
- Burmeister M a, Ferre T, Ayala JE, King EM, Holt RM, Ayala JE. Acute activation of central GLP-1 receptors enhances hepatic insulin action and insulin secretion in high-fat-fed, insulin resistant mice. Amer J Physiol Endo Metab. 2012;302:E334-43.
- 92. Jessen L, Smith EP, Ulrich-Lai Y, Herman JP, Seeley RJ, Sandoval D, D'Alessio D. Central Nervous System GLP-1 Receptors Regulate Islet Hormone Secretion and Glucose Homeostasis in Male Rats. Endocrinology. 2017;158:2124–33.
- 93. Tudurí E, Beiroa D, Porteiro B, López M, Diéguez C, Nogueiras R. Acute but not chronic activation of brain glucagon-like peptide-1 receptors enhances glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in mice. Diabetes, Obes Metab. 2015;17:789–99.
- 94. Prigeon RL, Quddusi S, Paty B, D'Alessio DA. Suppression of glucose production by GLP-1 independent of islet hormones: a novel extrapancreatic effect. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2003;285:E701-7.
- 95. Burmeister MA, Ayala JE, Smouse H, Landivar-Rocha A, Brown JD, Drucker DJ, Stoffers DA, Sandoval DA, Seeley RJ, Ayala JE. The Hypothalamic Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Receptor Is Sufficient but Not Necessary for the Regulation of Energy Balance and Glucose Homeostasis in Mice. Diabetes. 2017;66:372–84.
- 96. Vahl TP, Tauchi M, Durler TS, Elfers EE, Fernandes TM, Bitner RD, Ellis KS, Woods SC, Seeley RJ, Herman JP, et al. Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptors expressed on nerve terminals in the portal vein mediate the effects of endogenous GLP-1 on glucose tolerance in rats. Endocrinol. 2007;148:4965–73.
- 97. Sisley S, Gutierrez-aguilar R, Scott M, Alessio DAD, Sandoval DA, Seeley RJ. Neuronal GLP1R mediates liraglutide's anorectic but not glucose-lowering effect. J Clin Invest. 2014;124:2456–63.
- 98. Adams JM, Pei H, Sandoval DA, Seeley RJ, Chang RB, Liberles SD, Olson DP. Liraglutide Modulates Appetite and Body Weight Through Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Receptor–Expressing Glutamatergic Neurons. Diabetes. 2018;67:1538–48.
- Panjwani N, Mulvihill EE, Longuet C, Yusta B, Campbell JE, Brown TJ, Streutker C, Holland D, Cao X, Baggio LL, et al. GLP-1 receptor activation indirectly reduces hepatic lipid accumulation but does not attenuate development of atherosclerosis in diabetic male ApoE(-/-) mice. Endocrinology. 2013;154:127–39.
- 100. Ding X, Saxena NK, Lin S, Gupta NA, Gupta N, Anania FA. Exendin-4, a

glucagon-like protein-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonist, reverses hepatic steatosis in ob/ob mice. Hepatology. 2006;43:173–81.

- 101. Gupta NA, Mells J, Dunham RM, Grakoui A, Handy J, Saxena NK, Anania FA. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor is present on human hepatocytes and has a direct role in decreasing hepatic steatosis in vitro by modulating elements of the insulin signaling pathway. Hepatology. 2010;51:1584–92.
- 102. Svegliati-Baroni G, Saccomanno S, Rychlicki C, Agostinelli L, De Minicis S, Candelaresi C, Faraci G, Pacetti D, Vivarelli M, Nicolini D, et al. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor activation stimulates hepatic lipid oxidation and restores hepatic signalling alteration induced by a high-fat diet in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Liver Int. 2011;31:1285–97.
- 103. Kim K-S, Seeley RJ, Sandoval DA. Signalling from the periphery to the brain that regulates energy homeostasis. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2018;19:185–96.
- 104. Drucker DJ. Incretin action in the pancreas: potential promise, possible perils, and pathological pitfalls. Diabetes. 2013;62:3316–23.
- 105. Sonoda N, Imamura T, Yoshizaki T, Babendure JL, Lu J-C, Olefsky JM. Beta-Arrestin-1 mediates glucagon-like peptide-1 signaling to insulin secretion in cultured pancreatic beta cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:6614–9.
- 106. Quoyer J, Longuet C, Broca C, Linck N, Costes S, Varin E, Bockaert J, Bertrand G, Dalle S. GLP-1 mediates antiapoptotic effect by phosphorylating Bad through a beta-arrestin 1-mediated ERK1/2 activation in pancreatic beta-cells. J Biol Chem. 2010;285:1989–2002.
- 107. Hui H, Nourparvar A, Zhao X, Perfetti R. Glucagon-like peptide-1 inhibits apoptosis of insulin-secreting cells via a cyclic 5'-adenosine monophosphate-dependent protein kinase A- and a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent pathway. Endocrinology. 2003;144:1444–55.
- 108. Kapodistria K, Tsilibary E-P, Kotsopoulou E, Moustardas P, Kitsiou P. Liraglutide, a human glucagon-like peptide-1 analogue, stimulates AKT-dependent survival signalling and inhibits pancreatic β-cell apoptosis. J Cell Mol Med. 2018;22:2970– 80.
- 109. Fusco J, Xiao X, Prasadan K, Sheng Q, Chen C, Ming Y-C, Gittes G. GLP-1/Exendin-4 induces β-cell proliferation via the epidermal growth factor receptor. Sci Rep. Nature Publishing Group; 2017;7:9100.
- 110. Liu Z, Habener JF. Glucagon-like peptide-1 activation of TCF7L2-dependent Wnt signaling enhances pancreatic beta cell proliferation. J Biol Chem. 2008;283:8723–35.
- 111. Willert K, Jones KA. Wnt signaling: is the party in the nucleus? Genes Dev. 2006;20:1394–404.
- 112. Cox AR, Lam CJ, Rankin MM, Rios JS, Chavez J, Bonnyman CW, King KB, Wells RA, Anthony D, Tu JX, et al. Incretin Therapies Do Not Expand β-Cell Mass or

Alter Pancreatic Histology in Young Male Mice. Endocrinology [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2019 Oct 10];158:1701–14. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28323942

- 113. Dai C, Hang Y, Shostak A, Poffenberger G, Hart N, Prasad N, Phillips N, Levy SE, Greiner DL, Shultz LD, et al. Age-dependent human β cell proliferation induced by glucagon-like peptide 1 and calcineurin signaling. J Clin Invest. 2017;127:3835–44.
- 114. Orskov C, Holst JJ, Nielsen C. Effect of truncated glucagon-like peptide-1 (proglucagon-(78-107)amide) on endocrine secretion from pig pancreas, antrum, and nonatral stomach. Endocrinology. 1988;123:2009–13.
- 115. Ritzel R, Orskov C, Holst JJ, Nauck MA. Pharmacokinetic, insulinotropic, and glucagonostatic properties of GLP-1 [7-36 amide] after subcutaneous injection in healthy volunteers. Dose-response-relationships. Diabetologia. 1995;38:720–5.
- 116. Dunning BE, Foley JE, Ahren B. Alpha cell function in health and disease: influence of glucagon-like peptide-1. Diabetologia. 2005;48:1700–13.
- 117. De Marinis YZ, Salehi A, Ward CE, Zhang Q, Abdulkader F, Bengtsson M, Braha O, Braun M, Ramracheya R, Amisten S, et al. GLP-1 inhibits and adrenaline stimulates glucagon release by differential modulation of N- and L-type Ca2+ channel-dependent exocytosis. Cell Metab. 2010;11:543–53.
- 118. Richards P, Parker HE, Adriaenssens AE, Hodgson JM, Cork SC, Trapp S, Gribble FM, Reimann F. Identification and characterisation of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor expressing cells using a new transgenic mouse model. Diabetes. 2014;63:1224.
- 119. Tornehave D, Kristensen P, Rømer J, Knudsen LB, Heller RS. Expression of the GLP-1 receptor in mouse, rat, and human pancreas. J Histochem Cytochem. 2008;56:841–51.
- 120. Gromada J, Franklin I, Wollheim CB. Alpha-cells of the endocrine pancreas: 35 years of research but the enigma remains. Endocr Rev. 2007;28:84–116.
- 121. de Heer J, Rasmussen C, Coy DH, Holst JJ. Glucagon-like peptide-1, but not glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide, inhibits glucagon secretion via somatostatin (receptor subtype 2) in the perfused rat pancreas. Diabetologia. 2008;51:2263–70.
- 122. Unger RH, Orci L. Paracrinology of islets and the paracrinopathy of diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2010;107:16009–12.
- 123. Xu E, Kumar M, Zhang Y, Ju W, Obata T, Zhang N, Liu S, Wendt A, Deng S, Ebina Y, et al. Intra-islet insulin suppresses glucagon release via GABA-GABAA receptor system. Cell Metab. 2006;3:47–58.
- 124. Le Marchand SJ, Piston DW. Glucose suppression of glucagon secretion: metabolic and calcium responses from alpha-cells in intact mouse pancreatic islets. J Biol Chem. 2010;285:14389–98.

- 125. Zhou H, Zhang T, Harmon JS, Bryan J, Robertson RP. Zinc, Not Insulin, Regulates the Rat -Cell Response to Hypoglycemia In Vivo. Diabetes. 2007;56:1107–12.
- 126. Gyulkhandanyan A V, Lu H, Lee SC, Bhattacharjee A, Wijesekara N, Fox JEM, MacDonald PE, Chimienti F, Dai FF, Wheeler MB. Investigation of transport mechanisms and regulation of intracellular Zn2+ in pancreatic alpha-cells. J Biol Chem. 2008;283:10184–97.
- 127. Flannick J, Thorleifsson G, Beer NL, Jacobs SBR, Grarup N, Burtt NP, Mahajan A, Fuchsberger C, Atzmon G, Benediktsson R, et al. Loss-of-function mutations in SLC30A8 protect against type 2 diabetes. Nat Genet. 2014;46:357–63.
- 128. Ishihara H, Maechler P, Gjinovci A, Herrera P-L, Wollheim CB. Islet beta-cell secretion determines glucagon release from neighbouring alpha-cells. Nat Cell Biol. 2003;5:330–5.
- 129. Ravier MA, Rutter GA. Glucose or insulin, but not zinc ions, inhibit glucagon secretion from mouse pancreatic alpha-cells. Diabetes. 2005;54:1789–97.
- 130. Gedulin BR, Rink TJ, Young AA. Dose-response for glucagonostatic effect of amylin in rats. Metabolism. 1997;46:67–70.
- 131. Gedulin BR, Jodka CM, Herrmann K, Young AA. Role of endogenous amylin in glucagon secretion and gastric emptying in rats demonstrated with the selective antagonist, AC187. Regul Pept. 2006;137:121–7.
- 132. Fineman M, Weyer C, Maggs DG, Strobel S, Kolterman OG. The Human Amylin Analog, Pramlintide, Reduces Postprandial Hyperglucagonemia in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Horm Metab Res. 2002;34:504–8.
- Creutzfeldt WOC, Kleine N, Willms B, Orskov C, Holst JJ, Nauck MA. Glucagonostatic Actions and Reduction of Fasting Hyperglycemia by Exogenous Glucagon-Like Peptide I(7-36) amide in type I diabetic patients. Diabetes Care. 1996;19:580–6.
- 134. Kielgast U, Asmar M, Madsbad S, Holst JJ. Effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 on alpha- and beta-cell function in C-peptide-negative type 1 diabetic patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95:2492–6.
- 135. Zhang Y, Parajuli KR, Fava GE, Gupta R, Xu W, Nguyen LU, Zakaria AF, Fonseca VA, Wang H, Mauvais-Jarvis F, et al. GLP-1 Receptor in Pancreatic α-Cells Regulates Glucagon Secretion in a Glucose-Dependent Bidirectional Manner. Diabetes. 2019;68:34–44.
- 136. Ramracheya R, Chapman C, Chibalina M, Dou H, Miranda C, González A, Moritoh Y, Shigeto M, Zhang Q, Braun M, et al. GLP-1 suppresses glucagon secretion in human pancreatic alpha-cells by inhibition of P/Q-type Ca²⁺ channels. Physiol Rep. 2018;6:e13852.
- 137. Hare KJ, Vilsbøll T, Asmar M, Deacon CF, Knop FK, Holst JJ. The glucagonostatic and insulinotropic effects of glucagon-like peptide 1 contribute

equally to its glucose-lowering action. Diabetes. 2010;59:1765-70.

- 138. Wilson ME, Kalamaras JA, German MS. Expression pattern of IAPP and prohormone convertase 1/3 reveals a distinctive set of endocrine cells in the embryonic pancreas. Mech Dev. 2002;115:171–6.
- Thyssen S, Arany E, Hill DJ. Ontogeny of regeneration of beta-cells in the neonatal rat after treatment with streptozotocin. Endocrinology. 2006;147:2346– 56.
- 140. Kilimnik G, Kim A, Steiner DF, Friedman TC, Hara M. Intraislet production of GLP-1 by activation of prohormone convertase 1/3 in pancreatic α-cells in mouse models of β-cell regeneration. Islets. 2010;2:149–55.
- 141. Nie Y, Nakashima M, Brubaker PL, Li QL, Perfetti R, Jansen E, Zambre Y, Pipeleers D, Friedman TC. Regulation of pancreatic PC1 and PC2 associated with increased glucagon-like peptide 1 in diabetic rats. J Clin Invest. 2000;105:955–65.
- 142. Chambers AP, Sorrell JE, Haller A, Roelofs K, Hutch CR, Kim K-S, Gutierrez-Aguilar R, Li B, Drucker DJ, D'Alessio DA, et al. The Role of Pancreatic Preproglucagon in Glucose Homeostasis in Mice. Cell Metab. 2017;25:927-934.e3.
- 143. Ellingsgaard H, Hauselmann I, Schuler B, Habib AM, Baggio LL, Meier DT, Eppler E, Bouzakri K, Wueest S, Muller YD, et al. Interleukin-6 enhances insulin secretion by increasing glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion from L cells and alpha cells. Nat Med. 2011;17:1481–9.
- 144. Traub S, Meier DT, Schulze F, Dror E, Nordmann TM, Goetz N, Koch N, Dalmas E, Stawiski M, Makshana V, et al. Pancreatic α Cell-Derived Glucagon-Related Peptides Are Required for β Cell Adaptation and Glucose Homeostasis. Cell Rep. 2017;18:3192–203.
- 145. Conarello SL, Jiang G, Mu J, Li Z, Woods J, Zycband E, Ronan J, Liu F, Roy RS, Zhu L, et al. Glucagon receptor knockout mice are resistant to diet-induced obesity and streptozotocin-mediated beta cell loss and hyperglycaemia. Diabetologia [Internet]. Springer-Verlag; 2006 [cited 2019 Jun 24];50:142–50. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00125-006-0481-3
- 146. Omar B a, Andersen B, Hald J, Raun K, Nishimura E, Ahrén B. Fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21) and glucagon-like peptide 1 contribute to diabetes resistance in glucagon receptor-deficient mice. Diabetes. 2014;63:101–10.
- 147. McGirr R, Ejbick CE, Carter DE, Andrews JD, Nie Y, Friedman TC, Dhanvantari S. Glucose dependence of the regulated secretory pathway in alphaTC1-6 cells. Endocrinology. 2005;146:4514–23.
- 148. Whalley NM, Pritchard LE, Smith DM, White A. Processing of proglucagon to GLP-1 in pancreatic α-cells: is this a paracrine mechanism enabling GLP-1 to act on β-cells? J Endocrinol [Internet]. BioScientifica; 2011 [cited 2018 Jul

23];211:99–106. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21795304

- 149. Ellingsgaard H, Ehses JA, Hammar EB, Van Lommel L, Quintens R, Martens G, Kerr-Conte J, Pattou F, Berney T, Pipeleers D, et al. Interleukin-6 regulates pancreatic alpha-cell mass expansion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:13163–8.
- 150. Linnemann AK, Neuman JC, Battiola TJ, Wisinski JA, Kimple ME, Davis DB. Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Regulates Cholecystokinin Production in β-Cells to Protect From Apoptosis. Mol Endocrinol [Internet]. The Endocrine Society; 2015 [cited 2019 Jun 24];29:978–87. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25984632
- 151. Kahles F, Meyer C, Möllmann J, Diebold S, Findeisen HM, Lebherz C, Trautwein C, Koch A, Tacke F, Marx N, et al. GLP-1 Secretion Is Increased by Inflammatory Stimuli in an IL-6-Dependent Manner, Leading to Hyperinsulinemia and Blood Glucose Lowering. Diabetes. 2014;63:3221–9.
- 152. Perl SH, Bloch O, Zelnic-Yuval D, Love I, Mendel-Cohen L, Flor H, Rapoport MJ. Sepsis-induced activation of endogenous GLP-1 system is enhanced in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Metab Res Rev [Internet]. Wiley-Blackwell; 2018 [cited 2018 Jul 13];34:e2982. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/dmrr.2982
- 153. Yanay O, Bailey AL, Kernan K, Zimmerman JJ, Osborne WR. Effects of exendin-4, a glucagon like peptide-1 receptor agonist, on neutrophil count and inflammatory cytokines in a rat model of endotoxemia. J Inflamm Res. 2015;8:129.
- 154. Langlois A, Dal S, Vivot K, Mura C, Seyfritz E, Bietiger W, Dollinger C, Peronet C, Maillard E, Pinget M, et al. Improvement of islet graft function using liraglutide is correlated with its anti-inflammatory properties. Br J Pharmacol [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2019 Jun 28];173:3443–53. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27515367
- 155. Deacon CF, Nauck MA, Toft-Nielsen M, Pridal L, Willms B, Holst JJ. Both subcutaneously and intravenously administered glucagon-like peptide I are rapidly degraded from the NH2-terminus in type II diabetic patients and in healthy subjects. Diabetes [Internet]. American Diabetes Association; 1995 [cited 2019 Jun 21];44:1126–31. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7657039
- 156. Hansen L, Deacon CF, Ørskov C, Holst JJ. Glucagon-Like Peptide-1-(7– 36)Amide Is Transformed to Glucagon-Like Peptide-1-(9–36)Amide by Dipeptidyl Peptidase IV in the Capillaries Supplying the L Cells of the Porcine Intestine ¹. Endocrinology [Internet]. Narnia; 1999 [cited 2019 Jun 21];140:5356–63. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/endo/articlelookup/doi/10.1210/endo.140.11.7143
- 157. Holst JJ, Deacon CF. Glucagon-like peptide-1 mediates the therapeutic actions of DPP-IV inhibitors. Diabetologia [Internet]. Springer-Verlag; 2005 [cited 2019 Jun

21];48:612–5. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00125-005-1705-7

- 158. Capozzi ME, Svendsen B, Encisco SE, Lewandowski SL, Martin MD, Lin H, Jaffe JL, Coch RW, Haldeman JM, MacDonald PE, et al. β Cell tone is defined by proglucagon peptides through cAMP signaling. JCI Insight. 2019;4.
- 159. Svendsen B, Larsen O, Buur M, Gabe N, Christiansen CB, Rosenkilde MM, Drucker DJ, Juul J, Correspondence H, Holst JJ. Insulin secretion depends on intra-islet glucagon signaling. Cell Rep. 2018;25.
- 160. Zhu L, Dattaroy D, Pham J, Wang L, Barella LF, Cui Y, Wilkins KJ, Roth BL, Hochgeschwender U, Matschinsky FM, et al. Intra-islet glucagon signaling is critical for maintaining glucose homeostasis. JCI insight. 2019;5.
- 161. Flock G, Baggio LL, Longuet C, Drucker DJ. Incretin Receptors for Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 and Glucose-Dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide Are Essential for the Sustained Metabolic Actions of Vildagliptin in Mice. Diabetes. 2007;56:3006–13.
- 162. Smith EP, An Z, Wagner C, Lewis AG, Cohen EB, Li B, Mahbod P, Sandoval D, Perez-Tilve D, Tamarina N, et al. The role of β cell glucagon-like peptide-1 signaling in glucose regulation and response to diabetes drugs. Cell Metab [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2019 Apr 1];19:1050–7. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1550413114001697
- 163. Gerich JE, Langlois M, Schneider V, Karam JH, Noacco C. Effects of Alterations of Plasma Free Fatty Acid Levels on Pancreatic Glucagon Secretion in Man. J Clin Invest. 1974;53:1284–9.
- 164. Unger RH, Aguilar-Parada E, Müller WA, Eisentraut AM. Studies of pancreatic alpha cell function in normal and diabetic subjects. J Clin Invest. 1970;49:837–48.
- 165. Wideman RD, Yu ILY, Webber TD, Verchere CB, Johnson JD, Cheung AT, Kieffer TJ. Improving function and survival of pancreatic islets by endogenous production of glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103:13468–73.
- 166. Toda N, Hao X, Ogawa Y, Oda K, Yu M, Fu Z, Chen Y, Kim Y, Lizarzaburu M, Lively S, et al. Potent and Orally Bioavailable GPR142 Agonists as Novel Insulin Secretagogues for the Treatment of Type 2 Diabetes. ACS Med Chem Lett [Internet]. American Chemical Society; 2013 [cited 2019 Jun 28];4:790–4. Available from: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/ml400186z
- Wang J, Carrillo JJ, Lin H V. GPR142 Agonists Stimulate Glucose-Dependent Insulin Secretion via Gq-Dependent Signaling. Cai T, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2019 Jun 28];11:e0154452. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27104960
- 168. Lin H V, Wang J, Wang J, Li W, Wang X, Alston JT, Thomas MK, Briere DA, Syed SK, Efanov AM. GPR142 prompts glucagon-like Peptide-1 release from islets to improve β cell function. Mol Metab [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2019 Jun 28];11:205–11. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2212877818301224

- 169. Dimick JB, Nicholas LH, Ryan AM, Thumma JR, Birkmeyer JD. Bariatric surgery complications before vs after implementation of a national policy restricting coverage to centers of excellence. JAMA. 2013;309:792–9.
- 170. Kang JH, Le QA. Effectiveness of bariatric surgical procedures: A systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Medicine (Baltimore). Wolters Kluwer Health; 2017;96:e8632.
- 171. Chambers AP, Smith EP, Begg DP, Grayson BE, Sisley S, Greer T, Sorrell J, Lemmen L, Lasance K, Woods SC, et al. Regulation of gastric emptying rate and its role in nutrient-induced GLP-1 secretion in rats after vertical sleeve gastrectomy. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2014;306:E424-32.
- 172. Jiménez A, Mari A, Casamitjana R, Lacy A, Ferrannini E, Vidal J. GLP-1 and Glucose Tolerance After Sleeve Gastrectomy in Morbidly Obese Subjects with Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes. 2014;63:3372–7.
- 173. Jiménez A, Casamitjana R, Viaplana-Masclans J, Lacy A, Vidal J. GLP-1 action and glucose tolerance in subjects with remission of type 2 diabetes after gastric bypass surgery. Diabetes Care. 2013;36:2062–9.
- 174. Umeda LM, Silva EA, Carneiro G, Arasaki CH, Geloneze B, Zanella MT. Early improvement in glycemic control after bariatric surgery and its relationships with insulin, GLP-1, and glucagon secretion in type 2 diabetic patients. Obes Surg. 2011;21:896–901.
- 175. Falken Y, Hellstrom PM, Holst JJ, Naslund E. Changes in glucose homeostasis after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery for obesity at day three, two months, and one year after surgery: role of gut peptides. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96:2227–35.
- 176. Chambers AP, Smith EP, Begg DP, Grayson BE, Sisley S, Greer T, Sorrell J, Lemmen L, LaSance K, Woods SC, et al. Regulation of gastric emptying rate and its role in nutrient-induced GLP-1 secretion in rats after vertical sleeve gastrectomy. AJP Endocrinol Metab. 2014;306:E424–32.
- 177. Melissas J, Koukouraki S, Askoxylakis J, Stathaki M, Daskalakis M, Perisinakis K, Karkavitsas N. Sleeve Gastrectomy A Restrictive Procedure? Obes Surg. Springer New York; 2007;17:57.
- 178. Nguyen NQ, Debreceni TL, Bambrick JE, Bellon M, Wishart J, Standfield S, Rayner CK, Horowitz M. Rapid gastric and intestinal transit is a major determinant of changes in blood glucose, intestinal hormones, glucose absorption, and postprandial symptoms after gastric bypass. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2014;22:2003–9.
- 179. Cavin J-B, Couvelard A, Lebtahi R, Ducroc R, Arapis K, Voitellier E, Cluzeaud F, Gillard L, Hourseau M, Mikail N, et al. Differences in Alimentary Glucose Absorption and Intestinal Disposal of Blood Glucose Following Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass vs Sleeve Gastrectomy. Gastroenterology. 2015;

- 180. Mumphrey MB, Hao Z, Townsend RL, Patterson LM, Berthoud H-R. Sleeve Gastrectomy Does Not Cause Hypertrophy and Reprogramming of Intestinal Glucose Metabolism in Rats. Obes Surg. 2015;25:1468–73.
- Brandsma E, Houben T, Fu J, Shiri-Sverdlov R, Hofker MH. The immunity?diet?microbiota axis in the development of metabolic syndrome. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2015;26:73–81.
- 182. Mumphrey MB, Patterson LM, Zheng H, Berthoud H-R. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery increases number but not density of CCK-, GLP-1-, 5-HT-, and neurotensin-expressing enteroendocrine cells in rats. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013;25:e70-9.
- 183. Saeidi N, Meoli L, Nestoridi E, Gupta NK, Kvas S, Kucharczyk J, Bonab AA, Fischman AJ, Yarmush ML, Stylopoulos N. Reprogramming of intestinal glucose metabolism and glycemic control in rats after gastric bypass. Science. 2013;341:406–10.
- 184. Dirksen C, Bojsen-M?ller KN, J?rgensen NB, Jacobsen SH, Kristiansen VB, Naver LS, Hansen DL, Worm D, Holst JJ, Madsbad S. Exaggerated release and preserved insulinotropic action of glucagon-like peptide-1 underlie insulin hypersecretion in glucose-tolerant individuals after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Diabetologia. 2013;56:2679–87.
- Kohli R, Bradley D, Setchell KD, Eagon JC, Abumrad N, Klein S. Weight loss induced by Roux-en-Y gastric bypass but not laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding increases circulating bile acids. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98:E708-12.
- 186. Simonen M, Dali-Youcef N, Kaminska D, Venesmaa S, Käkelä P, Pääkkönen M, Hallikainen M, Kolehmainen M, Uusitupa M, Moilanen L, et al. Conjugated bile acids associate with altered rates of glucose and lipid oxidation after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Obes Surg. 2012;22:1473–80.
- 187. Dutia R, Embrey M, O'Brien S, Haeusler RA, Agénor KK, Homel P, McGinty J, Vincent RP, Alaghband-Zadeh J, Staels B, et al. Temporal changes in bile acid levels and 12α-hydroxylation after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery in type 2 diabetes. Int J Obes (Lond). 2015;39:806–13.
- 188. Katsuma S, Hirasawa A, Tsujimoto G. Bile acids promote glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion through TGR5 in a murine enteroendocrine cell line STC-1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2005;329:386–90.
- 189. Ding L, Sousa KM, Jin L, Dong B, Kim B-W, Ramirez R, Xiao Z, Gu Y, Yang Q, Wang J, et al. Vertical sleeve gastrectomy activates GPBAR-1/TGR5 to sustain weight loss, improve fatty liver, and remit insulin resistance in mice. Hepatology. 2016;64:760–73.
- 190. McGavigan AK, Garibay D, Henseler ZM, Chen J, Bettaieb A, Haj FG, Ley RE, Chouinard ML, Cummings BP. TGR5 contributes to glucoregulatory improvements after vertical sleeve gastrectomy in mice. Gut. 2015;

- 191. Ryan KK, Tremaroli V, Clemmensen C, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Myronovych A, Karns R, Wilson-Perez HE, Sandoval DA, Kohli R, Backhed F, et al. FXR is a molecular target for the effects of vertical sleeve gastrectomy. Nature. 2014;509:183–8.
- 192. le Roux CW, Welbourn R, Werling M, Osborne A, Kokkinos A, Laurenius A, Lönroth H, Fändriks L, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR, et al. Gut hormones as mediators of appetite and weight loss after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Ann Surg. 2007;246:780–5.
- 193. Nannipieri M, Baldi S, Mari A, Colligiani D, Guarino D, Camastra S, Barsotti E, Berta R, Moriconi D, Bellini R, et al. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy: mechanisms of diabetes remission and role of gut hormones. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98:4391–9.
- 194. Jørgensen NB, Dirksen C, Bojsen-Møller KN, Jacobsen SH, Worm D, Hansen DL, Kristiansen VB, Naver L, Madsbad S, Holst JJ. Exaggerated glucagon-like peptide 1 response is important for improved β-cell function and glucose tolerance after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2013;62:3044–52.
- 195. Salehi M, Prigeon RL, D'Alessio DA. Gastric bypass surgery enhances glucagonlike peptide 1-stimulated postprandial insulin secretion in humans. Diabetes. 2011;60:2308–14.
- 196. Jiménez A, Ceriello A, Casamitjana R, Flores L, Viaplana-Masclans J, Vidal J. Remission of type 2 diabetes after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass or sleeve gastrectomy is associated with a distinct glycemic profile. Ann Surg. 2015;261:316–22.
- 197. Chambers AP, Jessen L, Ryan KK, Sisley S, Wilson-Perez HE, Stefater MA, Gaitonde SG, Sorrell JE, Toure M, Berger J, et al. Weight-independent changes in blood glucose homeostasis after gastric bypass or vertical sleeve gastrectomy in rats. Gastroenterology. 2011;141:950–8.
- 198. Vidal J, de Hollanda A, Jiménez A. GLP-1 is not the key mediator of the health benefits of metabolic surgery. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2016;12:1225–9.
- 199. Nauck MA, Bartels E, Orskov C, Ebert R, Creutzfeldt W. Additive insulinotropic effects of exogenous synthetic human gastric inhibitory polypeptide and glucagonlike peptide-1-(7-36) amide infused at near-physiological insulinotropic hormone and glucose concentrations. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1993;76:912–7.
- 200. Vilsbøll T, Krarup T, Madsbad S, Holst JJ. Both GLP-1 and GIP are insulinotropic at basal and postprandial glucose levels and contribute nearly equally to the incretin effect of a meal in healthy subjects. Regul Pept. 2003;114:115–21.
- 201. Nauck M, Stöckmann F, Ebert R, Creutzfeldt W. Reduced incretin effect in type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes. Diabetologia. 1986;29:46–52.
- 202. Knop FK, Aaboe K, Vilsbøll T, Vølund A, Holst JJ, Krarup T, Madsbad S. Impaired

incretin effect and fasting hyperglucagonaemia characterizing type 2 diabetic subjects are early signs of dysmetabolism in obesity. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2012;14:500–10.

- Laferrere B, Heshka S, Wang K, Khan Y, McGinty J, Teixeira J, Hart AB, Olivan B. Incretin Levels and Effect Are Markedly Enhanced 1 Month After Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass Surgery in Obese Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:1709–16.
- 204. Svane MS, Bojsen-Møller KN, Nielsen S, Jørgensen NB, Dirksen C, Bendtsen F, Kristiansen VB, Hartmann B, Holst JJ, Madsbad S. Effects of endogenous GLP-1 and GIP on glucose tolerance after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2016;310:E505-14.
- 205. Nauck MA, Kind J, K??the LD, Holst JJ, Deacon CF, Broschag M, He YL, Kjems L, Foley J. Quantification of the contribution of GLP-1 to mediating insulinotropic effects of DPP-4 inhibition with vildagliptin in healthy subjects and patients with type 2 diabetes using exendin [9-39] as a GLP-1 receptor antagonist. Diabetes. 2016;65:2440–7.
- 206. Mokadem M, Zechner JF, Margolskee RF, Drucker DJ, Aguirre V. Effects of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass on energy and glucose homeostasis are preserved in two mouse models of functional glucagon-like peptide-1 deficiency. Mol Metab. 2014;3:191–201.
- 207. Wilson-Pérez HE, Chambers AP, Ryan KK, Li B, Sandoval DA, Stoffers D, Drucker DJ, Pérez-Tilve D, Seeley RJ. Vertical sleeve gastrectomy is effective in two genetic mouse models of glucagon-like Peptide 1 receptor deficiency. Diabetes [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2019 Apr 1];62:2380–5. Available from: http://diabetes.diabetesjournals.org/cgi/doi/10.2337/db12-1498
- 208. Ye J, Hao Z, Mumphrey MB, Townsend RL, Patterson LM, Stylopoulos N, Munzberg H, Morrison CD, Drucker DJ, Berthoud H-R. GLP-1 receptor signaling is not required for reduced body weight after RYGB in rodents. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2014;306:R352-62.
- 209. Garibay D, McGavigan AK, Lee SA, Ficorilli J V., Cox AL, Michael MD, Sloop KW, Cummings BP. β-Cell Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Contributes to Improved Glucose Tolerance After Vertical Sleeve Gastrectomy. Endocrinology. 2016;157:3405–9.
- 210. Douros JD, Lewis AG, Smith EP, Niu J, Capozzi M, Wittmann A, Campbell J, Tong J, Wagner C, Mahbod P, et al. Enhanced Glucose Control Following Vertical Sleeve Gastrectomy Does Not Require a β-Cell Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Receptor. Diabetes. 2018;67:1504–11.
- 211. Habegger KM, Heppner KM, Amburgy SE, Ottaway N, Holland J, Raver C, Bartley E, Müller TD, Pfluger PT, Berger J, et al. GLP-1R responsiveness predicts individual gastric bypass efficacy on glucose tolerance in rats. Diabetes. 2013;
- 212. Douros JD, Niu J, Sdao SM, Gregg T, Fisher-Wellman KH, Bharadwaj MS, Molina

A, Arumugam R, Martin MD, Petretto E, et al. Sleeve gastrectomy rapidly enhances islet function independently of body weight. JCI Insight. 2019;4.

- Honka H, Koffert J, Hannukainen JC, Tuulari JJ, Karlsson HK, Immonen H, Oikonen V, Tolvanen T, Soinio M, Salminen P, et al. The Effects of Bariatric Surgery on Pancreatic Lipid Metabolism and Blood Flow. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100:2015–23.
- 214. Aung L, Lee W-J, Chen SC, Ser K-H, Wu C-C, Chong K, Lee Y-C, Chen J-C. Bariatric Surgery for Patients With Early-Onset vs Late-Onset Type 2 Diabetes. doi.org. American Medical Association (AMA); 2016;151:798.
- 215. Salehi M, Vella A, Mclaughlin T, Patti M, Society E. Hypoglycemia after Gastric Bypass Surgery: Current Concepts and Controversies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2018;103:2815–26.
- 216. Lee CJ, Wood GC, Lazo M, Brown TT, Clark JM, Still C, Benotti P. Risk of postgastric bypass surgery hypoglycemia in nondiabetic individuals: A single center experience. Obesity. 2016;24:1342–8.
- 217. Marsk R, Jonas E, Rasmussen F, Näslund E. Nationwide cohort study of postgastric bypass hypoglycaemia including 5,040 patients undergoing surgery for obesity in 1986–2006 in Sweden. Diabetologia. 2010;53:2307–11.
- 218. Capristo E, Panunzi S, De Gaetano A, Spuntarelli V, Bellantone R, Giustacchini P, Birkenfeld AL, Amiel S, Bornstein SR, Raffaelli M, et al. Incidence of hypoglycemia after Gastric Bypass versus Sleeve Gastrectomy: a Randomized Trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2018;
- 219. Papamargaritis D, Koukoulis G, Sioka E, Zachari E, Bargiota A, Zacharoulis D, Tzovaras G. Dumping Symptoms and Incidence of Hypoglycaemia After Provocation Test at 6 and 12 Months After Laparoscopic Sleeve Gastrectomy. Obes Surg. 2012;22:1600–6.
- 220. Tzovaras G, Papamargaritis D, Sioka E, Zachari E, Baloyiannis I, Zacharoulis D, Koukoulis G. Symptoms Suggestive of Dumping Syndrome After Provocation in Patients After Laparoscopic Sleeve Gastrectomy. Obes Surg. 2012;22:23–8.
- 221. Kefurt R, Langer FB, Schindler K, Shakeri-Leidenmühler S, Ludvik B, Prager G. Hypoglycemia after Roux-En-Y gastric bypass: detection rates of continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) versus mixed meal test. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2015;11:564–9.
- 222. Suhl E, Anderson-Haynes S-E, Mulla C, Patti M-E. Medical nutrition therapy for post-bariatric hypoglycemia: practical insights. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2017;13:888–96.
- 223. Goldfine AB, Mun EC, Devine E, Bernier R, Baz-Hecht M, Jones DB, Schneider BE, Holst JJ, Patti ME. Patients with Neuroglycopenia after Gastric Bypass Surgery Have Exaggerated Incretin and Insulin Secretory Responses to a Mixed Meal. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92:4678–85.

- 224. Salehi, M., Gastaldelli, A., D'Alessio DA. Altered islet function and insulin clearance cause hyperinsulinemia in gastric bypass patients with symptoms of postprandial hypoglycemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;Epub 2014.
- 225. Craig CM, Liu L-F, Deacon CF, Holst JJ, McLaughlin TL. Critical role for GLP-1 in symptomatic post-bariatric hypoglycaemia. Diabetologia. 2017;60:531–40.
- 226. Craig CM, Liu L, Nguyen T, Price C, Bingham J, McLaughlin TL. Efficacy and pharmacokinetics of subcutaneous exendin (9-39) in patients with post-bariatric hypoglycaemia. Diabetes, Obes Metab. 2018;20:352–61.
- 227. Salehi M, Gastaldelli A, D'Alessio DA. Blockade of Glucagon-like Peptide 1 Receptor Corrects Postprandial Hypoglycemia After Gastric Bypass. Gastroenterology. 2014;146:669-680.e2.
- 228. Ahren B, Schmitz O. GLP-1 receptor agonists and DPP-4 inhibitors in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Horm Metab Res. 2004;36:867–76.
- 229. Drucker DJ, Nauck MA. The incretin system: glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists and dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes. Lancet. 2006;368:1696–705.
- 230. Drucker DJ. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibition and the treatment of type 2 diabetes: preclinical biology and mechanisms of action. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:1335–43.
- 231. Mulvihill EE, Drucker DJ. Pharmacology, Physiology, and Mechanisms of Action of Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 Inhibitors. Endocr Rev. 2014;35:992–1019.
- 232. Aulinger BA, Bedorf A, Kutscherauer G, De Heer J, Holst JJ, Göke B, Schirra J. Defining the Role of GLP-1 in the Enteroinsulinar Axis in Type 2 Diabetes Using DPP-4 Inhibition and GLP-1 Receptor Blockade. Diabetes. 2014;63:1079–92.
- 233. Hansotia T, Baggio LL, Delmeire D, Hinke SA, Yamada Y, Tsukiyama K, Seino Y, Holst JJ, Schuit F, Drucker DJ. Double incretin receptor knockout (DIRKO) mice reveal an essential role for the enteroinsular axis in transducing the glucoregulatory actions of DPP-IV inhibitors. Diabetes. 2004;53:1326–35.
- 234. Drucker DJ. The Ascending GLP-1 Road From Clinical Safety to Reduction of Cardiovascular Complications. Diabetes. 2018;67:1710–9.
- 235. Campbell JE, Drucker DJ. Pharmacology, physiology, and mechanisms of incretin hormone action. Cell Metab. 2013;17:819–37.
- 236. Marre M, Penfornis A. GLP-1 receptor agonists today. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2011;93:317–27.
- 237. Drucker DJ, Buse JB, Taylor K, Kendall DM, Trautmann M, Zhuang D, Porter L. Exenatide once weekly versus twice daily for the treatment of type 2 diabetes: a randomised, open-label, non-inferiority study. Lancet. 2008;372:1240–50.
- 238. Hurren KM, Pinelli NR. Drug-drug interactions with glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists. Ann Pharmacother. 2012;46:710–7.

- Ridge T, Moretto T, Macconell L, Pencek R, Han J, Schulteis C, Porter L. Comparison of safety and tolerability with continuous (exenatide once weekly) or intermittent (exenatide twice daily) GLP-1 receptor agonism in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2012;
- 240. Buse JB, Nauck M, Forst T, Sheu WH-H, Shenouda SK, Heilmann CR, Hoogwerf BJ, Gao A, Boardman MK, Fineman M, et al. Exenatide once weekly versus liraglutide once daily in patients with type 2 diabetes (DURATION-6): a randomised, open-label study. Lancet. 2013;381:117–24.
- 241. Vilsbøll T, Christensen M, Junker AE, Knop FK, Gluud LL. Effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists on weight loss: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 2012;344:d7771.
- 242. Nauck MA, Meier JJ, Cavender MA, Abd El Aziz M, Drucker DJ. Cardiovascular Actions and Clinical Outcomes With Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonists and Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 Inhibitors. Circulation. Lippincott Williams & WilkinsHagerstown, MD; 2017;136:849–70.
- 243. Kinzig KP, D'Alessio DA, Herman JP, Sakai RR, Vahl TP, Figueiredo HF, Murphy EK, Seeley RJ. CNS glucagon-like peptide-1 receptors mediate endocrine and anxiety responses to interoceptive and psychogenic stressors. J Neurosci. 2003;23:6163–70.
- 244. Lachey JL, D'Alessio DA, Rinaman L, Elmquist JK, Drucker DJ, Seeley RJ. The role of central glucagon-like peptide-1 in mediating the effects of visceral illness: differential effects in rats and mice. Endocrinology. 2005;146:458–62.
- 245. Kanoski SE, Rupprecht LE, Fortin SM, De Jonghe BC, Hayes MR. The role of nausea in food intake and body weight suppression by peripheral GLP-1 receptor agonists, exendin-4 and liraglutide. Neuropharmacology. Elsevier Ltd; 2012;62:1916–27.
- 246. Sadry SA, Drucker DJ. Emerging combinatorial hormone therapies for the treatment of obesity and T2DM. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2013;9:425–33.
- 247. Day JW, Ottaway N, Patterson JT, Gelfanov V, Smiley D, Gidda J, Findeisen H, Bruemmer D, Drucker DJ, Chaudhary N, et al. A new glucagon and GLP-1 coagonist eliminates obesity in rodents. Nat Chem Biol. 2009;5:749–57.
- 248. Day JW, Gelfanov V, Smiley D, Carrington PE, Eiermann G, Chicchi G, Erion MD, Gidda J, Thornberry NA, Tschöp MH, et al. Optimization of co-agonism at GLP-1 and glucagon receptors to safely maximize weight reduction in DIO-rodents. Biopolymers. 2012;98:443–50.
- 249. Jensen PB, Blume N, Mikkelsen JD, Larsen PJ, Jensen HI, Holst JJ, Madsen OD. Transplantable rat glucagonomas cause acute onset of severe anorexia and adipsia despite highly elevated NPY mRNA levels in the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus. J Clin Invest. 1998;101:503–10.
- 250. Barrera JG, Sandoval DA, D'Alessio DA, Seeley RJ. GLP-1 and energy balance:
an integrated model of short-term and long-term control. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2011;7:507–16.

- 251. Pocai A, Carrington PE, Adams JR, Wright M, Eiermann G, Zhu L, Du X, Petrov A, Lassman ME, Jiang G, et al. Glucagon-like peptide 1/glucagon receptor dual agonism reverses obesity in mice. Diabetes. 2009;58:2258–66.
- 252. Rayner CK, Horowitz M. Agonism of receptors in the gut–pancreas axis in type 2 diabetes: are two better than one? Lancet. 2018;391:2577–8.
- 253. Ambery P, Parker VE, Stumvoll M, Posch MG, Heise T, Plum-Moerschel L, Tsai L-F, Robertson D, Jain M, Petrone M, et al. MEDI0382, a GLP-1 and glucagon receptor dual agonist, in obese or overweight patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomised, controlled, double-blind, ascending dose and phase 2a study. Lancet. 2018;391:2607–18.
- 254. Frias JP, Nauck MA, Van J, Kutner ME, Cui X, Benson C, Urva S, Gimeno RE, Milicevic Z, Robins D, et al. Efficacy and safety of LY3298176, a novel dual GIP and GLP-1 receptor agonist, in patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomised, placebo-controlled and active comparator-controlled phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2018;392:2180–93.
- 255. Frydrych LM, Bian G, O'Lone DE, Ward PA, Delano MJ. Obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus drive immune dysfunction, infection development, and sepsis mortality. J Leukoc Biol [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2019 Jun 28];104:525–34. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30066958
- 256. Jacob A, Steinberg ML, Yang J, Dong W, Ji Y, Wang P. Sepsis-induced inflammation is exacerbated in an animal model of type 2 diabetes. Int J Clin Exp Med [Internet]. 2008;1:22–31. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19079684
- 257. Carey IM, Critchley JA, Dewilde S, Harris T, Hosking FJ, Cook DG. Risk of infection in type 1 and type 2 diabetes compared with the general population: A matched cohort study. Diabetes Care [Internet]. American Diabetes Association Inc.; 2018 [cited 2021 Jun 24];41:513–21. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29330152/
- 258. Braune J, Weyer U, Hobusch C, Mauer J, Brüning JC, Bechmann I, Gericke M. IL-6 Regulates M2 Polarization and Local Proliferation of Adipose Tissue Macrophages in Obesity. J Immunol [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2018 Jul 13];198:2927–34. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28193830
- 259. Ying W, Lee YS, Dong Y, Seidman JS, Yang M, Isaac R, Seo JB, Yang B-H, Wollam J, Riopel M, et al. Expansion of Islet-Resident Macrophages Leads to Inflammation Affecting β Cell Proliferation and Function in Obesity. Cell Metab [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2019 Mar 27];29:457-474.e5. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S155041311830740X
- 260. Watanabe S, Alexander M, Misharin A V., Budinger GRS. The role of macrophages in the resolution of inflammation. J Clin Invest [Internet]. American

Society for Clinical Investigation; 2019 [cited 2021 Jul 17];129:2619–28. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI124615.

- 261. I H, SR M, SA M, M N, K G, BA G. Type 2 diabetes mellitus: From a metabolic disorder to an inflammatory condition. World J Diabetes [Internet]. World J Diabetes; 2015 [cited 2021 Jul 17];6:598. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25987957/
- 262. Muller LMAJ, Gorter KJ, Hak E, Goudzwaard WL, Schellevis FG, Hoepelman AIM, Rutten GEHM. Increased Risk of Common Infections in Patients with Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2018 Jul 30];41:281–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16007521
- 263. SE G, AI H. Immune dysfunction in patients with diabetes mellitus (DM). FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol [Internet]. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol; 1999 [cited 2021 Jul 17];26:259–65. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10575137/
- 264. Frydrych LM, Fattahi F, He K, Ward PA, Delano MJ. Diabetes and Sepsis: Risk, Recurrence, and Ruination. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2018 Aug 1];8:271. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29163354
- 265. RS H, CM C, JE M, TA F. The sepsis seesaw: tilting toward immunosuppression. Nat Med [Internet]. Nat Med; 2009 [cited 2021 Jul 17];15:496–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19424209/
- 266. JS B, K T, KC C, O T, DF O, AH W, TL B, SD J, D K, AS K, et al. Immunosuppression in patients who die of sepsis and multiple organ failure. JAMA [Internet]. JAMA; 2011 [cited 2021 Jul 17];306:2594–605. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22187279/
- 267. JC M. Why have clinical trials in sepsis failed? Trends Mol Med [Internet]. Trends Mol Med; 2014 [cited 2021 Jul 17];20:195–203. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24581450/
- 268. Hayes MR, Skibicka KP, Grill HJ. Caudal Brainstem Processing Is Sufficient for Behavioral, Sympathetic, and Parasympathetic Responses Driven by Peripheral and Hindbrain Glucagon-Like-Peptide-1 Receptor Stimulation. Endocrinology [Internet]. Oxford Academic; 2008 [cited 2021 Jul 17];149:4059–68. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/endo/article/149/8/4059/2455641
- 269. Nguyen AT, Mandard S, Dray C, Deckert V, Valet P, Besnard P, Drucker DJ, Lagrost L, Grober J. Lipopolysaccharides-Mediated Increase in Glucose-Stimulated Insulin Secretion: Involvement of the GLP-1 Pathway. Diabetes [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2018 Jan 22];63:471–82. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24186868
- 270. Shen W-R, Kimura K, Ishida M, Sugisawa H, Kishikawa A, Shima K, Ogawa S, Qi J, Kitaura H. The Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonist Exendin-4 Inhibits Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Osteoclast Formation and Bone Resorption via

Inhibition of TNF-α Expression in Macrophages. J Immunol Res [Internet]. Hindawi Limited; 2018 [cited 2019 Mar 28];2018. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5872659/

- 271. Richardson SJ, Willcox A, Bone AJ, Foulis AK, Morgan NG, Willcox : A. Isletassociated macrophages in type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2009;52:1686–8.
- 272. JA E, A P, E E, P R, JA P, R M-C, X G, H E, MK S, G B, et al. Increased number of islet-associated macrophages in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes [Internet]. Diabetes; 2007 [cited 2021 Jul 17];56:2356–70. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17579207/
- 273. Cosentino C, Regazzi R. Crosstalk between Macrophages and Pancreatic β-Cells in Islet Development, Homeostasis and Disease. Int J Mol Sci [Internet]. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute (MDPI); 2021 [cited 2021 Jul 17];22:1–16. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7916718/
- 274. Hutch CR, Roelofs K, Haller A, Sorrell J, Leix K, D'Alessio DD, Augustin R, Seeley RJ, Klein T, Sandoval DA. The role of GIP and pancreatic GLP-1 in the glucoregulatory effect of DPP-4 inhibition in mice. Diabetologia. Springer Verlag; 2019;62:1928–37.
- 275. Finkelstein EA, Trogdon JG, Cohen JW, Dietz W. Annual Medical Spending Attributable To Obesity: Payer-And Service-Specific Estimates. Health Aff [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2019 Mar 27];28:w822–31. Available from: http://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/hlthaff.28.5.w822
- 276. for Disease Control C. National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2017 Estimates of Diabetes and Its Burden in the United States Background. 2017 [cited 2018 Feb 10]; Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/data/statistics/nationaldiabetes-statistics-report.pdf
- 277. NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4·4 million participants. Lancet [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2018 Jul 30];387:1513–30. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27061677
- 278. Corrao S, Pinelli K, Vacca M, Raspanti M, Argano C. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and COVID-19: A Narrative Review. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) [Internet]. Frontiers Media SA; 2021 [cited 2021 Jul 17];12. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8044543/
- Delano MJ, Ward PA. The Immune System's Role in Sepsis Progression, Resolution and Long-Term Outcome. Immunol Rev [Internet]. NIH Public Access; 2016 [cited 2021 Jul 17];274:330. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5111634/
- 280. D R, MA F, PA W. Harmful molecular mechanisms in sepsis. Nat Rev Immunol [Internet]. Nat Rev Immunol; 2008 [cited 2021 Jul 17];8:776–87. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18802444/
- 281. Calderon B, Carrero JA, Ferris ST, Sojka DK, Moore L, Epelman S, Murphy KM,

Yokoyama WM, Randolph GJ, Unanue ER. The pancreas anatomy conditions the origin and properties of resident macrophages. J Exp Med [Internet]. Rockefeller University Press; 2015 [cited 2018 Jul 24];212:1497–512. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26347472

- 282. Hashimoto D, Chow A, Noizat C, Teo P, Beasley MB, Leboeuf M, Becker CD, See P, Price J, Lucas D, et al. Tissue-Resident Macrophages Self-Maintain Locally throughout Adult Life with Minimal Contribution from Circulating Monocytes. Immunity [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2019 Mar 30];38:792–804. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23601688
- 283. Ferris ST, Zakharov PN, Wan X, Calderon B, Artyomov MN, Unanue ER, Carrero JA. The islet-resident macrophage is in an inflammatory state and senses microbial products in blood. J Exp Med [Internet]. The Rockefeller University Press; 2017 [cited 2019 Mar 28];214:2369–85. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28630088
- 284. Hayden MR. An Immediate and Long-Term Complication of COVID-19 May Be Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: The Central Role of β-Cell Dysfunction, Apoptosis and Exploration of Possible Mechanisms. Cells [Internet]. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute (MDPI); 2020 [cited 2021 Jul 17];9. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7697826/
- 285. Kilimnik G, Kim A, Steiner DF, Friedman TC, Hara M. Intraislet production of GLP-1 by activation of prohormone convertase 1/3 in pancreatic α-cells in mouse models of β-cell regeneration. Islets [Internet]. [cited 2019 Apr 27];2:149–55. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20657753
- 286. Sancho V, Daniele G, Lucchesi D, Lupi R, Ciccarone A, Penno G, Bianchi C, Dardano A, Miccoli R, Del Prato S. Metabolic regulation of GLP-1 and PC1/3 in pancreatic α-cell line. PLoS One. 2017;12:1–12.
- 287. Kaidashev I, Savchenko LG, Digtiar NI, Selikhova LG, Kaidasheva EI, Shlykova OA, Vesnina LE. Liraglutide Exerts an Anti-Inflammatory Action in Obese Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. Rom J Intern Med [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2019 Mar 30];0. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30901315
- 288. Insuela DBR, Carvalho VF. Glucagon and glucagon-like peptide-1 as novel antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory compounds. European Journal of Pharmacology. 2017. p. 64–72.
- 289. Kim KS, Hutch CR, Wood L, Magrisso IJ, Seeley RJ, Sandoval DA. Glycemic effect of pancreatic preproglucagon in mouse sleeve gastrectomy. JCI Insight. American Society for Clinical Investigation; 2019;4.
- 290. Song Y, Koehler JA, Baggio LL, Powers AC, Sandoval DA, Drucker DJ. Gut-Proglucagon-Derived Peptides Are Essential for Regulating Glucose Homeostasis in Mice. Cell Metab [Internet]. Cell Press; 2019 [cited 2021 Jun 8];30:976-986.e3. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31495689/
- 291. MJ K, BP S, JC M, DP O, DE S, AS G, L V, H P, M W-U, N U, et al. An excitatory

paraventricular nucleus to AgRP neuron circuit that drives hunger. Nature [Internet]. Nature; 2014 [cited 2021 Jul 7];507:238–42. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24487620/

- 292. MB A, CM P, MJ K, BB L, MG M, DP O. TRAP-seq defines markers for novel populations of hypothalamic and brainstem LepRb neurons. Mol Metab [Internet]. Mol Metab; 2015 [cited 2021 Jul 17];4:299–309. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25830093/
- 293. Anderson ST, Commins S, Moynagh PN, Coogan AN. Lipopolysaccharideinduced sepsis induces long-lasting affective changes in the mouse. Brain Behav Immun [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2018 Dec 4];43:98–109. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0889159114003997
- 294. Zhou F, Zhang Y, Chen J, Hu X, Xu Y. Liraglutide attenuates lipopolysaccharideinduced acute lung injury in mice. Eur J Pharmacol [Internet]. Elsevier; 2016 [cited 2019 Apr 1];791:735–40. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0014299916306562?via%3Dih ub
- 295. O B, SH P, T L, D Z-Y, I L, L M-C, G G, H F, MJ R. Hyper-Activation of Endogenous GLP-1 System to Gram-negative Sepsis Is Associated With Early Innate Immune Response and Modulated by Diabetes. Shock [Internet]. Shock; 2021 [cited 2021 Jul 17];55:796–805. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33079891/
- 296. Ganeshan K, Nikkanen J, Man K, Leong YA, Sogawa Y, Maschek JA, Van Ry T, Chagwedera DN, Cox JE, Chawla A. Energetic Trade-Offs and Hypometabolic States Promote Disease Tolerance. Cell. Cell Press; 2019;177:399-413.e12.
- 297. Campos PHRF, Floc'h N Le, Renaudeau D, Noblet J, Labussière E. Effects of lipopolysaccharide-induced fever on metabolic heat production. EAAP Sci Ser [Internet]. Wageningen Academic Publishers; 2019 [cited 2021 Jul 17];355–6. Available from: https://www.wageningenacademic.com/doi/abs/10.3920/978-90-8686-891-9_104
- 298. Robinson MW, Harmon C, O'Farrelly C. Liver immunology and its role in inflammation and homeostasis. Cell Mol Immunol [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2016 [cited 2021 Jul 20];13:267. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4856809/
- 299. Pyke C, Heller RS, Kirk RK, Ørskov C, Reedtz-Runge S, Kaastrup P, Hvelplund A, Bardram L, Calatayud D, Knudsen LB. GLP-1 Receptor Localization in Monkey and Human Tissue: Novel Distribution Revealed With Extensively Validated Monoclonal Antibody. Endocrinology [Internet]. Oxford Academic; 2014 [cited 2021 Jul 17];155:1280–90. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/endo/article/155/4/1280/2423090
- 300. C L, G S, J M, F K, M S, J B, N D, A K, C T, J F, et al. GLP-1 Levels Predict Mortality in Patients with Critical Illness as Well as End-Stage Renal Disease. Am

J Med [Internet]. Am J Med; 2017 [cited 2021 Jul 22];130:833-841.e3. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28366423/

- 301. Zhang L, Zhang L, Li L, Hölscher C. Neuroprotective effects of the novel GLP-1 long acting analogue semaglutide in the MPTP Parkinson's disease mouse model. Neuropeptides [Internet]. Churchill Livingstone; 2018 [cited 2018 Jul 31]; Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0143417918300684?via%3Dih ub
- 302. Ban K, Novan-Ashraf MH, Hoefer J, Bolz S-S, Drucker DJ, Husain M. Cardioprotective and Vasodilatory Actions of Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Receptor Are Mediated Through Both Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Receptor-Dependent and -Independent Pathways. Circulation [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2018 Dec 4];117:2340-50. Available from:

https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.739938

- 303. EL G, T S, J M, M G, C J, S I, J H, A C, KG E, S G, et al. Gene-expression profiles and transcriptional regulatory pathways that underlie the identity and diversity of mouse tissue macrophages. Nat Immunol [Internet]. Nat Immunol; 2012 [cited 2021 Jul 22];13:1118-28. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23023392/
- 304. R Z, TP S, PL K, BH S, KP W, RM T, TS B. Identification of myeloid cell subsets in murine lungs using flow cytometry. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol [Internet]. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol; 2013 [cited 2021 Jul 22];49:180–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23492192/
- 305. Z L, S L, N W, P X, Y L. Liraglutide, a glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist, suppresses osteoclastogenesis through the inhibition of NF-κB and MAPK pathways via GLP-1R. Biomed Pharmacother [Internet]. Biomed Pharmacother; 2020 [cited 2021 Jul 22];130. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32702632/
- 306. Schaum N, Karkanias J, Neff NF, May AP, Quake SR, Wyss-Coray T, Darmanis S, Batson J, Botvinnik O, Chen MB, et al. Single-cell transcriptomics of 20 mouse organs creates a Tabula Muris. Nat 2018 5627727 [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2018 [cited 2021 Jul 22];562:367-72. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-018-0590-4
- 307. W H, OD R, A H, F N, T K, K M. GLP-2 Is Locally Produced From Human Islets and Balances Inflammation Through an Inter-Islet-Immune Cell Crosstalk. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) [Internet]. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne); 2021 [cited 2021 Jul 28];12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34290670/
- 308. BA M, N P, A P, A B, S S, JM P, DL J, T N, C K, PJ H. GLP-2 receptor agonism ameliorates inflammation and gastrointestinal stasis in murine postoperative ileus. J Pharmacol Exp Ther [Internet]. J Pharmacol Exp Ther; 2010 [cited 2021 Jul 28];333:574–83. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20167840/

- 309. Lumeng CN, DelProposto JB, Westcott DJ, Saltiel AR. Phenotypic switching of adipose tissue macrophages with obesity is generated by spatiotemporal differences in macrophage subtypes. Diabetes [Internet]. American Diabetes Association; 2008 [cited 2019 Mar 27];57:3239–46. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18829989
- 310. SB S, F D, R T, E L, A R, I P, M D, E I, C S, R B, et al. Sitagliptin Treatment at the Time of Hospitalization Was Associated With Reduced Mortality in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes and COVID-19: A Multicenter, Case-Control, Retrospective, Observational Study. Diabetes Care [Internet]. Diabetes Care; 2020 [cited 2021 Jul 28];43:2999–3006. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32994187/
- 311. Hazell TJ, Townsend LK, Hallworth JR, Doan J, Copeland JL. Sex differences in the response of total PYY and GLP-1 to moderate-intensity continuous and sprint interval cycling exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2017;117:431–40.
- 312. Cai KC, van Mil S, Murray E, Mallet J-F, Matar C, Ismail N. Age and sex differences in immune response following LPS treatment in mice. Brain Behav Immun. 2016;58:327–37.